Hilbert Modules over C^* -categories

Arthur Pander Maat

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

November 2024

Supported by the Queen Mary Principal's Award and the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft SFB 1085

> Supervisors: Ivo Dell'Ambrogio Behrang Noohi

Statement of originality

I, Arthur Pander Maat, confirm that the research included within this thesis is my own work or that where it has been carried out in collaboration with, or supported by others, that this is duly acknowledged below and my contribution indicated. Previously published material is also acknowledged below.

I attest that I have exercised reasonable care to ensure that the work is original, and does not to the best of my knowledge break any UK law, infringe any third party's copyright or other Intellectual Property Right, or contain any confidential material.

I accept that Queen Mary University of London has the right to use plagiarism detection software to check the electronic version of the thesis.

I confirm that this thesis has not been previously submitted for the award of a degree by this or any other university.

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author and no quotation from it or information derived from it may be published without the prior written consent of the author.

Arthur Johannes Max Pander Maat

Date: 25^{th} of November 2024

Details of collaboration and publications:

Most of the original results in this thesis were first published in a preprint on the arXiv on the 23^{d} May of 2023 (Hilbert modules over C^* -categories, version 1). The results in Section 2 of Chapter 4 were published in the second version of that preprint on the 27^{th} of November of 2023 (Hilbert modules over C^* -categories, version 2).

The results in Appendix A are all collaborative with Benjamin Dünzinger.

Abstract

In this thesis, we investigate the theory of Hilbert modules over C^* -categories and use this theory to prove results on a variety of categories of C^* -categories and C^* -algebras.

In Chapter 1, we introduce the theory of C^* -categories and establish in particular the properties of the additive closure and the multiplier category of a given C^* -category.

In Chapter 2, we look at Hilbert modules over C^* -categories and bounded and compact operators between Hilbert modules. We prove a Yoneda lemma for C^* -categories, and an approximate projectivity property that relates Hilbert modules to free Hilbert modules. We also introduce right Hilbert bimodules, which admit an action from two C^* -categories.

In Chapter 3, we define the tensor product of a right Hilbert bimodule with a Hilbert module, and prove an Eilenberg-Watts theorem characterizing those functors of Hilbert module categories given by tensoring by a right Hilbert bimodule. We also prove a Morita theorem characterizing those bimodules that give equivalences of module categories upon tensoring.

In Chapter 4, we use the Eilenberg-Watts theorem to prove the equivalence of several bicategories and 2-categories of C^* -categories and C^* -algebras. We end by employing the Eilenberg-Watts theorem to exhibit a localization of a category of C^* -categories at the Morita equivalences.

In the Appendix, we look at the maximal tensor product of C^* -categories and prove a tensor-hom adjunction for non-degenerate functors of C^* -categories.

Contents

Acknowledgements 5			
Introduction 7			
1	<i>C</i> *-	categories	11
	1.1	Basic theory of C^* -categories $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	11
	1.2	Finite direct sums in C^* -categories	24
	1.3	The multiplier category	29
	1.4	Non-degenerate functors	35
	1.5	Multiplier direct sums	40
2	Hilbert modules over C^* -categories		
	2.1	Hilbert modules and their size	43
	2.2	Bounded adjointable operators	49
	2.3	Compact operators on Hilbert modules	52
	2.4	Bimodules and the equivalence $\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{K}Hilb\text{-}\mathcal{A}) \cong Hilb\text{-}\mathcal{A}$	58
	2.5	Extending modules to the additive hull and approximate projec-	
		tivity	63
3	Ten	sor products of bimodules	67
	3.1	Tensoring bimodules	67
	3.2	The Eilenberg-Watts theorem	75
	3.3	Bi-Hilbert and imprimitivity modules	78
	3.4	Morita equivalences of C^* -categories	84
4	(Bi)categories of C^* -categories and C^* -algebras		
	4.1	The bicategories C^* -HCat and C^* -Bimod	93
	4.2	Localizing a 1-category of $C^{\ast}\text{-}\mathrm{categories}$ at the Morita equivalences	s 97
A	The	e non-degenerate tensor-hom adjunction	101
Bibliography 11			

Acknowledgements

I am grateful above all to my two supervisors for their tireless guidance on this four-and-a-half year project in its many iterations. Behrang, for setting me up in the world of mathematics and always offering a listening ear and an incisive, clarifying question when I'd found something new to get stuck on. Ivo, for providing the inspiration for what would eventually become this thesis, for managing to be an excellent supervisor from across an ocean, and for hosting me in Lille.

This thesis would not have been possible without the financial support of the Queen Mary Principal's Award. I also thank Katie Hale and Alex Fink for helping me interrupt my studies on several occasions while I focused on other endeavours.

The collaborative results with Benjamin Dünzinger in Appendix A are the result of a January 2024 research visit to the University of Regensburg's Faculty of Mathematics, supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft's SFB 1085 Higher Invariants. I thank Benjamin for many useful conversations, for his contributions to the appendix, and for welcoming me to Regensburg.

Finally, I am beyond grateful to my family, my partner, my friends, my comrades and my sangha. Thank you, not just for keeping me alive, but for filling my life in London with love and meaning during these years. The results may be written in a foreign language, but this project is yours as much as it is mine.

Introduction

A pervasive theme in algebra is to consider some appropriately defined category of modules over a fixed type of object, and ask how we might see that two objects share equivalent categories of modules, i.e. that they are *Morita* equivalent. This philosophy of Morita equivalence gets its name from the work of Kiiti Morita who first solved this problem in the case of rings [Mor58]. We refer the reader to [Mey97] for characterizations of Morita equivalences in the cases of rings, C^* - and W^* -algebras, and topological groupoids.

A common step in solving this problem is a result that states that certain functors from the category of A-modules to that of B-modules are determined by their precomposition with some embedding of A into its own module category, or more precisely, are always equivalent to tensoring with the A-B bimodule given by this composition. This sort of result is usually called an *Eilenberg-Watts theorem* after simultaneous discoveries by Eilenberg, Watts and Zisman in the ring case: see [Wat60] for Watts' contribution. Blecher proved an Eilenberg-Watts theorem for Hilbert modules over C^* -algebras in [Ble97]. For an exposition of several more such results, including in homotopical algebra and enriched categories, see [nLa23a]. With an Eilenberg-Watts theorem in hand, the problem of Morita invariance reduces to determining which A-B bimodules give, through their tensor product functor, an equivalence between the module categories of A and B.

Finally, a particularly well-behaved modern set-up is a Morita homotopy category whose objects are those such as A and B and which has isomorphisms between exactly those objects that are Morita equivalent. We might ask moreover that there is a universal functor from the usual category to the Morita homotopy category which inverts those morphisms between objects which give Morita equivalences (i.e. is a localization at the Morita equivalences), and hope that there is a concrete description of the hom-spaces of the category. This has been achieved for example in the case of unital C^* -categories ([DT14]), dgcategories (see [Tab05], [Toë07]), as well as in the case of $(\infty, 1)$ -categories ([CG19]). One immediately notices that this only seems to be feasible when our objects are themselves certain kinds of categories: one explanation for this phenomenon is that only in this scenario can one invert Yoneda-type functors from each category into its module category.

This thesis solves all three of the above problems (an Eilenberg-Watts theorem, a characterization of Morita equivalent objects, and a Morita homotopy theory) in the case of locally small, not necessarily unital C^* -categories. These are semicategories enriched over complex Banach spaces with a well-behaved involution on the hom-spaces, built to model the topology and involution on spaces of operators between Hilbert spaces. The correct notion of a module here is a Hilbert module over a C^* -category. Proving results on the Morita theory of non-unital C^* -categories is considerably harder than the unital case treated in [DT14], since two Morita equivalent unital C^* -categories must be Morita equivalent as additive categories¹. This mirrors the fact that unital C^* algebras are Morita equivalent if and only if they are Morita equivalent as rings ([Bee82, §1.8]). For general C^* -categories there is no hope of such a result, and we must instead explore the theory of Hilbert modules over C^* -categories in earnest.

The first definition of C^* -categories was given in [GLR85]: they are a horizontal categorification of C^* -algebras, meaning one-object C^* -categories are simply C^* -algebras. We will see that many basic results on C^* -algebras carry over straightforwardly to the setting of C^* -categories, but there are a few important constructions from the literature that are specific to C^* -categories. Chapter 1 is devoted to recapitulating these constructions. In particular, it defines for a C^* -category \mathcal{A} its additive closure \mathcal{A}_{\oplus} (Proposition 1.2.3) and multiplier category $\mathcal{M}\mathcal{A}$ (Proposition 1.3.4), as well as clarifying their universal properties and how they interact (Lemma 1.3.6, Lemma 1.5.5).

Chapter 2 focuses on our notion of module over a C^* -category \mathcal{A} , namely right Hilbert \mathcal{A} -modules. We define adjointable and compact operators between these, prove a Yoneda lemma (Proposition 2.3.11), and in particular we identify morphisms in \mathcal{A} with compact operators between representable modules over \mathcal{A} . We also characterize a 'strong^{*}' topology of pointwise convergence on operators (Definition 2.3.15) and prove that the multiplier category of the compact operators returns the bounded operators (Proposition 2.4.7). We finish by generalizing a result of Blecher's ([Ble97, Theorem 3.1]) which is crucial in his proof of the C^* -algebra Eilenberg-Watts theorem: it says that Hilbert module can asymptotically be viewed as a direct summand in a net of finitely generated free modules (Theorem 2.5.6).

Chapter 3 brings the promised results on functors between module categories, beginning with the Eilenberg-Watts theorem:

Theorem (Theorem 3.2.4). Let \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} be locally small C^* -categories, and let F: Hilb- $\mathcal{A} \to$ Hilb- \mathcal{B} be a unital C^* -functor which is strongly^{*} continuous on bounded subsets. Let $E : \mathcal{A} \to$ Hilb- \mathcal{B} be the right Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} bimodule obtained by precomposing F with the Yoneda embedding $\iota_{\mathcal{A}} : \mathcal{A} \to$ Hilb- \mathcal{A} . Then there exists a unitary isomorphism $F \cong -\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}} E$ of functors.

Here the strong^{*} topology is the topology of pointwise convergence mentioned earlier (see Definition 2.3.15) and $\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}}$ is the tensor product of Hilbert bimodules (see Lemma 3.1.6).

¹To be precise, they must have the same closure under subobjects and direct sums: in [DT14] this was taken to be the *definition* of Morita equivalence, and we show in Proposition 3.4.8 that our definition coincides with theirs in the unital case.

We build on this result to characterize which C^* -categories are Morita equivalent, and find that the answer is completely analogous to the C^* -algebra case:

Theorem (Theorem 3.4.5). If \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} are locally small C^* -categories, the following are equivalent:

- There is a C^{*}-functor F : Hilb-A → Hilb-B which is an equivalence and strongly^{*} continuous on bounded subsets.
- There exists a right Hilbert A-B bimodule E : A → Hilb-B which is left small, full, non-degenerate, and an isometry onto the compact operators between modules in its image.
- There exists a bi-Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} bimodule E whose inner products are both full and satisfy the compatibility equation $_{\mathcal{A}}\langle e, f \rangle \cdot g = e \cdot \langle f, g \rangle_{\mathcal{B}}$ for all elements $e \in E(x)(y), f \in E(x')(y)$ and $g \in E(x')(y')$ and objects $x, x' \in Ob \mathcal{A}, y, y' \in Ob \mathcal{B}.$

Here 'left small' is a technical set-theoretic condition and 'full' signifies, as in the algebra case, that the inner products on the bimodule span a dense ideal of \mathcal{B} (Definition 3.3.5). The definition of a bi-Hilbert bimodule is another direct generalization of the algebra case (see Definition 3.3.3).

As an easy corollary of this result, we considerably relax the assumptions on a result of Joachim's [Joa03, Proposition 3.2], which says that a unital C^* -category with countably many objects is always Morita equivalent to a C^* algebra, and show that in fact every *small* C^* -category is Morita equivalent to a C^* -algebra (Proposition 3.4.9).

Chapter 4 contains the promised categorical framework for our results. First, we use the Eilenberg-Watts theorem and Proposition 3.4.9 to construct biequivalences between four bicategories of C^* -categories and C^* -algebras (Proposition 4.1.4). Finally, we exhibit the localization of the category of locally small C^* -categories at the Morita equivalences:

Theorem (Theorem 4.2.7). Let C^*Cat be the 1-category whose objects are locally small C^* -categories, and whose morphisms from \mathcal{A} to \mathcal{B} are natural isomorphism classes of non-degenerate functors from \mathcal{A} to the multiplier category \mathcal{MB} of \mathcal{B} .

Let $\mathcal{K}Hilb$: $\mathbf{C}^*\mathbf{Cat} \to \mathbf{C}^*\mathbf{Cat}$ be the endofunctor that takes every C^* category to its C^* -category of Hilbert modules and compact operators, and every non-degenerate functor to the tensor product with the bimodule obtained by composing with the embedding $\mathcal{MB} \to \mathsf{Hilb}$. Let **HMod** be the full subcategory with objects those in the image of $\mathcal{K}Hilb$ -.

Then \mathcal{K} Hilb- exhibits **HMod** as the reflective localization of \mathbb{C}^* Cat at the Morita equivalences, and two \mathbb{C}^* -categories become isomorphic in **HMod** if and only if they are Morita equivalent.

In Appendix A, we define for two non-unital C^* -categories \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} their maximal tensor product $\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B}$ and prove a tensor-hom adjunction for non-degenerate functors (Proposition A.20).

Chapter 1

C^* -categories

We begin with an investigation into the theory of C^* -categories. After presenting some basic constructions and results, we introduce the additive closure and the multiplier category of a given C^* -category, proving universal properties for both.

A note on terminology: in this thesis, we will use the term 'category' to refer to a semicategory (a category that doesn't necessarily have units), and 'unital category' to refer to what's usually called a category. Similarly a 'functor' will signify a semifunctor (i.e. a mapping of objects and morphisms that preserves composition but does not necessarily preserve units, even if they exist) and a functor between unital categories that preserves units will be called a 'unital functor'.

1.1 Basic theory of C*-categories

Throughout this thesis we work in the following commonplace set-up:

Definition 1.1.1. We denote by Set_0 the ordinary category of sets. We'll refer to categories as *small* if their collection of objects is an object of Set_0 and its hom-spaces are objects of Set_0 .

We denote by Set_1 the category of large sets, i.e. an enlargement of Set_0 that is large enough to contain as an object the collection of all objects of Set_0 . We denote by *locally small* categories those whose hom-sets live in Set_0 and whose collection of objects lives in Set_1 , for example the category Set_0 .

We denote by Set_2 the category of very large sets, i.e. an enlargement of Set_1 that is large enough to contain as an object the collection of all objects of Set_1 . We denote by *large* categories those whose hom-sets live in Set_1 and whose collection of objects lives in Set_2 , for example the category Set_1 .

Since the categories Set_i embed in each other as *i* increases we adopt the convention that small categories are locally small and locally small categories are large.

We build on this set-up for our purposes as follows:

Definition 1.1.2. For i = 0, 1 we denote by $Vect_{\mathbb{C},i}$ the bicomplete closed symmetric monoidal category such that

- Its objects are Set_i-objects endowed with the structure of a complex vector space.
- Its morphisms are complex linear maps.
- Its tensor product is the standard complex tensor product $\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}$.
- Its internal hom object for any two spaces X and Y is the space Lin(X, Y) of complex linear maps from X to Y.

Definition 1.1.3. For i = 0, 1 we denote by Ban_i the bicomplete closed symmetric monoidal category such that:

- Its objects are Set_i-objects endowed with the structure of a complex Banach space.
- Its morphisms are complex linear maps which are in addition *short*, i.e. they do not increase the norm of any element.
- Its tensor product is the standard (projective) tensor product, simply written \otimes .
- Its internal hom object for any two spaces X and Y is the Banach space Map(X, Y) of *bounded* complex linear maps from X to Y.

Finally, we denote by $F_i : \mathsf{Ban}_i \to \mathsf{Vect}_{\mathbb{C},i}$ the obvious lax monoidal forgetful functors.

The bicompleteness and closed monoidal structure of Ban_0 is treated in [Yua12]. If one wanted to be more careful about showing $Vect_{\mathbb{C},1}$ and Ban_1 are well-defined, one could use the theory of universe enlargement: for more details on this procedure see for example [Kel05, Section 2.6]. We won't go into this any further here.

Categories enriched over $Vect_{\mathbb{C},i}$ or Ban_i are called *complex*, resp. *Banach* categories and we apply labels like small and large to them in the way suggested by Definition 1.1.1. Since we haven't defined an infinite hierarchy of universes, we'll take care to comment on whether each construction of a new category increases the size or not.

Several recent works on C^* -categories ([Mit02a][DT14][Fer23]) only treat small C^* -categories, while some ([BE21]) work with a 'universes' approach like we do in this first chapter. From Chapter 2 on, we will look only at locally small C^* -categories, and in Chapter 4 we prove some results that hold only for small C^* -categories.

We can characterize which complex categories can be further enriched to Banach categories: **Lemma 1.1.4.** Then C be a small, locally small, or large complex category. It is the image under change of base (induced by a forgetful functor F_i) of a Banach category if and only if for all $x, y, z \in Ob C$ the following hold:

- The space $\mathcal{C}(x, y)$ can be equipped with a Banach norm.
- The composition is contractive, i.e. for each $a \in \mathcal{C}(y, z), b \in \mathcal{C}(x, y)$ we have $||a \circ b|| \le ||a|| ||b||$.

Proof. Suppose the complex enrichment can be lifted to a Banach enrichment: then clearly the first point is satisfied. Furthermore, by definition of the norm on the projective tensor product $C(y, z) \otimes C(x, y)$ we have $||a \otimes b|| = ||a|| ||b||$. So if the composition map on the $C(y, z) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} C(x, y)$ can be lifted to a short map on the projective tensor product, then we must have $||a \circ b|| \leq ||a \otimes b|| = ||a|| ||b||$.

For the converse, we only need to show that under the assumptions in the lemma, the complex composition map

$$\circ: \mathcal{C}(y,z) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{C}(x,y) \to \mathcal{C}(x,z)$$

lifts to a short map on the projective tensor product. But considering its image under the complex tensor-hom adjunction $\hat{\circ} : \mathcal{C}(y, z) \to \operatorname{Lin}(\mathcal{C}(x, y), \mathcal{C}(x, z))$, the contractive property implies that $\hat{\circ}$ in fact lands in the Banach space $\operatorname{Map}(\mathcal{C}(x, y), \mathcal{C}(x, z))$ and is a short map when the norm on $\mathcal{C}(y, z)$ is considered. So we can pass it back through the tensor-hom adjunction in Ban_i and get a short lift of \circ to the projective tensor product. \Box

We define a fundamental notion of Banach space theory:

Definition 1.1.5. Let *B* be a Banach space and Λ be a partially ordered set. A *net* $\{b_{\lambda} : \lambda \in \Lambda\}$ in *B* is simply a collection of elements of *B* indexed over Λ . We say that (b_{λ}) converges to $b \in B$ if for any $\epsilon > 0$ there is an element $\lambda_{\epsilon} \in \Lambda$ such that

for all
$$\lambda \geq \lambda_{\epsilon}$$
 we have $||b_{\lambda} - b|| < \epsilon$.

We refer the reader to [Wil70, Chapter 4, Section 11] for details on the theory of nets. Note that a net indexed over the natural numbers is simply a sequence.

Remark 1.1.6. We will often refer to a net such as $\{b_{\lambda} : \lambda \in \Lambda\}$ simply as (b_{λ}) , leaving the indexing set implicit, and denote 'convergence over Λ ' by the symbol $\xrightarrow{\lambda}$.

We prove that in a Banach category the composition maps are continuous in the following sense:

Lemma 1.1.7. Let C be a Banach category. If $\{b_{\lambda} : \lambda \in \Lambda\}$ is a net in C(y, z) converging to $b \in C(y, z)$, and $\{c_{\mu} : \mu \in M\}$ is a net in C(x, y) converging to $c \in C(x, y)$, and one of $\{b_{\lambda}\}$ or $\{c_{\mu}\}$ is uniformly bounded, then the net $\{b_{\lambda}c_{\mu} : (\lambda, \mu) \in \Lambda \times M\}$ converges to bc. Here the set $\Lambda \times M$ is given the product order, *i.e.* $(\lambda_{1}, \mu_{1}) \leq (\lambda_{2}, \mu_{2})$ if $\lambda_{1} \leq \lambda_{2}$ and $\mu_{1} \leq \mu_{2}$.

Proof. Suppose for some $K \in \mathbb{R}$ that $||b_{\lambda}|| \leq K$ for all $\lambda \in \Lambda$. Then note that

$$||b_{\lambda}c_{\mu} - bc|| = ||b_{\lambda}(c_{\mu} - c) + (b_{\lambda} - b)c|| \le K||c_{\mu} - c|| + ||b - b_{\lambda}|| ||c||$$

which evidently goes to zero as (λ, μ) varies over $\Lambda \times M$. The case where $\{c_{\mu}\}$ is uniformly bounded proceeds similarly.

Definition 1.1.8. A *Banach* *-*category* is a Banach category C equipped with a conjugate linear involution $(-)^* : C \to C^{\text{op}}$ that fixes objects and squares to the identity functor: that is, for all morphisms f, we have $(f^*)^* = f$.

Before we move on to defining a C^* -category, we remind the reader of some basic concepts which play a crucial role in the theory C^* -algebras.

Definition 1.1.9. If A is a non-unital complex algebra, we denote by A^+ the algebra given as a vector space by $A \oplus \mathbb{C}$ and whose multiplication is given by $(a_1, \lambda_1)(a_2, \lambda_2) = (a_1a_2 + \lambda_1a_2 + \lambda_2a_1, \lambda_1\lambda_2)$. If A is a unital complex algebra we simply set $A^+ = A$.

It is obvious that if A is non-unital, A^+ has a unit given by $(0,1) \in A \oplus \mathbb{C}$.

Definition 1.1.10. If A is any (possibly non-unital) complex algebra and $a \in A$, then we denote by $\operatorname{Spec}(a) \subseteq \mathbb{C}$, or by the *spectrum of a*, the set of numbers λ such that $a - \lambda$ id is not invertible in the algebra A^+ . We say that a is *positive* if $\operatorname{Spec}(a) \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{\geq 0}$.

Definition 1.1.11. A C^* -category is a Banach *-category \mathcal{A} such that for all $x, y \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{A}$ and $a \in \mathcal{A}(x, y)$ we have:

- the morphism $a^*a \in \mathcal{A}(x, x)$ satisfies the C^* -identity $||a^*a|| = ||a||^2$ and
- the morphism a^*a is positive.

Readers versed in operator algebras will know that in the case where \mathcal{A} has a single object x, the first of the above two axioms is enough to specify that $\mathcal{A}(x,x)$ is a C^* -algebra, and the positivity requirement then follows (see e.g. [Mur90, Theorem 2.2.5]). In the case of C^* -categories there are pathological examples satisfying the first but not the second axiom: see [Mit02a, Example 2.10].

The positivity axiom for C^* -categories requires that we make a variety of arguments in this thesis about positivity in C^* -algebras. For this reason we collate here some classical results on this topic, along with citations. In the statements below, A is a C^* -algebra and a and b are elements of A.

Definition 1.1.12. The element *a* is said to be *normal* if $a^*a = aa^*$ and *self-adjoint* if furthermore $a^* = a$.

Lemma 1.1.13 ([Mur90, Theorem 2.2.5]). The element a is positive if and only if $a = d^*d$ for some $d \in A$.

Lemma 1.1.14 ([Put19, Corollary 1.4.10]). If a is normal, then a has real spectrum if and only if it is self-adjoint.

Lemma 1.1.15 ([Put19, Lemma 1.6.1]). If a is self-adjoint, it can be written as a difference a = b - c where b and c are positive and bc = 0.

Lemma 1.1.16 ([Mur90, Theorem 2.2.1]). If a is positive, there is a unique positive element b such that $b^2 = a$.

Lemma 1.1.17 ([Mur90, p. 44]). If $A \subseteq B$ is an inclusion of C^* -algebras, then for all $a \in A$, we have $Spec_A(a) \cup \{0\} = Spec_B(a) \cup \{0\}$. In particular, a is positive in A if and only if a is positive in B.

Lemma 1.1.18 ([Put19, Proposition 1.6.3]). If a and b are positive, then a+b is positive again.

Lemma 1.1.19 ([Shi21, Corollary 2.3.2]). If a and b are positive and ab = ba, then ab is again positive.

Recall for the final lemmas that we say $a \ge b$ when the element a - b is positive.

Lemma 1.1.20 ([Dix77, Lemma 1.6.8]). If a is any element of a C^{*}-algebra A and $b \in A$ is positive, then $||a||^2b \ge a^*ba$.

Lemma 1.1.21 ([Dix77, Lemma 1.6.9]). If a and b are positive elements and $a \ge b$, then $||a|| \ge ||b||$.

Lemma 1.1.22. If p_n is a sequence of positive elements in a C^* -algebra with limit p, then p is also positive.

Proof. Embed A into the algebra of bounded operators B(H) on a Hilbert space H, and recall that an element T of B(H) is positive if and only if the inner product $\langle h, T(h) \rangle_H$ is a positive real number for all $h \in H$. But then by the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality it's clear that $\langle h, p_n(h) \rangle \xrightarrow{n} \langle h, p(h) \rangle$ for all $h \in H$ and we see that if all elements p_n are positive, so is p.

The final lemma we quote is not about positive elements but about a fundamental construction in C^* -algebra theory called the *functional calculus*:

Lemma 1.1.23 ([Mur90, Theorem 2.1.13]). Let A be a unital C^* -algebra and a be a normal element. Furthermore let $z : Spec(a) \to \mathbb{C}$ be the inclusion map. Then there is a unique unital *-homomorphism $\phi : C(Spec(a)) \to A$ such that $\phi(z) = a$, and furthermore ϕ has image the C^* -subalgebra of A generated by a.

Returning to C^* -categories, the axiom stating $||a^*a|| = ||a||^2$ is called the C^* -*identity*. We record here for posterity a slightly weaker statement that also implies this condition. Note that we will occasionally write $a \in \mathcal{A}(x, y)$ or simply $a \in \mathcal{A}$ for the claim ' $a \in \mathcal{A}(x, y)$ for some $x, y \in Ob \mathcal{A}$ '.

Lemma 1.1.24. If \mathcal{A} is a Banach *-category such that for all $a \in \mathcal{A}$ we have $||a^*a|| \ge ||a||^2$, then in fact $||a^*|| = ||a||$ and $||a^*a|| = ||a||^2$.

Proof. If ||a|| = 0, then $a = a^* = 0$ and the C^* -equality is obvious. Otherwise, note that by contractivity we get $||a^*|| \cdot ||a|| \ge ||a^*a|| \ge ||a||^2$, so dividing out ||a|| we obtain $||a^*|| \ge ||a||$. But then we also have $||a|| = ||a^{**}|| \ge ||a^*||$, so in fact $||a^*|| = ||a||$, and by contractivity $||a^*a|| \le ||a||^2$. Hence we get $||a^*a|| = ||a||^2$.

We give some examples to provide a flavour of the theory.

Example 1.1.25. C^* -algebras are precisely those Banach *-algebras that occur as the hom-space of a single-object C^* -category.

It is with this justification that C^* -categories can be regarded as 'multiobject' C^* -algebras.

Example 1.1.26. The category Hilb of small Hilbert spaces and bounded operators between them is a locally small C^* -category with the familiar operator norm, and involution given by taking adjoint operators.

Remark 1.1.27. It is in fact the case that much as every C^* -algebra can be embedded into the algebra of all bounded operators on some Hilbert space, every *small* C^* -category can be embedded isometrically into the C^* -category Hilb: see [Mit02a, Theorem 6.12]. The proof involves a direct analog of the Gelfand-Naimark-Segal construction. We will not use this result in this thesis, and stick with an abstract rather than a concrete notion of C^* -categories.

Example 1.1.28 ([Mit02a, Definition 5.10]). If \mathcal{G} is a small discrete groupoid, then there is a maximal groupoid C^* -category $C^*_{\max}(\mathcal{G})$ with the same objects as \mathcal{G} , whose hom-spaces $C^*_{\max}(\mathcal{G})(x, y)$ are given by taking the free complex vector space on $\mathcal{G}(x, y)$ and completing in the norm given by $||a|| = \sup_{F:\mathcal{G} \to \mathsf{Hilb}} ||F(a)||$ (where F varies over unitary representations of \mathcal{G}). The involution is given by $(\lambda \cdot g)^* = \overline{\lambda} \cdot g^{-1}$.

There is also a 'reduced groupoid C^* -category' defined along similar lines in the same publication. For a more general perspective on the maximal groupoid construction, we refer the reader to the series of adjunctions presented on [Bun21, p. 66], which assemble to give a 'free C^* -category' on any category with involution.

A groupoid C^* -category in the case where \mathcal{G} is *not discrete* can be defined using the notion of a topological C^* -category, i.e. one with a topology on the objects. We do not investigate this construction here and instead refer the interested reader to [OSu17, Section 5.1].

We will see in this chapter a number of ways of producing a new C^* -category from a given one, the first being as follows:

Lemma 1.1.29. If \mathcal{A} is a C^* -category, then \mathcal{A}^{op} is again a C^* -category with respect to the same complex vector space structure and norms, and involution $(-)^{*op}$ given simply by the opposite functor of the normal involution of \mathcal{A} .

Proof. The only things to check are the C^* -identity and positivity: but clearly requiring that $a^* \circ_{\text{op}} a = aa^*$ is positive for all a is equivalent to requiring that a^*a is positive, and $||a^* \circ_{\text{op}} a|| = ||aa^*|| = ||(a^{**})a^*|| = ||a^*||^2 = ||a||^2$.

We recall here two important definitions that give us another example of a C^* -category.

Definition 1.1.30. If *B* is a *C*^{*}-algebra, a *right Hilbert B-module* is a right *B*-module *E* with a *B*-valued inner product $\langle -, - \rangle : E \times E \to B$ that satisfies the following requirements for all $e, f \in E, b \in B, \lambda, \mu \in \mathbb{C}$:

- $\langle \lambda e, \mu f \rangle = \overline{\lambda} \mu \langle e, f \rangle.$
- $\langle e, f \rangle = \langle f, e \rangle^*$.
- $\langle e, f \rangle b = \langle e, f \cdot b \rangle.$
- $\langle e, e \rangle$ is a positive element of B and vanishes only if e = 0.
- E is complete in the norm $||e|| := \sqrt{||\langle e, e \rangle||_B}$.

We will describe any inner product with the first property as *sesquilinear* from here onwards.

Definition 1.1.31. For two right Hilbert modules E and F over a C^* -algebra B, a B-homomorphism $T: E \to F$ is a bounded adjointable map when it is a bounded map in the given norms and there exists an adjoint transformation $T^*: F \to E$ such that for all $e \in E, f \in F$ we have

$$\langle T(e), f \rangle_F = \langle e, T^*(f) \rangle_E.$$

It follows easily that the adjoint of a transformation T is unique if it exists. Notice that when we set $B = \mathbb{C}$, the above definition describes Hilbert spaces and bounded adjointable¹ maps between them.

Example 1.1.32. For any C^* -algebra B, the category Hilb-B of right Hilbert B-modules and bounded adjointable operators is a unital C^* -category, with the standard operator norm and with adjoints providing the involution.

We do not prove this result here as it is a special case of a result in the next chapter (Proposition 2.2.6). We refer the reader to [Lan95] for a thorough exposition of the theory of Hilbert modules over C^* -algebras.

Functors between C^* -categories get an adapted definition:

¹In the case $B = \mathbb{C}$ a bounded linear operator necessarily has an adjoint, so we might as well speak simply of 'bounded operators'. For general B, though, the existence of an adjoint does not follow from the other properties here.

Definition 1.1.33. If \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} are C^* -categories, a C^* -functor from \mathcal{A} to \mathcal{B} is a complex linear functor $F : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ that intertwines the involutions on \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} .

This is called a linear *-functor in parts of the literature, but we prefer 'C*-functor' for brevity. An example of a functor between C^* -categories that is not a C^* -functor is the involution: the functor $(-)^* : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{op}}$ is not a C^* -functor since it is not linear but conjugate linear.

One might ask whether there is a continuity requirement missing here, but as in the algebraic case, this is determined by the other structure. The proofs of these results are simple but we include them here for completeness:

Proposition 1.1.34 ([Mit02a, Proposition 2.14]). If $F : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ is a C^* -functor, its associated maps on hom-spaces $F : \mathcal{A}(x, y) \to \mathcal{B}(F(x), F(y))$ are norm-decreasing, so a fortiori continuous.

Furthermore, C^* -functors that give injective maps on hom-spaces are isometric.

Proof. Note by the C^* -identity that for every $a \in \mathcal{A}$ we have $||a|| = \sqrt{||a^*a||}$, so it suffices to prove the lemma holds on (positive) endomorphisms $a \in \mathcal{A}(x, x)$. But clearly F restricts to a *-homomorphism $\mathcal{A}(x, x) \to \mathcal{B}(F(x), F(x))$, and it is then a standard result of C^* -algebra theory that such a map is automatically norm-decreasing (see for example [Mur90, Theorem 2.1.7]). Furthermore, an injective *-homomorphism of C^* -algebras is isometric (see [Mur90, Theorem 3.1.5]), proving the second result.

Corollary 1.1.35 ([Mit02a, Corollary 2.16]). The norm on any C^* -category is unique: that is, if $\|\cdot\|_1$ and $\|\cdot\|_2$ are two norms on a linear *-category C both turning it into a C^* -category, then actually $\|\cdot\|_1 = \|\cdot\|_2$.

Proof. Let C_1 and C_2 be the two C^* -categories associated to C by the norms. Then the identity functor $C_1 \to C_2$ is injective, so it must be isometric, and in fact $||a||_1 = ||a||_2$ for all $a \in \mathcal{A}$.

We define several types of subcategory of a C^* -category:

Definition 1.1.36. If \mathcal{A} is a C^* -category, a \mathbb{C} -linear subcategory $\mathcal{B} \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ is a *sub-C*^{*}-*category* if it is closed in the norm, as well as closed under the involution. A sub-*C*^{*}-category \mathcal{B} is a *C*^{*}-*ideal* (or simply an *ideal*) if in addition for all composable $f \in \mathcal{A}, g \in \mathcal{B}, h \in \mathcal{A}$ we have $fg \in \mathcal{B}, gh \in \mathcal{B}$. An ideal \mathcal{B} is *essential* if the following statement is true for all $a \in \mathcal{A}$: if ab = 0 for all $b \in \mathcal{B}$ such that this composition exist, then a = 0.

Note that since there is at least one morphism (the zero morphism) between any two objects in a C^* -category, an ideal of \mathcal{A} necessarily contains all objects of \mathcal{A} , i.e. it is necessarily a *wide* subcategory.

We deduce an important property of essential ideals:

Proposition 1.1.37. If $\mathcal{B} \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ is an essential ideal and $\mathcal{C} \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ is any ideal such that $\mathcal{C} \cap \mathcal{B} = 0$, then $\mathcal{C} = 0$.

Proof. Suppose C is another ideal of A such that $C \cap B = 0$. Then certainly for any composable pair $c \in C, b \in B$, we have $cb \in C \cap B$ by ideal properties, so cb = 0, and the stated property gives c = 0 for all $c \in C$. So B has the stated property.

In the C^* -algebra case, the above characterization is *equivalent* to essentiality (see e.g. [Mur90, p.82]). As far as we know, it's a little weaker in the C^* -category case.

We prove here for later use an easy technical lemma that helps us generate an ideal from any collection of morphisms in a C^* -category.

Proposition 1.1.38. If B is any collection of morphisms in A, there is an ideal

 $\mathcal{A}B\mathcal{A}$

of A with the following property:

- $B \subseteq \mathcal{A} B \mathcal{A}$
- if C is any ideal of A and $B \subseteq C$, then $A B A \subseteq C$.

Furthermore, for any two objects v and z of \mathcal{A} , the hom-space $\mathcal{A}B\mathcal{A}(v,z)$ can be described explicitly as the norm-closure of the space of finite sums $\sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i b_i \alpha_i$ where for each i we have $a_i \in \mathcal{A}(y_i, z), \alpha_i \in \mathcal{A}(v, x_i)$ for some $x_i, y_i \in \mathsf{Ob}\mathcal{A}$ and either $b_i \in B(x_i, y_i)$ or $b_i^* \in B(y_i, x_i)$.

Proof. Any two-sided ideal containing B must contain elements of the form $a_i b_i \alpha_i$ as above where $b_i \in B(x_i, y_i)$, as well as their involutions, giving us the case where $b_i^* \in B(y_i, x_i)$. As we have defined ideals to be complex linear norm closed subcategories, all norm limits of finite sums of these must be in any ideal containing B.

Conversely, it is easy to see that the finite linear combinations of morphisms of the type appearing in the definition of $\mathcal{A}B\mathcal{A}$ form a complex linear subcategory closed under involution and multiplication by outside elements, but then by Lemma 1.1.7 so is the subcategory of norm-limits of such combinations. \Box

For our first example of an essential ideal we define and prove some results on the minimal unitization of a C^* -category, which will be of interest elsewhere.

Definition 1.1.39. For every C^* -category \mathcal{A} there is a unital complex linear *-category \mathcal{A}^+ , termed the *minimal unitization* of \mathcal{A} , which has hom-spaces

 $\mathcal{A}^+(x,y) = \mathcal{A}(x,y)$ for $x \neq y$ or when x = y and $\mathcal{A}(x,x)$ is unital $\mathcal{A}^+(x,x) = \mathcal{A}(x,x)^+$, the unitization of $\mathcal{A}(x,x)$ defined in Definition 1.1.9, whenever $\mathcal{A}(x,x)$ is non-unital.

Composition is defined by $(a_1, \lambda_1)(a_2, \lambda_2) = (a_1a_2 + \lambda_1a_2 + \lambda_2a_1, \lambda_1\lambda_2)$ (where we represent 'unenhanced' elements of \mathcal{A} by setting $\lambda_i = 0$), and involution defined by $(a, \lambda)^* = (a^*, \overline{\lambda})$.

This unitization is in fact a C^* -category:

Proposition 1.1.40. There is a norm on \mathcal{A}^+ making it a C^* -category, given on the enhanced algebras $\mathcal{A}(x, x) \oplus \mathbb{C}$ by the norm

$$\|(a,\lambda)\| := \sup_{b \in \mathcal{A}(x,x), \|b\|=1} \|ab + \lambda b\|$$

and on all other hom-spaces by the norm from \mathcal{A} .

Furthermore, the C^* -functor $\gamma_{\mathcal{A}} : \mathcal{A} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{A}^+$ given by $a \mapsto (a, 0)$ on the enhanced algebras and the identity elsewhere embeds \mathcal{A} as an essential ideal in \mathcal{A}^+ .

Proof. The fact that the unitized endomorphism algebras are C^* -algebras with the given norm is classical, see e.g. [Weg93, Proposition 2.1.7]. Combining this with the fact that \mathcal{A} is a C^* -category we immediately get the completeness of all hom-spaces, the C^* -identity and the positivity axiom on all elements, and the contractive property of composition, *except* in the case of composing an 'enhanced' endomorphism $(a, \lambda) \in \mathcal{A}(x, x) \oplus \mathbb{C}$ with a morphism $b \in \mathcal{A}(y, x)$. In this case we note that

$$\begin{split} |(a,\lambda)b||^2 &= \|ab + \lambda b\|^2 \\ &= \|(ab + \lambda b)(ab + \lambda b)^*\| \\ &= \|(abb^* + \lambda bb^*)(a^*,\overline{\lambda})\| \\ &\leq \|(abb^* + \lambda bb^*)\|\|(a^*,\overline{\lambda})\| \\ &\leq \|(a,\lambda)\|\|bb^*\|\|(a^*,\overline{\lambda})\| \\ &= \|(a,\lambda)\|^2\|b\|^2 \end{split}$$

where the two inequalities follows from the definitions of $||(a^*, \overline{\lambda})||$, respectively $||(a, \lambda)||$, since b^*b and $abb^* + \lambda bb^*$ are endomorphisms of x. Hence \mathcal{A}^+ is a C^* -category.

Finally, to see that \mathcal{A} is an essential ideal in \mathcal{A}^+ , suppose that an element (a_0, λ) of an enhanced endomorphism algebra satisfies

$$(a_0, \lambda)a_1 = a_0a_1 + \lambda a_1 = 0$$

for all $a_1 \in \mathcal{A}$. Then in particular this is true when a_1 is in the same algebra as a_0 , but by [Weg93, p. 29] this already implies $(a_0, \lambda) = (0, 0)$. Hence \mathcal{A} is essential in \mathcal{A}^+ .

We now describe a universal property of the C^* -category \mathcal{A}^+ . To do this we need the following definition:

Definition 1.1.41. Let \mathcal{A} be a C^* -category and \mathcal{B} be a unital complex linear category. We denote by

$$\operatorname{Fun}^{\mathrm{u}}(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B})$$

the category of functors from \mathcal{A} to \mathcal{B} that restrict to unital maps on all unital endomorphism algebras in \mathcal{A} .

Proposition 1.1.42. Let \mathcal{A} be a C^* -category and \mathcal{B} be a unital complex linear category. Precomposition with the embedding $\gamma_{\mathcal{A}} : \mathcal{A} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{A}^+$ induces an isomorphism of categories

$$-\circ \gamma_{\mathcal{A}} : \operatorname{Fun}^{\mathrm{u}}(\mathcal{A}^+, \mathcal{B}) \to \operatorname{Fun}^{\mathrm{u}}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}).$$

Proof. We first show that $-\circ\gamma_A$ is surjective on objects, i.e. that if $F: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ is a complex linear functor which acts unitally on any unital endomorphism algebras in \mathcal{A} , then it extends to a unital complex linear functor $F^+: \mathcal{A}^+ \to \mathcal{B}$.

The functor F^+ is defined on the unitized algebras by

$$F^+(a,\lambda) = F(a) + \lambda \cdot \mathrm{id}.$$

It is elementary to verify that this gives a unital complex linear functor.

To see that $-\circ \gamma_{\mathcal{A}}$ is injective on objects, note that a unital functor must have

$$F^+(0,\lambda) = \lambda \cdot F(0,1) = \lambda \cdot \mathrm{id},$$

so by linearity the values on \mathcal{A} determine F^+ .

But for any array of \mathcal{B} -morphisms indexed by Ob \mathcal{A} , naturality with respect to morphisms in \mathcal{A} is clearly equivalent to naturality with respect to morphisms in \mathcal{A}^+ , so $-\circ\gamma_{\mathcal{A}}$ is also full and faithful, and hence an isomorphism of categories.

Another example of an essential ideal is the following:

Example 1.1.43. The category Hilb of Hilbert spaces and bounded operators has as an essential ideal the subcategory \mathcal{K} Hilb of Hilbert spaces and compact operators.

We will not prove here that \mathcal{K} Hilb is essential in Hilb as this is a special case of a result in the next chapter (Proposition 2.3.6).

Every C^* -ideal gives a new topology on the C^* -category containing it; note that by a topology on a category we will always mean a topology on the homspaces of the category.

Definition 1.1.44. For a C^* -ideal $\mathcal{B} \subseteq \mathcal{A}$, the \mathcal{B} -relative topology on $\mathcal{A}(x, y)$ is generated by the seminorms of the form

$$g \mapsto \|fg\| : f \in \mathcal{B}(y, z)$$
$$g \mapsto \|gh\| : h \in \mathcal{B}(w, x)$$

It follows from the contractive property that a net which converges in the norm on \mathcal{A} must converge in the \mathcal{B} -relative topology for all $\mathcal{B} \subseteq \mathcal{A}$. Note that even when $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{A}$, the \mathcal{A} -relative topology on \mathcal{A} is not necessarily the same as the norm topology, unless \mathcal{A} is unital.

We prove here that morphism composition is always continuous in the topology relative to an ideal:

Lemma 1.1.45. Suppose $\mathcal{B} \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ is a C^* -ideal in a C^* -category, and that $(u_{\lambda} : \lambda \in \Lambda)$ and $(v_{\mu} : \mu \in M)$ are two norm-bounded nets in $\mathcal{A}(y, z)$ and $\mathcal{A}(x, y)$ respectively. Suppose in addition that there are morphisms $u \in \mathcal{A}(y, z)$ and $v \in \mathcal{A}(x, y)$ such that $u_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{\lambda} u$ and $v_{\mu} \xrightarrow{\mu} v$ in the \mathcal{B} -relative topology. Then the net $(u_{\lambda}v_{\mu} : \lambda \in \Lambda, \mu \in M)$ converges to uv in the \mathcal{B} -relative topology.

Proof. Let b be an element in $\mathcal{B}(v, x)$, and $K \in \mathbb{R}$ be a bound for $||u_{\lambda}||$. Then note that

$$\begin{aligned} \|u_{\lambda}v_{\mu}b - uvb\| &\leq \|u_{\lambda}(v_{\mu}b - vb)\| + \|u_{\lambda}vb - uvb\| \\ &\leq K\|(v_{\mu}b - vb)\| + \|u_{\lambda}vb - uvb\| \end{aligned}$$

But the first term in the last expression goes to zero as μ varies, and as $vb \in \mathcal{B}$ we see the second term goes to zero as λ varies, so $u_{\lambda}v_{\mu}b \xrightarrow{\lambda,\mu} uvb$ in the norm. We can also prove using the bound on (v_{μ}) that $b'u_{\lambda}v_{\mu} \xrightarrow{\lambda,\mu} b'uv$ for $b' \in \mathcal{B}(z, w)$.

We follow by defining an 'internal hom' for C^* -categories:

Proposition 1.1.46. Suppose \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} are locally small C^* -categories. Then there is a C^* -category

$$\operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B})$$

such that

- Its objects are the C^* -functors $F : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$.
- Its morphisms $\eta: F \to F'$ are the natural transformations $\eta: F \Rightarrow F'$ such that $\|\eta\| := \sup_{x \in Ob, \mathcal{A}} \|\eta_x\| < \infty$.
- The involution is taken objectwise, i.e. by setting $(\eta^*)_x = \eta^*_x$.

In general $\operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$ is large, but if \mathcal{A} is small, then $\operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$ is locally small.

Proof. Note that a priori $\operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$ is a subcategory of the large category of all functors from \mathcal{A} to \mathcal{B} , considered simply as Set_0 -categories. So $\operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$ is a large category, except in the case where \mathcal{A} is small. Furthermore it has an obvious complex vector space structure on the hom-sets. We show that it's a C^* -category with the given norm and involution.

Contractivity in Fun(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}) follows directly from that on \mathcal{B} . Completeness on the hom-spaces follows as a Cauchy sequence of natural transformations (η_n) must by definition have Cauchy components ($\eta_{x,n}$), and then by Lemma 1.1.7 we see that $\eta_x := \lim_n \eta_{x,n}$ assembles to a natural transformation η , which is the limit of η_n . So Fun $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$ is a Banach category.

Furthermore, the involution is well-defined: if η is a natural transformation, then for any morphism $a \in \mathcal{A}(x, x')$ we have

$$\eta_{x'}^* \circ F(a) = (F(a^*) \circ \eta_{x'})^* = (\eta_x \circ F'(a^*))^* = F'(a) \circ \eta_x^*$$

by naturality of η , so we can apply the involution at every object and get another natural transformation η^* .

To prove the C^* -identity, note simply that

$$\|\eta^*\eta\| := \sup_{x \in \mathsf{Ob}\,\mathcal{A}} \|\eta^*_x\eta_x\| = \sup_{x \in \mathsf{Ob}\,\mathcal{A}} \|\eta_x\|^2 = (\sup_{x \in \mathsf{Ob}\,\mathcal{A}} \|\eta_x\|)^2 = \|\eta\|^2.$$

To show that $\eta^*\eta$ has positive spectrum, suppose $\eta^*\eta - \lambda$ is not invertible in Fun $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})(F, F)^+$. Then at least one of the constituent morphisms

$$\eta_x^*\eta_x - \lambda \in \mathcal{B}(F(x), F(x))^+$$

is not invertible, or else the collection of their inverses would easily be seen to constitute an inverse natural transformation to η . But the morphisms $\eta_x^* \eta_x$ each have positive spectrum, so λ must be positive and real.

It is useful to study morphisms whose involution is also a (right or left) inverse.

Definition 1.1.47. In a C^* -category \mathcal{A} , a *-monomorphism or isometry is a morphism $a \in \mathcal{A}(x, y)$ such that $a^*a = \mathrm{id}_x$. A *-epimorphism is a morphism $a \in \mathcal{A}(x, y)$ such that $aa^* = \mathrm{id}_y$. A unitary isomorphism is a morphism $a \in \mathcal{A}(x, y)$ such that $a^*a = \mathrm{id}_y$ and $aa^* = \mathrm{id}_x$.

Example 1.1.48. If B is a C^* -algebra, a morphism in the C^* -category of right Hilbert B-modules is a unitary equivalence if and only if it is a bijection and preserves all inner products.

These special isomorphisms allow us to define an appropriate type of equivalence of C^* -categories:

Definition 1.1.49. If \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} are two unital C^* -categories, $F : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ and $G : \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{A}$ are C^* -functors, and $\eta : FG \Rightarrow \operatorname{id}_{\mathcal{B}}$ and $\epsilon : \operatorname{id}_{\mathcal{A}} \Rightarrow GF$ are natural isomorphisms, then this data is called a *unitary equivalence* between \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} if η and ϵ are both not just isomorphisms but unitary isomorphisms at every object.

The existence of a unitary isomorphism between two objects is not, however, a stronger condition than that of isomorphism:

Lemma 1.1.50 ([Del12, Proposition 2.6]). If $a \in \mathcal{A}(x, y)$ is an isomorphism, then there is a unitary isomorphism from x to y given by $a(a^*a)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$.

Corollary 1.1.51. Two locally small unital C^* -categories are unitarily equivalent if and only if they are equivalent.

Proof. Simply note that in Definition 1.1.49, the transformation η is an isomorphism in Fun(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}), which is a C^* -category by Proposition 1.1.46. Hence η can be modified to a unitary isomorphism, which will clearly give a unitary isomorphism at every object. One can proceed similarly for ϵ .

1.2 Finite direct sums in C^{*}-categories

We turn now to the matter of direct sums in C^* -categories. A standard result about additive categories is that finite products and coproducts coincide. In a C^* -category we ask in addition that their structure maps are related by the involution:

Definition 1.2.1. Given a C^* -category \mathcal{A} and a finite (possibly repeating) list of objects x_1, \ldots, x_n of \mathcal{A} which each have units, we say $\bigoplus_{i=1}^n x_i \in \mathsf{Ob}\mathcal{A}$ is a *direct sum* of x_1, \ldots, x_n with structure maps $\iota_i : x_i \to \bigoplus_{i=1}^n x_i$ if

- All ι_i are isometries.
- $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \iota_i \iota_i^* = \operatorname{id}_{\bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} x_i}$.

Remark 1.2.2. As this is a more specific definition than a direct sum in a general additive category, it might be more appropriate to name this a *-direct sum, but since the more general sums do not appear in this thesis we stick with 'direct sum' for economy. Readers versed in dagger categories may be interested to know that this notion of direct sum is an example of a dagger limit as defined in [HK19].

It is evident that a C^* -category can only have direct sums for all finite lists of elements if it is unital. Despite this, we can enlarge any C^* -category to include objects that behave something like direct sums, without unitizing the category:

Proposition 1.2.3. If \mathcal{A} is a C^* -category, there is a C^* -category \mathcal{A}_{\oplus} , termed the additive hull or additive closure of \mathcal{A} , such that:

- Objects of \mathcal{A}_{\oplus} are finite, possibly repeating, lists of \mathcal{A} -objects.
- $\mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\{x_1, ..., x_n\}, \{y_1, ..., y_k\}) := [\hom_{\mathcal{A}}(x_i, y_j)]$, that is $k \times n$ arrays of morphisms $x_i \to y_j$, which compose by matrix multiplication.
- The norm on $\mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\{x_1,..,x_n\},\{y_1,..,y_k\})$ is defined by

 $\|[f_{ij}]\| := \sup\{\|[f_{ij}][b_i]\| : b_i \in \mathcal{A}(w, x_i), w \in \mathsf{Ob}(\mathcal{A}), \|[b_i]\| = 1\}$

where the norms of columns of morphisms are calculated in Hermitian fashion: $\|[b_i]\| := \sqrt{\|\sum_i b_i^* b_i\|}$.

1.2. FINITE DIRECT SUMS IN C*-CATEGORIES

• The involution is given on $f = [f_{ij}] \in \mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\{x_1, ..., x_n\}, \{y_1, ..., y_k\})$ by $f^* := [f^*_{ii}].$

Proof. It is evident that \mathcal{A}_{\oplus} is a normed complex linear category with involution so we need to show that its hom-spaces are complete, that multiplication is contractive, and finally that the C^* -identity and the positivity requirement are satisfied.

Contractivity is obvious: if we have $b_i \in \mathcal{A}(w, x_i)$ for $1 \leq i \leq n$ such that $\|[b_i]\| = 1$, then for all

$$[g_{jl}] \in \mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\{y_1, .., y_k\}, \{z_1, .., z_m\}), [f_{ij}] \in \mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\{x_1, .., x_n\}, \{y_1, .., y_k\})$$

we have

$$||[g_{jl}][f_{ij}][b_i]|| \le ||[g_{jl}]|| ||[f_{ij}][b_i]|| \le ||[g_{jl}]|| ||[f_{ij}]|| ||[b_i]||$$

where we have simply used the definition of the matrix norm twice. Hence $\|[g_{ji}][f_{ij}]\| \leq \|[g_{ji}]\| \|[f_{ij}]\|$.

To show the norm makes each hom-space complete, we show it can be sandwiched uniformly by the maximum of the norms of matrix entries. Note that for any matrix $[f_{ij}] \in \mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\{x_1, ..., x_n\}, \{y_1, ..., y_k\})$ and any pair of integers $1 \leq i_0 \leq n, \ 1 \leq j_0 \leq k$, we can define a vector $[b_i] \in [\mathcal{A}(x_{i_0}, x_i)]$ with entries $b_{i_0} = \frac{f_{i_0j_0}^*}{\|f_{i_0j_0}\|}, b_i = 0$ for $i \neq i_0$. We then see that

$$||f_{i_0j_0}|| = ||[f_{ij}][b_i]|| \le ||[f_{ij}]||$$

as $||[b_i]|| = 1$ so $\max_{i,j} ||f_{ij}|| \le ||[f_{ij}]||$. At the same time, writing $[f_{ij}]$ as a sum of $n \times k$ matrices with only one non-zero entry, one easily obtains that $||[f_{ij}]|| \le nk \max_{i,j} ||f_{ij}||$. Hence we see the norms $||[f_{ij}]||$ and $\max_{i,j} ||f_{ij}||$ are topologically equivalent.

Now suppose we have a sequence of matrices $([f_{ij}^s])_{s\in\mathbb{N}}$ in the hom space $\mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\{x_1,\ldots,x_n\},\{y_1,\ldots,y_k\})$ which is Cauchy in the matrix norm. Then it is Cauchy in the maximum norm, but then clearly each sequence f_{ij}^s of entries is Cauchy and has a limit f_{ij} . Assembling these entries we get a matrix $[f_{ij}]$ which is clearly the limit of $[f_{ij}^s]$ in the maximum norm, and hence in the matrix norm. Hence we see the hom space $\mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\{x_1,\ldots,x_n\},\{y_1,\ldots,y_k\})$ is complete in this norm.

We prove the C^* -identity as follows: define a 'sesquilinear form'

$$\langle -, - \rangle : (\mathcal{A}(p, q_1) \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathcal{A}(p, q_n))^2 \to \mathcal{A}(p, p)$$

by $\langle [a_i], [b_i] \rangle = a_1^* b_1 + \cdots + a_n^* b_n$. Note that this form is related to the norm we defined earlier by $\|\langle [a_i], [a_i] \rangle\| = \|[a_i]\|^2$. Note also that by a standard Cauchy-Schwartz argument, $\|\langle [a_i], [b_i] \rangle\| \leq \|[a_i]\| \|[b_i]\|$, and it also follows from the definition of our form that

$$\langle M[a_i], [b_j] \rangle = \langle [a_i], M^*[b_j] \rangle \text{ for all } [a_i] \in \mathcal{A}(p, q_1) \times \dots \times \mathcal{A}(p, q_n), \\ [b_j] \in \mathcal{A}(p, r_1) \times \dots \times \mathcal{A}(p, r_k), \\ M \in \mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\{q_1, \dots, q_n\}, \{r_1, \dots, r_k\}).$$

Now whenever we have a matrix $[f_{ij}] \in \mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\{x_1, ..., x_n\}, \{y_1, ..., y_k\})$ and a column $[b_i] \in [\mathcal{A}(z, x_i)]$ such that $||[b_i]|| = 1$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|[f_{ij}][b_i]\|^2 &= \|\langle [f_{ij}][b_i], [f_{ij}][b_i] \rangle \| = \|\langle [b_i], [f_{ji}^*][f_{ij}][b_i] \rangle \| &\leq \|[f_{ji}^*][f_{ij}]\| \|[b_i]\|^2 \\ &= \|[f_{ji}^*][f_{ij}]\|. \end{aligned}$$

It then follows from the definition of the norm that $||[f_{ij}]||^2 \leq ||[f_{ji}^*][f_{ij}]||$. By Lemma 1.1.24 this will be enough to deduce the C^* -equality.

Finally we must show that $[f_{ji}^*][f_{ij}] \in \mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\{x_1, ..., x_n\}, \{x_1, ..., x_n\})$ has positive spectrum. Note that since for C^* -algebras the spectrum requirement follows from the C^* -identity (see e.g. [Mur90, Theorem 2.2.5]), the reasoning above shows that the endomorphism algebras of \mathcal{A}_{\oplus} are C^* -algebras. For brevity, write

$$\{x_1, \ldots, x_n\} = \mathbf{x}, \{y_1, \ldots, y_k\} = \mathbf{y}, \{x_1, \ldots, x_n, y_1, \ldots, y_k\} = \mathbf{x} \sqcup \mathbf{y},$$

and note that the spaces $\mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})$, $\mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\mathbf{y}, \mathbf{x})$, and $\mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x})$ can each be embedded isometrically in the C^* -algebra $\mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\mathbf{x} \sqcup \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{x} \sqcup \mathbf{y})$, in a way compatible with the involution and composition. Hence regarding $[f_{ij}]$ as an element of the algebra $\mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\mathbf{x} \sqcup \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{x} \sqcup \mathbf{y})$, we see that

$$[f_{ii}^*][f_{ij}] \in \mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\mathbf{x} \sqcup \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{x} \sqcup \mathbf{y})$$

is positive in $\mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\mathbf{x} \sqcup \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{x} \sqcup \mathbf{y})$ by Lemma 1.1.13, but then it is positive in $\mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x})$ by Lemma 1.1.17.

This completes the proof that \mathcal{A}_{\oplus} is a C^* -category. Finally we allay any size-theoretical concerns and show that \mathcal{A}_{\oplus} is of the same size as \mathcal{A} is: note firstly that if $Ob \mathcal{A}$ belongs to Set_i then so does the collection of finite lists of elements of $Ob \mathcal{A}$. Secondly we have an isomorphism of Banach spaces

$$\mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\{x_1, ..., x_n\}, \{y_1, ..., y_k\}) \cong \bigoplus_{1 \le i \le n, 1 \le j \le k} \hom_{\mathcal{A}}(x_i, y_j).$$

So as Ban_i is cocomplete for i = 0, 1 and direct sums are coproducts of Banach spaces, the claim follows.

For all \mathcal{A} , there is an evident faithful functor $\mathcal{A} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{A}_{\oplus}$: it sends each object to its corresponding single-object list and each morphism to a 1×1 matrix. It has the following property:

Lemma 1.2.4. If \mathcal{A} is a C^* -category and \mathcal{B} is a complex linear category which admits all finite direct sums, then every complex linear functor

$$F: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$$

factors through the embedding $\mathcal{A} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{A}_\oplus$ to a unique extension

$$F_{\oplus}: \mathcal{A}_{\oplus} \to \mathcal{B}.$$

If \mathcal{B} is a *-category and F is a *-functor, then so is F_{\oplus} .

Proof. There is an obvious extension F_{\oplus} on objects that sends a list of \mathcal{A} -objects $\{x_1, \ldots, x_n\} = \mathbf{x}$ to $F(x_1) \oplus \cdots \oplus F(x_n)$. As to the morphisms from \mathbf{x} to $\mathbf{y} = \{y_1, \ldots, y_k\}$, we define the action

$$F_{\oplus}: \mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) \to \mathcal{B}(F(x_1) \oplus \cdots \oplus F(x_n), F(y_1) \oplus \cdots \oplus F(y_k))$$

by $[f_{ij}] \mapsto \sum_{i,j} \kappa_j \kappa_j^* \circ F(f_{ij}) \circ \iota_i \iota_i^*$, where ι_i and κ_j are the structure maps of the direct sums of the $F(x_i)$ and the $F(y_j)$ respectively. This map is clearly linear and intertwines the involutions if they exist. The uniqueness and the final statement are left to the reader.

It was observed in the proof of Proposition 1.2.3 that in particular, for every finite list $\{x_1, ..., x_n\}$ of objects there exists a C^* -algebra

$$M_{x_1,...,x_n}(\mathcal{A}) := \mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\{x_1,..,x_n\},\{x_1,..,x_n\}),$$

and that these C^* -algebras embed into each other isometrically along list inclusions. We can therefore form direct limits along these inclusions:

Definition 1.2.5. For a small C^* -category, its matrix algebra Mat- \mathcal{A} is the C^* -algebra obtained as the direct limit² of the C^* -algebras $M_{x_1,..,x_n}(\mathcal{A})$ along all (not necessarily order-preserving) inclusions $\{x_1,..,x_n\} \hookrightarrow \{y_1,\ldots,y_{n+k}\}$ of non-repeating finite lists of \mathcal{A} -objects.

We note that Mat- \mathcal{A} is unital if and only if \mathcal{A} is unital and has a finite set of objects. Since the inclusions between the matrix algebras are isometric, the inclusions $M_{x_1,..,x_n}(\mathcal{A}) \hookrightarrow \text{Mat-}\mathcal{A}$ are isometric too. It is elementary to prove that Mat- \mathcal{A} is isomorphic as a C^* -algebra to the Banach space direct sum $\bigoplus_{x,y\in \text{Ob}\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{A}(x,y)$, where this space has multiplication and involution given by 'coordinate-wise' composition and involution, and the obvious ℓ^2 -norm. This algebra is described as $A_{\mathcal{A}}$ in [Joa03] and named the 'category algebra' in [Fer23].

Example 1.2.6. If $\mathcal{A} = C^*_{\max}(\mathcal{G})$ is the maximal groupoid C^* -category on a discrete groupoid \mathcal{G} , then Mat- \mathcal{A} is the classical *full groupoid* C^* -algebra of \mathcal{G} .

We will return to the matrix algebra construction in Section 3.4.

We can use the 2 × 2 matrix C^* -algebras $M_{x,y}(\mathcal{A})$ to generalize a number of results about C^* -algebras to the context of C^* -categories.

Lemma 1.2.7. For any $u \in \mathcal{A}(x, y)$, there exist morphisms $v \in \mathcal{A}(x, y)$ and $w \in \mathcal{A}(x, x)$ such that u = vw, as well as morphisms $s \in \mathcal{A}(y, y), t \in \mathcal{A}(x, y)$ such that u = st.

 $^{^2 \}mathrm{See}$ e.g. [Mur90, Section 6.1] for an exposition of the theory of direct limits of $C^*\text{-}$ algebras.

Proof. Consider the element $u_m = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ u & 0 \end{bmatrix} \in M_{x,y}(\mathcal{A})$: then a standard result about C^* -algebras (see for example [Ped18, p. 1.4.6] where we set $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}$) states that there is an element $v = \begin{bmatrix} v_{11} & v_{12} \\ v_{21} & v_{22} \end{bmatrix} \in M_{x,y}(\mathcal{A})$ such that $u_m = v(u_m^*u_m)^{\frac{1}{4}}$. The bottom-left corner of this matrix equation reads $u = v_{21}(u^*u)^{\frac{1}{4}}$ where $v_{21} \in \mathcal{A}(x, y)$. Hence setting $v = v_{21}, w = (u^*u)^{\frac{1}{4}}$ proves the first part of the lemma. Applying this procedure instead to $u^* \in \mathcal{A}(y, x)$ proves the second part.

Recall that if A is a C^* -algebra, an *approximate unit* is a net (u_{λ}) of positive elements in A such that for all λ we have $||u_{\lambda}|| \leq 1$ and for all $a \in A$ we have $u_{\lambda}a \xrightarrow{\lambda} a$ and $au_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{\lambda} a$. We deduce from Lemma 1.2.7 a useful fact about the behaviour of approximate units in C^* -categories:

Corollary 1.2.8. If (e_{λ}) is an approximate unit for the C^{*}-algebra $\mathcal{A}(x, x)$, then for all $a \in \mathcal{A}(x, y)$ we have $||ae_{\lambda} - a|| \to 0$ and for all $b \in \mathcal{A}(w, x)$ we have $||e_{\lambda}b - b|| \to 0$.

Proof. Factorizing a = vw as in Lemma 1.2.7, we see

$$||ae_{\lambda} - a|| = ||vwe_{\lambda} - vw|| \le ||v|| ||we_{\lambda} - w|| \xrightarrow{\lambda} 0.$$

The other case follows immediately from the first by setting y = w and applying the involution.

Lemma 1.2.9. If $b \in \mathcal{B}(y,y)$ is a positive element and $a \in \mathcal{A}(x,y)$ is any morphism, then the inequality

$$a^*ba \le \|b\|a^*a$$

holds in $\mathcal{A}(x, x)$.

Proof. By Lemma 1.1.17 the element $\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & b \end{bmatrix}$ is positive in $M_{x,y}(\mathcal{A})$. So applying Lemma 1.1.20 to the elements $\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & b \end{bmatrix}$ and $\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ a & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ we see that $\begin{bmatrix} a^*ba & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \leq \begin{bmatrix} \|b\|a^*a & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$

in $M_{x,y}(\mathcal{A})$, but then by Lemma 1.1.17 again we see that $a^*ba \leq ||b||a^*a$ holds in $\mathcal{A}(x, x)$.

We can also now deduce two fundamental results on essential ideals, the first being that the relationship of being an essential ideal is transitive:

We end this section by treating briefly a sort of Cauchy completion for unital C^* -categories:

Definition 1.2.10. If \mathcal{A} is a C^* -category, a *projection* on x is a morphism $p \in \mathcal{A}(x, x)$ such that $p = p^*$ and $p^2 = p$. We say p splits if for some $y, z \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{A}$ there is an isomorphism $u : x \xrightarrow{\cong} y \oplus z$ such that

$$upu^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathrm{id}_y & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

in which case y is termed the *image* of p. We say \mathcal{A} is *idempotent complete* if every projection splits.

Proposition 1.2.11. For any unital C^* -category \mathcal{A} , there is a unital C^* -category

$$\mathcal{A}^{
atural}$$

termed the idempotent completion of \mathcal{A} , such that

- Its objects are pairs (x, p) where $p \in \mathcal{A}(x, x)$ is a projection.
- Its morphisms from (x, p) to (y, q) are those morphisms a in $\mathcal{A}(x, y)$ such that qa = a = pa.

The C^{*}-category \mathcal{A}^{\natural} is idempotent complete, contains the isometric image of \mathcal{A} by sending x to (x, id_x) , and if \mathcal{B} is an idempotent complete C^{*}-category, any unital C^{*}-functor $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ extends to a unital C^{*}-functor $\mathcal{A}^{\natural} \to \mathcal{B}$.

Proof. These claims are all proven in [DT14, Section 2.4], save for the one on enrichment. To allay any concerns about size enlargement, note that by definition $\mathcal{A}^{\ddagger}((x,p),(y,q))$ is the equalizer of three morphisms $\mathcal{A}(x,y) \to \mathcal{A}(x,y)$, namely postcomposition with q, precomposition with p, and the identity. So as Ban_0 and Ban_1 are complete by assumption, \mathcal{A}^{\ddagger} is enriched in the same category as \mathcal{A} .

1.3 The multiplier category

Multiplier algebras are a commonplace construction in C^* -algebra theory that offer a way of unitizing a C^* -algebra in a universal way. In this section we introduce a generalization of the multiplier algebra construction to C^* -categories. This 'multiplier category' was first defined in [Kan01] using different techniques than the ones we use here. It was first formulated in a form alike to the one presented here in [Vas07, Section 2].

We begin by defining the morphisms in the multiplier category.

Definition 1.3.1. If \mathcal{A} is a C^* -category and $x, y \in \mathsf{Ob}\mathcal{A}$, a multiplier morphism from x to y is a pair of maps (L, R), where:

- $L: \mathcal{A}(x, x) \to \mathcal{A}(x, y)$ is a map of right $\mathcal{A}(x, x)$ -modules.
- $R: \mathcal{A}(y, y) \to \mathcal{A}(x, y)$ is a map of left $\mathcal{A}(y, y)$ -modules.
- For all $f \in \mathcal{A}(x, x)$, $g \in \mathcal{A}(y, y)$, we have $R(g) \circ f = g \circ L(f)$.

The maps in a multiplier morphism are automatically complex linear and bounded:

Lemma 1.3.2 (c.f. [Weg93, Proposition 2.2.8]). If $L : \mathcal{A}(x, x) \to \mathcal{A}(x, y)$ and $R : \mathcal{A}(y, y) \to \mathcal{A}(x, y)$ form a multiplier morphism from x to y, then L and R are complex linear and bounded with ||L|| = ||R||

Proof. To show L is a complex linear map, note for all morphisms $b \in \mathcal{A}(y, y)$ and $a_1, a_2 \in \mathcal{A}(x, y)$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ that

$$bL(a_1 + \lambda a_2) = R(b)(a_1 + \lambda a_2) = b(L(a_1) + \lambda L(a_2))$$

so letting b vary over an approximate unit and applying Corollary 2.1.9 we see that $L(a_1 + \lambda a_2) = L(a_1) + \lambda L(a_2)$.

To show L and R are bounded we appeal to the closed graph theorem (see e.g. [Con85, Theorem 12.6]) in functional analysis, which states that a map of Banach spaces is continuous (and hence bounded) if and only if its graph is closed. To show the graph of L is closed, suppose that $x_n \in \mathcal{A}(x, x)$ is a sequence converging to x and that $L(x_n) \xrightarrow{n} y$. Then for all $b \in \mathcal{A}(y, y)$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|b(L(x) - y)\| &\leq \|b(L(x) - L(x_n))\| + \|b(L(x_n) - y)\| \\ &\leq \|R(b)\| \|x - x_n\| + \|b\| \|L(x_n) - y\|. \end{aligned}$$

Hence letting $n \to \infty$ we see b(L(x) - y) = 0 so applying Corollary 2.1.9 we see L(x) = y. So the graph of L is closed, and that of R is by a similar argument. To see the norms are equal note that for each $a \in \mathcal{A}(x, x)$,

$$||L_x(a)|| = \sup_{b \in \mathcal{A}(y,y), ||b|| \le 1} ||bL(a)|| = \sup_{b \in \mathcal{A}(y,y), ||b|| \le 1} ||R(b)a|| \le ||R|| ||a||.$$

Hence $||L|| \le ||R||$ and of course by a similar argument $||R|| \le ||L||$.

It will be useful for some purposes to have an alternative definition of multiplier morphisms.

Lemma 1.3.3. A multiplier morphism from x to y can equivalently be defined as two arrays of maps

$$\{L_w: \mathcal{A}(w, x) \to \mathcal{A}(w, y)\}$$

and

$$\{R_z: \mathcal{A}(y,z) \to \mathcal{A}(x,z)\},\$$

where w and z range over all objects of A, such that:

- For $f \in \mathcal{A}(w, x), h \in \mathcal{A}(w', w)$, we always have $L_w(f) \circ h = L_{w'}(f \circ h)$.
- For $f \in \mathcal{A}(y, z), h \in \mathcal{A}(z, z')$, we always have $h \circ R_z(f) = R_{z'}(h \circ f)$.
- For all $f \in \mathcal{A}(w, x)$, $h \in \mathcal{A}(y, z)$, we have $R_w(h) \circ f = h \circ L_z(f)$.

30

In addition, all maps in such an array are necessarily complex linear and bounded, and we have

$$\sup_{z} \|L_{z}\| = \|L_{x}\| = \|R_{y}\| = \sup_{w} \|R_{w}\|.$$

Proof. To go from $L : \mathcal{A}(x, x) \to \mathcal{A}(x, y)$ to an array $\{L_w : w \in \mathsf{Ob}\,\mathcal{A}\}$, use Lemma 1.2.7 on a morphism $f \in \mathcal{A}(w, x)$ to get $f = e \circ g$ for $e \in \mathcal{A}(x, x)$, then set $L_w(f) := L(e) \circ f'$. To show this is well-defined, suppose $e \circ g = e' \circ g'$ are two such factorizations of f. Then for all $u \in \mathcal{A}(y, y)$ we have

$$u \circ L_x(e) \circ g = R_y(u) \circ e \circ g = R_y(u) \circ e' \circ g' = u \circ L_x(e') \circ g'$$

so letting u vary over an approximate unit we see by Corollary 2.1.9 that $L_x(e) \circ g = L_x(e') \circ g'$. Hence $\{L_w\}$ is well-defined, and it is easily shown to satisfy the axioms above: if $f = e \circ g$ as above and $h \in \mathcal{A}(w', w)$ then we can factor e out of $f \circ h$ and see that

$$L_w(f) \circ h = L_x(e) \circ g \circ h = L_{w'}(e \circ g \circ h) = L_{w'}(f \circ h).$$

We can similarly go from R to an array $\{R_z\}$ satisfying the given requirements by factoring an endomorphism of y out of any morphism with source y. To see that the final axiom holds for $f \in \mathcal{A}(w, x)$ and $h \in \mathcal{A}(y, z)$, write $f = e \circ g$ where $e \in \mathcal{A}(x, x)$ and $h = k \circ \ell$ where $\ell \in \mathcal{A}(y, y)$. Then

$$R_w(h) \circ f = k \circ R(\ell) \circ e \circ g = k \circ \ell \circ L(e) \circ g = h \circ L_w(f)$$

For the other direction, clearly an array of multipliers as above gives a multiplier morphism by restricting to w = x and z = y. Using the factorization lemma as above then tells us $\{L_w\}$ is determined by L_x , and similarly $\{R_z\}$ is determined by R_z : this gives a bijection between arrays and single multipliers.

It follows exactly as in the proof of the previous lemma that these maps are complex linear and bounded that $||L_x|| = ||R_y||$. To see that $||L_w|| \le ||L_x||$, note simply that if (u_λ) is an approximate unit for $\mathcal{A}(x, x)$, then we have

$$\|L_w(f)\| = \|\lim_{\lambda} L_w(u_\lambda \circ f)\| = \|\lim_{\lambda} (L_x(u_\lambda) \circ f)\| = \lim_{\lambda} \|L_x(u_\lambda) \circ f\|.$$

But then as $||u_{\lambda}|| \leq 1$ for each λ , we see that $||L_x(u\lambda) \circ f|| \leq ||L_x|| ||f||$ using contractivity. Hence $||L_w|| \leq ||L_x||$. The case $||R_z|| \leq ||R_y||$ follows similarly.

We call the above definition the *multi-object* definition of a multiplier, and the first one the *single-object* definition. We are now ready to define the multiplier category of a C^* -category.

Proposition 1.3.4. For a C^* -category \mathcal{A} , there is a C^* -category $\mathcal{M}\mathcal{A}$ called the multiplier category of \mathcal{A} , such that

• The objects of MA are identical to those of A.

- The hom-space $\mathcal{MA}(x, y)$ is the collection of multiplier morphisms (L, R) from x to y.
- The norm on $\mathcal{MA}(x, y)$ is defined by $||(L, R)|| := ||L_x|| = ||R_y||$.
- The involution $\mathcal{MA}(x, y) \to \mathcal{MA}(y, x)$ is defined on multipliers (in their multi-object characterization) by sending $(\{L_w\}, \{R_z\}) \in \mathcal{MA}(x, y)$ to $(\{L_w^*\}, \{R_z^*\}) \in \mathcal{MA}(y, x)$ where

$$L_u^*: \begin{array}{c} \mathcal{A}(u,y) \to \mathcal{A}(u,x) \\ g \mapsto R_u(g^*)^* \end{array} \quad and \begin{array}{c} R_z^*: \mathcal{A}(x,z) \to \mathcal{A}(y,z) \\ f \mapsto L_z(g^*)^*. \end{array}$$

• The composition law on \mathcal{MA} is defined by setting for two multipliers $(\{L_u\}, \{R_z\}) \in \mathcal{MA}(x, y)$ and $(\{L'_u\}, \{R'_z\}) \in \mathcal{MA}(w, x)$:

$$(\{L_u\}, \{R_z\}) \circ (\{L'_u\}, \{R'_z\}) := (\{L_u \circ L'_u\}, \{R'_z \circ R_z\}).$$

Proof. The composition is clearly contractive as

$$\sup_{u\in\mathsf{Ob}\,\mathcal{A}}\|L_u\circ L'_u\|\leq \sup_{u\in\mathsf{Ob}\,\mathcal{A}}\|L_u\|\sup_{u\in\mathsf{Ob}\,\mathcal{A}}\|L'_u\|.$$

It is clear from the single-object definition of multiplier morphisms that the space $\mathcal{MA}(x, y)$ is complete, and \mathcal{MA} has obvious identity morphisms given by identity maps on hom-spaces.

Next, we show that for any morphism $T = (L, R) \in \mathcal{MA}(x, y)$ that the morphism $T^*T \in \mathcal{MA}(x, x)$ has norm $||L||^2$. Note that for all $a \in \mathcal{A}(x, y)$ such that ||a|| = 1, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \| (L^* \circ L)(a) \| &\geq \| a^* \circ (L^* \circ L)_x(a) \| \\ &= \| a^* \circ R_x (L_x(a)^*)^* \| \\ &= \| (R_x (L_x(a)^*) \circ a)^* \| \\ &= \| R_x (L_x(a)^*) \circ a \| \\ &= \| L_x(a)^* \circ L_x(a) \| \\ &= \| L(a) \|^2 \end{aligned}$$

so $||T^*T|| = ||L^* \circ L|| \ge ||L||^2 = ||T||^2$, and by Lemma 1.1.24 we see that $||T^*T|| = ||T||^2$.

Finally we show $T^*T \in \mathcal{MA}(x, x)$ is positive. Note that the above arguments already show that $\mathcal{MA}(x, x)$ is a C^* -algebra: in fact, from the first characterization of multiplier morphisms it is clear that $\mathcal{MA}(x, x)$ is simply the multiplier algebra of the C^* -algebra $\mathcal{A}(x, x)$. By the functoriality of the involution, we also see that T^*T is a self-adjoint element of the C^* -algebra $\mathcal{MA}(x, x)$, so by Lemma 1.1.14 it has real spectrum. Suppose $\lambda \in \text{Spec}(T^*T)$. Since T^*T is normal, the continuous functional calculus (see Lemma 1.1.23) states that the unital subalgebra of $\mathcal{MA}(x, x)$ generated by T^*T is isomorphic to the algebra of continuous functions on the open set $\text{Spec}(T^*T)$, so taking bump functions $f_n \in C(\text{Spec}(T^*T)) \subseteq \mathcal{MA}(x, x)$ around λ , we get a sequence (f_n) such that $||f_n|| = 1$ for each n, and $(T^*T - \lambda 1)f_n \to 0$. Writing T = (L, R), we get $f_n^*T^*Tf_n = L(f_n)^*L(f_n)$, so multiplying the above limit on the left by f_n^* , we obtain $L(f_n)^*L(f_n) - \lambda f_n^*f_n \to 0$. But now if $\lambda < 0$, this is the sum of two positive elements, so by Lemma 1.1.18, it is again positive and by Lemma 1.1.21 we have

$$||L(f_n)^*L(f_n) - \lambda f_n^* f_n|| \ge \max(||L(f_n)^*L(f_n)||, ||\lambda f_n^* f_n||).$$

Hence as $\|\lambda f_n^* f_n\| = |\lambda|$, this contradicts $L(f_n)^* L(f_n) - \lambda f_n^* f_n \to 0$, and we must have $\lambda \ge 0$.

Finally we need to show that if \mathcal{A} is enriched in Ban_i for i = 0, 1, then so is \mathcal{MA} . But note that the first definition of multiplier morphisms is essentially a description of $\mathcal{MA}(x, y)$ as a pullback of $[\mathcal{A}(x, x), \mathcal{A}(x, y)]$ and $[\mathcal{A}(y, y), \mathcal{A}(x, y)]$ over $[\mathcal{A}(x, x) \otimes \mathcal{A}(y, y), \mathcal{A}(x, y)]$. So as Ban_i is closed and complete, $\mathcal{MA}(x, y)$ lives in Ban_i .

Just like the multipler C^* -algebra, the multiplier C^* -category receives a natural embedding from the original algebra:

Proposition 1.3.5. There is a faithful C^* -functor

$$\kappa_{\mathcal{A}}: \mathcal{A} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{M}\mathcal{A}$$

which is the identity on objects and sends each morphism a to the pair of multipliers $\kappa_{\mathcal{A}}(a) = (\ell_a, r_a)$ given by pre- and postcomposition with a. The functor $\kappa_{\mathcal{A}}$ embeds \mathcal{A} as an essential ideal in $\mathcal{M}\mathcal{A}$ and if \mathcal{A} is unital, $\kappa_{\mathcal{A}}$ is also full and hence an isomorphism.

Proof. To show $\kappa_{\mathcal{A}}$ is faithful, suppose $(\ell_a, r_a) = 0$. Then in particular we have $||r_a(a^*)|| = ||a^*a|| = 0$ so a = 0.

Note that $(L, R) \circ (l_a, r_a) = (l_{L(a)}, r_{L(a)})$ and $(l_a, r_a) \circ (L, R) = (l_{R(a)}, r_{R(a)})$, so \mathcal{A} is an ideal. Finally note that it satisfies the definition of an essential ideal.

If \mathcal{A} is unital then the multiplier axioms immediately give for any multiplier $(L, R) \in \mathcal{MA}(x, y)$ that $(L, R) = \kappa_{\mathcal{A}}(a)$ where $a = L(\mathrm{id}_x) = R(\mathrm{id}_y)$. \Box

The category \mathcal{MA} also has a universal property akin to that of multiplier C^* -algebras:

Lemma 1.3.6. If $\mathcal{A} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{D}$ is an embedding of \mathcal{A} as an ideal of a unital C^* category, there exists a unique extension $F : \mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{M}\mathcal{A}$ to \mathcal{D} of the embedding $\kappa_{\mathcal{A}} : \mathcal{A} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{M}\mathcal{A}$ and this extension is faithful if and only if \mathcal{A} is essential in \mathcal{D} . Furthermore, among all C^* -categories containing \mathcal{A} as an ideal, $\mathcal{M}\mathcal{A}$ is unique up to isomorphism with this property.

Proof. The C^* -functor $F : \mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{MA}$ is defined by $F(d) = (L_d, R_d)$ where we set $L_d(a) = da$ and $R_d(b) = bd$: these elements are in \mathcal{A} by the ideal property. F is easily verified to be an extension of the embedding $\kappa_{\mathcal{A}} : \mathcal{A} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{MA}$.

If F is faithful, then it acts isometrically on hom-spaces, and clearly \mathcal{A} is essential in \mathcal{D} since it is essential in \mathcal{MA} . Conversely, suppose \mathcal{A} is essential

in \mathcal{D} , and furthermore that two elements $d, d' \in \mathcal{D}(x, y)$ map to the same multiplier in \mathcal{MA} ; then by essentiality of \mathcal{A} in \mathcal{D} we get d - d' = 0, and hence see that the functor $\mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{MA}$ is faithful.

The uniqueness part is straightforward; if C is another category with the stated property, we get an embedding $\mathcal{MA} \hookrightarrow C$ since \mathcal{A} is essential in \mathcal{MA} . But we also get a map $C \to \mathcal{MA}$, which can easily be checked to be a left and right inverse by calling on the uniqueness.

From now on we identify \mathcal{A} with its image under $\kappa_{\mathcal{A}}$ wherever convenient. Recall from Definition 1.1.44 that the topology relative to a subcategory \mathcal{A} of a C^* -category \mathcal{B} is the one generated by the seminorms given by pre- and postcomposing with morphisms in \mathcal{A} .

Definition 1.3.7. The \mathcal{A} -relative topology on $\mathcal{M}\mathcal{A}$ is called the *strict topology*.

This name directly generalizes the analogous topology for C^* -algebras (see e.g. [APT73]) and agrees with that in [AV20] and [BE21].

Lemma 1.3.8. The morphisms in \mathcal{A} are dense in $\mathcal{M}\mathcal{A}$ in the strict topology.

Proof. We want to show that for any multiplier $T = (L, R) \in \mathcal{MA}(x, y)$, there is a net of morphisms in $\mathcal{A}(x, y) \subseteq \mathcal{MA}(x, y)$ converging to (L, R) in the \mathcal{A} -relative topology. Let (e_{λ}) be an approximate unit for $\mathcal{A}(x, x)$. We're going to show that $\kappa_{\mathcal{A}}(L(e_{\lambda})) \xrightarrow{\lambda} T$ in the \mathcal{A} -relative topology. We note that for all $w \in \mathsf{Ob}\mathcal{A}$ and $a \in \mathcal{A}(w, x)$, we have $L(e_{\lambda})a = L(e_{\lambda}a) \xrightarrow{\lambda} L(a)$ by Corollary 1.2.8 and the continuity of L. For the other direction note that for all $z \in \mathsf{Ob}\mathcal{A}$ and $b \in \mathcal{A}(y, z)$, we have $bL(e_{\lambda}) = R(b)e_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{\lambda} R(b)$, again by Corollary 1.2.8.

We note finally that the multiplier operation $\mathcal{M}(-)$ commutes with the additive closure $(-)_{\oplus}$ defined in Section 2 of this chapter.

Proposition 1.3.9. There is a canonical isomorphism of C^* -categories

$$(\mathcal{M}\mathcal{A})_{\oplus} \cong \mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A}_{\oplus})$$

Proof. Clearly these two categories have the same collections of objects, that is: finite lists of \mathcal{A} -objects. It suffices therefore, to exhibit a natural isomorphism

$$\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A}_{\oplus})(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) \cong (\mathcal{M}\mathcal{A})_{\oplus}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})$$
(1.3.1)

for any two lists $\mathbf{x} = \{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}, \mathbf{y} = \{y_1, \ldots, y_k\}$, which is moreover natural in the objects and intertwines the involutions: by Corollary 1.1.35 this isomorphism must then be isometric.

Using the first definition of multiplier morphisms, an element in the left set in 1.3.1 consists of a multiplier pair (L, R) where the left multiplier is a map $L: \mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}) \to \mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})$. An element in the right set consists of a $k \times n$ array of multipliers $(L_{i,j}, R_{i,j}) \in \mathcal{MA}(x_i, x_j)$, where $L_{i,j}: \mathcal{A}(x_i, x_i) \to \mathcal{A}(x_i, y_j)$, or alternatively, by Lemma 1.3.3, a multiplier $L^u_{x_i,y_j} : \mathcal{A}(u,x_i) \to \mathcal{A}(u,y_j)$ for each $u \in \mathsf{Ob}\,\mathcal{A}$.

So starting with an element in the right set, we can let the variable u above range over $\{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}$ to assemble a map $L : \mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}) \to \mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})$, and similarly from all the different right multipliers $\mathcal{A}(y_j, y_l) \to \mathcal{A}(x_i, y_l)$ we can assemble one single right multiplier $R : \mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\mathbf{y}, \mathbf{y}) \to \mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})$. Hence we obtain a map in the leftward direction in 1.3.1.

To go in the other direction, we start with a left multiplier from the left set $L : \mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}) \to \mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})$ as above. Since L(f)h = L(fh), letting h vary over matrices in $M_{\mathbf{x}}(\mathcal{A})$ whose only non-zero entry is an approximate unit on the diagonal, we see L must send matrices whose only nonzero entry is in the (i, i)-th place to matrices whose only nonzero column is the *i*-th. Hence Lrestricts to multipliers $L_{i,j} : \mathcal{A}(x_i, x_i) \to \mathcal{A}(x_i, y_j)$ for $1 \leq j \leq k$, and the right multiplier R decomposes similarly, giving an element of the right set in 1.3.1. These operations are easily checked to be mutual inverses.

1.4 Non-degenerate functors

As C^* -functors are often between non-unital categories, it is not always possible to ask for them to be unital. This throws up a variety of problems, which have to be fixed by requiring our C^* -functors to be 'approximately unital'. One way of formulating this requirement is to ask that a C^* -functor $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ preserve approximate units of endomorphism algebras; it is useful, however, to generalize at this point instead to C^* -functors $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{MB}$.

Definition 1.4.1. A C^* -functor $F : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{MB}$ is said to be *non-degenerate* when for every $x, y \in \mathsf{Ob}\mathcal{A}$, the subspace $F\mathcal{A}(y, y) \circ \mathcal{B}(Fx, Fy)$ (given by the span of all elements of the form $F(a) \circ b$ where $a \in \mathcal{A}(y, y), b \in \mathcal{B}(Fx, Fy)$) is norm-dense in $\mathcal{B}(Fx, Fy)$. A C^* -functor $F : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ is called non-degenerate if its composition with the inclusion $\kappa_{\mathcal{B}} : \mathcal{B} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{MB}$ is non-degenerate.

We take this definition from [AV20], where non-degenerate functors form the 1-morphisms in the 2-category C^* -Lin.

We want to provide several equivalent formulations of non-degeneracy, but first we need several technical lemmas on Banach spaces to streamline the proofs.

Lemma 1.4.2. If V and W are Banach spaces, D is a subset of V whose span is dense, and $(T_{\lambda} : V \to W)$ is a uniformly bounded net of operators such that $||T_{\lambda}(d)|| \xrightarrow{\lambda} 0$ for each $d \in D$, then in fact $||T_{\lambda}(v)|| \xrightarrow{\lambda} 0$ for each $v \in V$.

Proof. Let $\langle D \rangle$ denote the span of V, and note that clearly from the hypothesis $||T_{\lambda}(d)|| \xrightarrow{\lambda} 0$ for each $d \in \langle D \rangle$.

Let K > 0 be a uniform bound on the net, and for any $v \in V$ pick a sequence (d_n) of elements in $\langle D \rangle$ converging to v. For an arbitrary $\epsilon > 0$ pick

an integer n such that $||d_n - v|| \leq \frac{\epsilon}{K}$. Then for each λ we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|T_{\lambda}(v)\| &\leq \|T_{\lambda}(v-d_n)\| + \|T_{\lambda}(d_n)\| \\ &\leq \epsilon + \|T_{\lambda}(d_n)\|. \end{aligned}$$

Hence taking \limsup_{λ} on both sides we obtain that $\limsup_{\lambda} ||T_{\lambda}(v)|| \leq \epsilon$, hence $\lim_{\lambda} ||T_{\lambda}(v)|| = 0$.

Corollary 1.4.3. Suppose V is a Banach space, D is a subset of V whose span is dense, and $(U_{\lambda} : V \to V)$ is a uniformly bounded net of operators such that $U_{\lambda}(d) \xrightarrow{\lambda} d$ for each $d \in D$. Then we have in fact $U_{\lambda}(v) \xrightarrow{\lambda} v$ for each $v \in V$.

Proof. Simply take W = V, $T_{\lambda} = U_{\lambda} - id_{V}$ and apply Lemma 1.4.2.

The above lemmas will help us with many results involving the strict topology. We will also often need to extend bounded operators from a dense subset to an entire space:

Lemma 1.4.4. If M and N are Banach spaces, M' is a dense subspace of M and $\phi' : M' \to N$ is a bounded linear map with $\|\phi'\| = L$, then ϕ' extends uniquely to a map $\phi : M \to N$ of Banach spaces with $\|\phi\| = L$. If ϕ' is an isometry then so is ϕ , and if in addition ϕ' has dense image, then ϕ is an isometric isomorphism of Banach spaces.

Proof. The fact that ϕ extends to a map on M with the same norm is an instance of continuous linear extension, see e.g. [RS80, Theorem I.7]. To show that ϕ is an isometry when ϕ' is, simply write any $m \in M$ as a limit of a sequence of elements $m_n \in M'$, and then note

$$\|\phi(m)\| = \|\phi(\lim_n m_n)\| = \lim_n \|\phi(m_n)\| = \lim_n \|\phi'(m_n)\| = \lim_n \|m_n\| = \|m\|.$$

Finally, we show that if ϕ' has dense image, then ϕ must be surjective. Take for an arbitrary $p \in N$ a sequence (m_n) in M' such that $\phi'(m_n) \to p$. Then by the isometry property it follows that m_n is Cauchy, and letting m be the limit of (m_n) we easily see that $\phi(m) = p$. Hence ϕ is an isometric isomorphism of Banach spaces.

We can now show the equivalence of several definitions of a non-degenerate functor:

Theorem 1.4.5. If \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} are C^* -categories, the following criteria on a C^* -functor $F : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{MB}$ are equivalent:

- 1. F is non-degenerate.
- 2. For all $x, y \in ObA$, the subspace $\mathcal{B}(Fx, Fy) \circ F\mathcal{A}(x, x)$ is norm-dense in $\mathcal{B}(Fx, Fy)$.
- 3. If $x, y \in \mathsf{Ob}(\mathcal{A})$ and $(u_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$ is an approximate unit for $\mathcal{A}(y, y)$, then for each morphism $b \in \mathcal{B}(Fx, Fy)$ we have $F(u_{\lambda}) \circ b \to b$ in the norm.

36
1.4. NON-DEGENERATE FUNCTORS

- 4. If $x, y \in Ob(\mathcal{A})$ and $(u_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$ is an approximate unit for $\mathcal{A}(x, x)$, then for each morphism $b \in \mathcal{B}(Fx, Fy)$ we have $b \circ F(u_{\lambda}) \to b$ in the norm.
- 5. F extends (uniquely) to a unital C^* -functor $\overline{F} : \mathcal{MA} \to \mathcal{MB}$, which on norm-bounded subsets is in addition continuous with respect to the strict topologies on \mathcal{MA} and \mathcal{MB} , as defined in Definition 1.3.7.

Proof. Criteria 1 and 2, as well 3 and 4 are obviously equivalent using the involution.

Criterion 3 clearly implies 1 since $F(u_{\lambda}) \circ b \in F\mathcal{A}(y,y) \circ \mathcal{B}(Fx,Fy)$. To see that 1 implies 3, note simply that if $a \in \mathcal{A}(y,y)$ and $b \in \mathcal{B}(Fx,Fy)$, then $F(u_{\lambda}) \circ F(a) \circ b = F(u_{\lambda} \circ a) \circ b \xrightarrow{\lambda} F(a) \circ b$ since F is norm-continuous (Proposition 1.1.34).

Criterion 5 clearly implies 3, since approximate units are nets strictly converging to the identity. It remains finally to show that criteria 1 through 4 together imply 5:

We use in this proof the single-object definition of multipliers (see Definition 1.3.1). Take any multiplier $T = (L, R) \in \mathcal{MA}(x, y)$. We define the left component of $\overline{F}(T) = (\overline{L}, \overline{R})$ as follows. For any morphism of the form $F(a) \circ b \in F\mathcal{A}(x, x) \circ \mathcal{B}(Fx, Fx)$, we set

$$\bar{L}(F(a) \circ b) = F(L(a)) \circ b \in \mathcal{B}(Fx, Fy).$$

To show this gives a well-defined map $F\mathcal{A}(x,x) \circ \mathcal{B}(Fx,Fx) \to \mathcal{B}(Fx,Fy)$, suppose $F(a) \circ b = F(a') \circ b'$ and let $(u_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$ be an approximate unit for $\mathcal{A}(y,y)$. For all $\lambda \in \Lambda$ we have

$$F(u_{\lambda}) \circ F(L(a)) \circ b = F(R(u_{\lambda})) \circ F(a) \circ b$$

= $F(R(u_{\lambda})) \circ F(a') \circ b'$
= $F(u_{\lambda}) \circ F(L(a')) \circ b'$.

Hence by criterion 3, taking limits we get $F(L(a)) \circ b = F(L(a')) \circ b'$. The equality $\overline{L}(F(a) \circ b) = \lim_{\lambda} F(R(u_{\lambda})) \circ F(a) \circ b$ also gives $\|\overline{L}\| \leq \|R\|$. Hence \overline{L} is a bounded map defined on a subset of $\mathcal{B}(Fx, Fx)$ which is norm-dense by criterion 1. So by Lemma 1.4.4 it extends uniquely to a map $\mathcal{B}(Fx, Fx) \rightarrow$ $\mathcal{B}(Fx, Fy)$. The property defining right $\mathcal{B}(Fx, Fx)$ -module morphisms clearly holds on the norm-dense subset $F\mathcal{A}(x, x) \circ \mathcal{B}(Fx, Fx)$, so again by uniform continuity it holds on all of $\mathcal{B}(Fx, Fx)$. Hence \overline{L} gives a valid left multiplier $\mathcal{B}(Fx, Fx) \rightarrow \mathcal{B}(Fx, Fy)$.

Similarly for $b \circ F(a) \in \mathcal{B}(Fy, Fy) \circ F\mathcal{A}(y, y)$, we set

$$\overline{R}(b \circ F(a)) = b \circ F(R(a))$$

and then by criteria 2 and 4 this extends to a right multiplier $\overline{R} : \mathcal{B}(Fy, Fy) \to \mathcal{B}(Fx, Fy)$. The final axiom stating $\overline{R}(b) \circ b' = b \circ \overline{L}(b')$ for $b \in \mathcal{B}(Fy, Fy)$ and $b' \in \mathcal{B}(Fx, Fx)$ is obvious when $b \in F\mathcal{A}(x, x) \circ \mathcal{B}(Fx, Fx)$ and $b' \in \mathcal{B}(Fy, Fy) \circ F\mathcal{A}(y, y)$ and again obtained by uniform continuity of $\overline{L}, \overline{R}$ on the closure. This concludes the verification that $(\overline{L}, \overline{R})$ is a valid multiplier in $\mathcal{MB}(F(x), F(y))$

The assignment $(L, R) \mapsto (\overline{L}, \overline{R})$ is easily checked to be complex linear and compatible with the involutions and compositions, hence it extends to a C^* -functor $\overline{F} : \mathcal{MA} \to \mathcal{MB}$, which clearly restricts to F on \mathcal{A} .

We show next that this extension is strictly continuous on norm-bounded sets. Suppose $(T_{\gamma} = (L_{\gamma}, R_{\gamma}))_{\gamma \in \Gamma}$ is a net of multipliers in $\mathcal{MA}(x, y)$ whose norm is bounded by K and which strictly converge to 0; that is, for every $a \in$ $\mathcal{A}(x, x)$ we have $L_{\gamma}(a) \xrightarrow{\gamma} 0$ and for every $a \in \mathcal{A}(y, y)$ we have $R_{\gamma}(a) \xrightarrow{\gamma} 0$. We have to show for any $b \in \mathcal{B}(Fx, Fx)$ that $\bar{L}_{\gamma}(b) \xrightarrow{\gamma} 0$ and for any $b \in \mathcal{B}(Fy, Fy)$ that $\bar{R}_{\gamma}(b) \xrightarrow{\gamma} 0$.

Note that for any element $b = F(a) \circ b' \in F\mathcal{A}(x, x) \circ \mathcal{B}(Fx, Fx)$, we have that $\bar{L}_{\gamma}(b) = \bar{L}_{\gamma}(F(a) \circ b') = F(L_{\gamma}(a)) \circ b' \to 0$, and by criterion 1, elements of this form are norm-dense in $\mathcal{B}(Fx, Fx)$. Furthermore we have already established that $\|\bar{L}_{\gamma}\| \leq \|L_{\gamma}\|$ for each γ , so as (T_{λ}) is uniformly bounded, so is the net \bar{L}_{γ} . Hence we can apply Lemma 1.4.2 and see that $\bar{L}_{\gamma}(b) \xrightarrow{\gamma} 0$.

The case of the right multiplier follows similarly from criterion 2. Hence we see that $\bar{F}(T_{\gamma})$ goes to 0 in the strict topology. By linearity this proves the case for nets converging strictly to an arbitrary limit and we conclude \bar{F} is strictly continuous on bounded subsets.

Finally, to show this extension is unique, note that by Lemma 1.3.8, any multiplier in $\mathcal{MA}(x, y)$ can be strictly approximated by a bounded net of elements in \mathcal{A} , so any other extension of F to \mathcal{MA} which is strictly continuous on bounded subsets must be equal to \overline{F} .

Remark 1.4.6. It follows from the final criterion that if \mathcal{A} is unital, a nondegenerate functor $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{MB}$ is simply a unital functor $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{MB}$. To see this, note that the strict topology on $\mathcal{MA} \cong \mathcal{A}$ is just the norm topology, any C^* -functor is norm-continuous, and norm convergence in \mathcal{MB} implies strict convergence. So as all C^* -functors are norm-continuous the fourth criterion simply describes a unital functor $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{MB}$.

Remark 1.4.7. It is clear from the third criterion that if $G : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{MB}$ and $F : \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{MC}$ are two non-degenerate functors, we can compose their lifts to get $\overline{F} \circ \overline{G} : \mathcal{MA} \to \mathcal{MC}$. This composition is again strictly continuous on bounded subsets as certainly \overline{F} sends bounded subsets to bounded subsets (it is a C^* -functor so norm-decreasing), hence it restricts to a non-degenerate functor, which equals $\overline{F} \circ G$ by uniqueness of lifts.

Example 1.4.8. The embedding $\kappa_{\mathcal{A}} : \mathcal{A} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{M}\mathcal{A}$ is non-degenerate: we can see this by combining criterion 3 in Theorem 1.4.5 with Corollary 1.2.8.

Example 1.4.9. Any full and faithful C^* -functor $F : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ is non-degenerate; it preserves approximate units of endomorphism algebras so criterion 3 is satisfied. Hence for example, the embedding $\mathcal{A} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{A}_{\oplus}$ is non-degenerate.

This theory allows us to talk about equivalences between non-unital C^* -categories:

Definition 1.4.10. A non-degenerate C^* -functor $F : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{MB}$ is termed a *(unitary) multiplier equivalence* if there is a C^* -functor $G : \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{MA}$ such that \overline{F} and \overline{G} are inverse (unitary) equivalences between \mathcal{MA} and \mathcal{MB} . A C^* -functor $F : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ is termed a (unitary) multiplier equivalence if its composition with the embedding $\kappa_{\mathcal{B}} : \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{MB}$ is non-degenerate and a (unitary) multiplier equivalence.

We end the section with a slight categorification of Theorem 1.4.5. First we need to expand the terminology from Proposition 1.1.46 a little.

Definition 1.4.11. If \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} are C^* -categories, we denote by

$$\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{ndg}}(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{MB})$$

the full subcategory of $\operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{MB})$ spanned by the non-degenerate functors and by

$$\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{strict}}(\mathcal{MA},\mathcal{MB})$$

the subcategory of $\operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{MA}, \mathcal{MB})$ spanned by the unital functors which are strictly continuous on bounded subsets.

We can then rephrase Theorem 1.4.5 as follows:

Proposition 1.4.12. If \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} are C^* -categories and $\kappa = \kappa_{\mathcal{A}} : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{M}\mathcal{A}$ is the embedding from Proposition 1.3.5, then the precomposition functor

$$-\circ\kappa:\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{strict}}(\mathcal{MA},\mathcal{MB})\to\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{ndg}}(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{MB})$$

is an isomorphism of categories.

Proof. The functor $-\circ\kappa$ is surjective on objects by the extension criterion in Theorem 1.4.5, and injective on objects by the uniqueness of the extension.

To show that it is full, we need to show for two non-degenerate functors $F, F' \in \mathsf{Ob}\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{ndg}}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{MB})$ and a bounded transformation $\epsilon : F \Rightarrow F'$, that $\epsilon = \eta \circ \kappa : F \Rightarrow F'$ for some $\eta : \overline{F} \Rightarrow \overline{F'}$, where \overline{F} and $\overline{F'}$ are the unique lifts of F and F' through κ and $\eta \circ \kappa$ is the whiskering of η through κ .

We can simply set $\eta_x = \epsilon_x$ for all $x \in Ob \mathcal{A}$, but we must show that η_x is natural with respect to multiplier morphisms. Consider a naturality diagram

$$F(x) \xrightarrow{F(T)} F(y)$$

$$\downarrow \eta_x \qquad \qquad \downarrow \eta_y$$

$$F'(x) \xrightarrow{F'(T)} F'(y)$$

which we know commutes when $T = \kappa(a)$ for some $a \in \mathcal{A}(x, y)$. But then note by Lemma 1.3.8 we can strictly approximate T by a bounded net of multipliers $\kappa(a_{\lambda})$, and then by Lemma 1.1.45

$$\eta_y F(\kappa(a_\lambda)) - F'(\kappa(a_\lambda))\eta_x \xrightarrow{\lambda} \eta_y F(T) - F'(T)\eta_x$$

strictly in $\mathcal{MB}(F(x), F'(y))$. So as the left-hand side is zero for all λ , the right-hand side is zero and the diagram commutes for arbitrary T.

The functor is obviously faithful since the whiskered natural transformation ϵ has the same morphisms as η .

There is in fact a tensor product of C^* -categories that fits into a tensor-hom adjunction with the functor Fun^{ndg}($\mathcal{A}, -$): to stop this chapter from getting too long we postpone discussion of this adjunction to Appendix A.

1.5 Multiplier direct sums

We end the chapter with a discussion of multiplier direct sums. This construction solves several problems at once: the first is that our definition of direct sums from Section 1.2 involves identities on objects, which may not exist in a general C^* -category. The second is that it allows us to sum an infinite number of objects using the strict topology on the multiplier category. The definition below is taken from [AV20], where it is called simply a 'direct sum'.

In the definition below, recall that a *multiset* is simply a set in which elements are allowed to appear once.

Definition 1.5.1. Given a C^* -category \mathcal{A} and a multiset $\{x_i : i \in I\}$ of objects of \mathcal{A} , we say $\bigoplus_{i \in I} x_i \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{A}$ is a *multiplier direct sum* of $\{x_i : i \in I\}$ with structure maps $\iota_i \in \mathcal{MA}(x_i, \bigoplus_{i \in I} x_i)$ if:

- All maps ι_i are isometries.
- The net of partial sums $\sum_{j \in J} \iota_j \iota_j^*$ for finite sub-multisets $J \subseteq I$ converges to $\operatorname{id}_{\bigoplus_{i \in J} x_i}$ in the strict topology, as defined in Definition 1.1.44.

Notice firstly that in the case that I is a finite multiset, the above data (together with a choice of total order on the set) just defines a finite direct sum in \mathcal{MA} .

Remark 1.5.2. Recall that when \mathcal{A} is unital, then $\mathcal{MA} \cong \mathcal{A}$ and the strict topology is in fact the one given by the norm. But in any normed vector space an uncountable sum can converge in the norm only if all but countably many of its summands are zero: see for instance [HN01, p.136]. Therefore in this case the second requirement can be true only if all but countably many of the morphisms $\iota_i \iota_i^*$ are zero, meaning all but countably many of the objects are zero. Furthermore, even countable infinite direct sums of Hilbert spaces as classically conceived, for example $\ell^2(\mathbb{N})$, are not multiplier direct sums in Hilb. To see this, note simply that the net of partial sums in Definition 1.5.1 is the standard net of *n*-rank projections in $\mathcal{K}(\ell^2(\mathbb{N}), \ell^2(\mathbb{N}))$, which converges to the identity of $\mathcal{L}(\ell^2(\mathbb{N}), \ell^2(\mathbb{N}))$ in the strong^{*} or pointwise topology, but not in the norm. They are, however multiplier direct sums in the category \mathcal{K} Hilb of Hilbert spaces with compact operators as morphisms: we will prove this later (see Proposition 2.4.10). It is easy to see that a non-degenerate functor $F : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{MB}$ preserves multiplier direct sums.

Proposition 1.5.3. If $F : A \to MB$ is a non-degenerate functor, it preserves multiplier direct sums: to be precise, its underlying map $Ob A \to Ob B$ preserves multiplier direct sums objectwise and its unique, unital, extension which is strictly continuous on bounded subsets $\overline{F} : MA \to MB$ preserves their structure maps.

Proof. This follows immediately from Definition 1.5.1 and the fifth criterion in Theorem 1.4.5. $\hfill \Box$

Recall from Section 2 of this chapter the awkward fact that the additive hull of a non-unital C^* -category does not possess all direct sums. The notion of a multiplier direct sums allows us to amend this defect:

Lemma 1.5.4. The C^{*}-category \mathcal{A}_{\oplus} admits all finite multiplier direct sums.

Proof. The structure map $(L_i, R_i) = \iota_i \in \mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A}_{\oplus})(\{x_i\}, \{x_1, \dots, x_n\})$ is given on one coordinate by the map $L_i : \mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\{x_i\}, \{x_i\}) \to \mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\{x_i\}, \{x_1, \dots, x_n\})$ that sends a morphism f to the column with f in the *i*-th place and zeros elsewhere. The right multiplier works similarly. It is elementary to verify that these multipliers exhibit $\{x_1, \dots, x_n\}$ as the multiplier direct sum of the x_i . \Box

In fact, we can now formulate a sort of universal property for \mathcal{A}_{\oplus} :

Lemma 1.5.5. If \mathcal{B} is a C^* -category closed under finite multiplier direct sums, any non-degenerate C^* -functor

$$F: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{MB}$$

extends uniquely to a non-degenerate functor

$$F_{\oplus}: \mathcal{A}_{\oplus} \to \mathcal{MB}.$$

Proof. To define F_{\oplus} , consider the unique unital extension $\overline{F} : \mathcal{MA} \to \mathcal{MB}$ which is strictly continuous on bounded subsets. As \mathcal{MB} is closed under finite direct sums, this extends uniquely to a C^* -functor $\overline{F}_{\oplus} : (\mathcal{MA})_{\oplus} \to \mathcal{MB}$ by Lemma 1.2.4. By Proposition 1.3.9 we can also write this as a functor $\overline{F}_{\oplus} : \mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A}_{\oplus}) \to \mathcal{MB}$. It is easy to deduce that \overline{F}_{\oplus} is unital and strictly continuous on bounded subsets from the fact that \overline{F} is, hence it restricts to a non-degenerate functor $F_{\oplus} : \mathcal{A}_{\oplus} \to \mathcal{MB}$.

Chapter 2

Hilbert modules over C^* -categories

Hilbert modules over general C^* -algebras, also called *Hilbert* C^* -modules, were first defined in [Pas73]. They generalize Hilbert spaces and vector bundles over topological spaces, and have long been recognized as the 'correct' notion of a module over a C^* -algebra. They play a fundamental role in noncommutative geometry, in particular KK-theory and quantum group theory.

In this chapter we develop the theory of Hilbert modules over C^* -categories, first investigated in [Mit02a] and [Joa03]. After proving some basic results and taking a detour on set-theoretic matters, we characterize the C^* -category of Hilbert modules over a given C^* -category, proving in addition that it is equivalent to the multiplier category of a subcategory called the *compact operators*. We end with some results on Hilbert modules over the additive closure and an approximate projectivity result that relates arbitrary Hilbert modules to finitely generated free ones.

For the rest of this thesis we assume that $\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}, \mathcal{C}$, etc. are *locally small* C^* -categories, although much of the theory in this chapter can be developed for large C^* -categories. Recall that we denote by $\mathsf{Vect}_{\mathbb{C},0}$ the category of small complex vector spaces.

2.1 Hilbert modules and their size

We begin with a 'naive' definition of a pre-Hilbert module over a C^* -category. These naive modules are termed 'large' as they do not satisfy a size requirement that we will later see is important.

Definition 2.1.1. If \mathcal{A} is a (locally small) C^* -category, a *large right pre-Hilbert* \mathcal{A} -module is a complex linear functor

$$E: \mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathsf{Vect}_{\mathbb{C},0}$$

equipped with sesquilinear 'inner products'

$$\langle -, - \rangle : E(y) \times E(x) \to \mathcal{A}(x, y)$$

for each pair $x, y \in Ob \mathcal{A}$. Furthermore the inner products must satisfy for all $e \in E(y), f \in E(x)$ and $g \in \mathcal{A}(w, x)$ the following:

- $\langle e, f \rangle = \langle f, e \rangle^*$.
- $\langle e, f \rangle \circ g = \langle e, f \cdot g \rangle$, where $f \cdot g := E(g)(f)$.
- $\langle e, e \rangle$ is a positive element of the C*-algebra $\mathcal{A}(y, y)$.

We say E is a large right Hilbert \mathcal{A} -module if in addition it satisfies

- $\langle e, e \rangle = 0$ only if e = 0.
- For each $x \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{A}$, the space E(x) is complete in the norm

$$||e|| := \sqrt{||\langle e, e \rangle||_{\mathcal{A}(x,x)}}.$$

Note that for any large pre-Hilbert module, a sort of conjugate linearity in the first argument follows by combining the first and second axioms:

$$\langle f \cdot g, e \rangle = \langle e, f \cdot g \rangle^* = (\langle e, f \rangle \circ g)^* = g^* \circ \langle e, f \rangle^* = g^* \circ \langle f, e \rangle.$$

We will not be concerned for the moment with left Hilbert \mathcal{A} -modules, though if desired these can easily be defined as right Hilbert \mathcal{A}^{op} -modules; alternatively, one can modify the above axioms by making E a covariant functor (so that elements of \mathcal{A} act on the left), requiring that the product $\langle -, -\rangle$ be linear in the first variable and conjugate linear in the second, and that $\langle a \cdot e, f \rangle = a \circ \langle e, f \rangle$.

Example 2.1.2. If \mathcal{A} has only one object x, the large Hilbert modules over \mathcal{A} are exactly the right Hilbert modules over the C^* -algebra $\mathcal{A}(x, x)$ (see Definition 1.1.30). In particular, complex Hilbert spaces are Hilbert modules over the one-object C^* -category with hom-space \mathbb{C} .

Example 2.1.3. For any C^* -category \mathcal{A} and any object x of \mathcal{A} , there is a 'representable' large Hilbert module

$$h_x: \begin{array}{c} \mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{Vect}_{\mathbb{C},0} \\ y \mapsto \mathcal{A}(y,x) \end{array}$$

with inner product defined for all morphisms $a \in h_x(y), b \in h_x(z)$ by

$$\langle a, b \rangle_{h_r} := a^* b \in \mathcal{A}(z, y).$$

The action of a $C^\ast\mbox{-}{\rm category}$ on a Hilbert module is automatically continuous:

Lemma 2.1.4. If E is a large right pre-Hilbert A-module, then for all $e \in E(x)$ and $a \in \mathcal{A}(w, x)$ the inequality

$$\|e \cdot a\| \le \|e\| \|a\|$$

holds. In particular, the action of \mathcal{A} on E is continuous.

Proof. Note that we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|e \cdot a\|_{E(w)}^2 &= \|\langle e \cdot a, e \cdot a \rangle\|_{\mathcal{A}(w,w)} &= \|a \circ \langle e, e \rangle \circ a^*\|_{\mathcal{A}(w,w)} \\ &\leq \|a\|_{\mathcal{A}(w,x)} \|\langle e, e \rangle\|_{\mathcal{A}(x,x)} \|a^*\|_{\mathcal{A}(x,w)} &= \|a\|_{\mathcal{A}(w,x)}^2 \|e\|_{E(x)}^2, \end{aligned}$$

where we have used subscripts to specify norms. Hence taking square roots we obtain our result. $\hfill \Box$

There is also a Cauchy-Schwartz lemma we can prove:

Proposition 2.1.5. If E is a large right pre-Hilbert A-module, then for any pair $e \in E(x)$ and $f \in E(y)$, the following Cauchy-Schwartz inequality holds in the C^{*}-algebra $\mathcal{A}(x, x)$:

$$\langle e, f \rangle \circ \langle f, e \rangle \le \|\langle f, f \rangle\| \langle e, e \rangle.$$

Proof. We proceed as in the proof of [Lan95, Proposition 1.1]. Note that we can assume without loss of generality that $\|\langle f, f \rangle\| = 1$, as then for any f, applying the lemma to $f' = \frac{f}{\sqrt{\|\langle f, f \rangle\|}}$ will do the trick. Now, for any $a \in \mathcal{A}(x, y)$ note that by positivity,

$$\begin{split} 0 &\leq \langle e - f \cdot a, e - f \cdot a \rangle \\ &= \langle e, e \rangle - \langle e, f \rangle \circ a - a^* \circ \langle f, e \rangle + a^* \circ \langle f, f \rangle \circ a \\ &\leq \langle e, e \rangle - \langle e, f \rangle \circ a - a^* \circ \langle f, e \rangle + a^* \circ a. \end{split}$$

Where in the last inequality we have applied Lemma 1.2.9. Then setting $a = \langle f, e \rangle$, the final two terms cancel out and we get that

$$0 \le \langle e, e \rangle - \langle e, f \rangle \circ \langle f, e \rangle = \|\langle f, f \rangle \| \langle e, e \rangle - \langle e, f \rangle \circ \langle f, e \rangle$$

proving the required inequality.

Corollary 2.1.6. If E is a large right pre-Hilbert A-module, then for any pair $e \in E(x)$ and $f \in E(y)$ the following Cauchy-Schwartz inequality holds in \mathbb{R} :

$$\|\langle f, e \rangle\| \le \|f\| \|e\|.$$

Proof. Applying norms to Proposition 2.1.5, we get

$$\|\langle f, e \rangle\|^2 = \|\langle f, e \rangle^* \circ \langle f, e \rangle\| = \|\langle e, f \rangle \circ \langle f, e \rangle\| \le \|\langle f, f \rangle\| \|\langle e, e \rangle\| = \|f\|^2 \|e\|^2.$$

We apply these results to give a procedure for turning a pre-Hilbert module into a Hilbert module:

Proposition 2.1.7. If $E : \mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathsf{Vect}_{\mathbb{C},0}$ is a large right pre-Hilbert \mathcal{A} -module, then there is a large right Hilbert \mathcal{A} -module

$$\bar{E}: \mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathsf{Vect}_{\mathbb{C},0}$$

obtained at every $x \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{A}$ by quotienting out all $e \in E(x)$ such that $\langle e, e \rangle = 0$ and completing the resulting normed vector space.

Proof. Note first that Corollary 2.1.6 implies that for $e, f \in E(x)$ we have $||e+f|| \leq ||e|| + ||f||$, therefore $|| \cdot ||$ is a seminorm on each space E(x). Denote by $E_0(x)$ the subspace of elements e such that ||e|| = 0. Then as

$$\langle e + e', f + f' \rangle = \langle e, f \rangle + \langle e', f \rangle + \langle e, f' \rangle + \langle e', f' \rangle,$$

we see by Corollary 2.1.6 that

$$\langle e + E_0(x), f + E_0(x) \rangle := \langle e, f \rangle$$

is a well-defined inner product on $E(x)/E_0(x)$. Finally Lemma 2.1.4 tells us the action of \mathcal{A} descends to $E(x)/E_0(x)$, and if we let $\overline{E}(x)$ be the completion of $E(x)/E_0(x)$ in the above norm, the action of \mathcal{A} can be unambiguously extended to $\overline{E}(x)$ by Lemma 2.1.4. We're going to show that $\overline{E} : \mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathsf{Vect}_{\mathbb{C},0}$ is a large right Hilbert \mathcal{A} -module.

We define an inner product on $\overline{E}(y) \times \overline{E}(x)$ by

$$\langle \lim_{n} e_n, \lim_{n} f_n \rangle := \lim_{n} \langle e_n, f_n \rangle$$

for all Cauchy sequences e_n and f_n in $E(x)/E_0(x)$ and $E(y)/E_0(y)$ respectively. To see that this limit exists, note that

$$\langle e_n, f_n \rangle - \langle e_m, f_m \rangle = \langle e_n - e_m, f_n \rangle + \langle e_m, f_n - f_m \rangle$$

and by assumption e_n, f_n are bounded so $\langle e_n, f_n \rangle$ is a Cauchy sequence in $\mathcal{A}(y, x)$, hence has a limit. To see that this limit is independent of the chosen sequence, suppose $\lim_n e_n = \lim_n e'_n$ and $\lim_n f_n = \lim_n f'_n$, we apply Corollary 2.1.6 to both terms on the right-hand side of the previous equation and hence see the product is well-defined. The product is positive definite since it is positive definite on the dense subset $E(x)/E_0(x)$ and by Lemma 1.1.22 a limit of positive elements is again positive. Finally $\overline{E}(x)$ is complete in the norm induced by this inner product, since it agrees with the original norm by definition.

The involution axiom $\langle e, f \rangle = \langle f, e \rangle^*$ holds on \overline{E} since it holds on E/E_0 and the involution is norm-preserving, and similarly the naturality $\langle f, e \cdot g \rangle =$ $\langle f, e \rangle \circ g$ follows from the continuity of the action. This completes the proof that \overline{E} is a right Hilbert module over \mathcal{A} .

We follow by establishing a few basic density results that will come in handy later:

Lemma 2.1.8. If E is a large right Hilbert A-module, then for each object x of A, the subspace

$$E(x) \cdot \langle E(x), E(x) \rangle \subseteq E(x)$$

given by the span of elements of the form $e_1 \cdot \langle e_2, e_3 \rangle$ is dense in E(x).

Proof. Note it follows from the Hilbert module axioms that E(x) is a Hilbert module over the C^* -algebra $\mathcal{A}(x, x)$, so this follows from the analogous lemma for C^* -algebras, see e.g. [Lan95, p.5].

Corollary 2.1.9. If (u_{λ}) is an approximate unit for $\mathcal{A}(x, x)$ and $e \in E(x)$, we have $e \cdot u_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{\lambda} e$.

Proof. Note that a fortiori from the above lemma we see that the $E(x) \cdot \mathcal{A}(x, x)$ is always dense in E(x). But clearly $(e \cdot a) \cdot u_{\lambda} = e \cdot (au_{\lambda}) \xrightarrow{\lambda} e \cdot a$, and we deduce the corollary using Lemma 1.4.2.

We can now show that every element of a Hilbert module is in the image of the action of some \mathcal{A} -morphism. This is done by combining Corollary 2.1.9 with the following classical result:

Theorem 2.1.10 (Cohen-Hewitt Theorem, see [CLM79, p. 108]). Suppose A is a Banach algebra with approximate unit (u_{λ}) , and M is a right Banach A-module (that is, an A-module with a complete norm making the action of A continuous). Suppose $m \in M$ is such that $m \cdot u_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{\lambda} m$. Then there exist $n \in M$ and $a \in A$ such that $m = n \cdot a$.

Corollary 2.1.11. If \mathcal{A} is a C^* -category and E is a large right Hilbert \mathcal{A} -module, then for any $x \in Ob \mathcal{A}, e \in E(x)$ there exists $f \in E(x), a \in \mathcal{A}(x, x)$ such that $e = f \cdot a$.

We end with a discussion of the *size* of Hilbert modules. Studying Definition 2.1.1, one quickly notices that unless \mathcal{A} has a *set* of objects, we cannot expect the union of all component spaces E(x) to form a set. This will not be a problem for our theory as long as we ask that there is some set of elements *generating* E across all objects of \mathcal{A} , as in the theory of small presheaves for locally small categories (see e.g. [nLa23c]). The author first became aware of this notion in the context of Hilbert modules through Benjamin Dünzinger's master's thesis, and later discovered it had also appeared in Simon Henry's paper [Hen15].

Below, we use *set* to mean a set in Set_0 (for example the hom-sets of \mathcal{A}) and *collection* to mean a set in Set_1 (which contains $\mathsf{Ob}\mathcal{A}$ and the collection of all \mathcal{A} -morphisms). We begin with some results on large Hilbert modules.

Definition 2.1.12. For a large right Hilbert \mathcal{A} -module $E : \mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathsf{Vect}_{\mathbb{C},0}$ and a collection S of elements $s \in E(x_s)$ (where each $x_s \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{A}$) we denote by

$$\langle S \rangle : \mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathsf{Vect}_{\mathbb{C},0}$$

the smallest subfunctor of E containing S which is closed under scalar multiplication, addition, and action from morphisms in \mathcal{A} , and such that its value on each object is closed in the norm inherited from E. Put more succinctly, $\langle S \rangle$ is the smallest sub-Hilbert module of E containing S. We say that S generates E when $\langle S \rangle = E$.

Lemma 2.1.13. For E and S as above, the module $\langle S \rangle$ exists and is given at $x \in Ob \mathcal{A}$ by the norm closure of the space of finite linear combinations $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_i s_i + \sum_{j=1}^{m} s_j \cdot a_j$, where for all i and j we have $s_i \in S \cap E(x)$, $\mu_i \in \mathbb{C}$, $s_j \in S$, and $a_j \in \mathcal{A}(x, x_{s_j})$.

Proof. Call the second module in the above statement [S]. Note firstly that any finite linear combination of the type defined should be in $\langle S \rangle$, which is also norm-closed, giving us that $[S] \subseteq \langle S \rangle$. Conversely, clearly [S] is a Hilbert submodule of E containing S, giving that $\langle S \rangle \subseteq [S]$, and hence we see that $[S] = \langle S \rangle$.

Definition 2.1.14. A large right \mathcal{A} -Hilbert module $E : \mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathsf{Vect}_{\mathbb{C},0}$ is termed a *Hilbert module* if there is a set S of elements $s \in E(x_s)$ (where each $x_s \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{A}$) such that S generates E.

This definition was first given in [Hen15, Definition 2.2.21]. We easily show that the examples of large Hilbert modules we have looked at so far are in fact Hilbert modules:

Lemma 2.1.15. If \mathcal{A} is a small C^* -category then every large right Hilbert \mathcal{A} -module E is in fact a Hilbert module.

Proof. As \mathcal{A} has a set of objects we can simply let S be the set $\bigcup_{x \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{A}} E(x)$ of all elements of E.

Lemma 2.1.16. If \mathcal{A} is locally small then for each $x \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{A}$ we have that h_x is a Hilbert module.

Proof. Take an approximate unit $(u_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$ for $\mathcal{A}(x, x)$ where Λ is a set, and note that Corollary 1.2.8 implies that each element $a \in h_x(y) = \mathcal{A}(y, x)$ is the norm limit of $u_{\lambda} \circ a = u_{\lambda} \cdot a$. Hence $S = \{u_{\lambda} : \lambda \in \Lambda\} \subseteq h_x(x)$ generates h_x .

Remark 2.1.17. We will occasionally use the word 'small' to emphasize the property of being generated by a set: this coincides with the terminology in [Hen15]. As we will not deal with many 'strictly large' Hilbert modules, how-ever, we define Hilbert modules as being necessarily small, for economy of language.

2.2 Bounded adjointable operators

In this section, we aim to define the C^* -category of right Hilbert \mathcal{A} -modules. To do this we must define morphisms, an involution, and a norm.

Definition 2.2.1. If $E, F : \mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathsf{Vect}_{\mathbb{C},0}$ are two right Hilbert \mathcal{A} -modules, then an *operator*

$$\Gamma: E \to F$$

is simply a natural transformation $T:E\Rightarrow F$ of the underlying functors. We say T is bounded if the set

$$\{\|T(e)\|: x \in \mathsf{Ob}\mathcal{A}, e \in E(x), \|e\| = 1\} \subseteq \mathbb{R}$$

is bounded, in which case we denote its supremum by ||T||.

We also ask that our operators are *adjointable*:

Definition 2.2.2. A bounded operator $T^* : F \to E$ of right Hilbert \mathcal{A} -modules is an *adjoint* for the bounded operator $T : E \to F$ when we have

$$\langle Te, f \rangle_F = \langle e, T^*f \rangle_E \in \mathcal{A}(x, y) \text{ for all } x, y \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{A}, e \in E(x), f \in F(y).$$

We will denote the space of bounded adjointable operators from E to F by $\mathcal{L}(E, F)$, and shorten $\mathcal{L}(E, E)$ to $\mathcal{L}(E)$.

Lemma 2.2.3. The adjoint T^* , if it exists, is unique.

Proof. If T_1^* and T_2^* are two adjoints for T then we immediately derive from the adjoint equation that $\langle e, T_1^*f - T_2^*f \rangle_E = \langle Te, f \rangle_F - \langle Te, f \rangle_F = 0$ for all $x, y \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{A}, e \in E(x), f \in F(y)$. But then setting x = y and $e = T_1^*f - T_2^*f$ we see that in fact $T_1^*f - T_2^*f = 0$ for all f.

Remark 2.2.4. We will often drop 'bounded' and 'adjointable' and speak simply of operators, except where we have to prove that an operator is bounded and has an adjoint.

Lemma 2.2.5. If \mathcal{A} is a C^* -category and E_1, \ldots, E_n is a finite list of right Hilbert \mathcal{A} -modules, there is a Hilbert module $\bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} E_i$, labelled their direct sum, given by

- $(\oplus_{i=1}^{n} E_i)(x) := \oplus_{i=1}^{n} E_i(x)$ and
- $\langle (e_1,\ldots,e_n), (f_1,\ldots,f_n) \rangle_{\bigoplus_{i=1}^n E_i} := \langle e_1, f_1 \rangle_{E_1} + \cdots + \langle e_n, f_n \rangle_{E_n}$.

Proof. The axioms for a large pre-Hilbert module are obvious. Positive definitivity is satisfied since by Lemma 1.1.18 and Lemma 1.1.21 the sum of several positive elements can only be zero if all are zero, and completeness follows as

$$\max_{i} \|\langle e_i, e_i \rangle\| \le \|\langle e_1, e_1 \rangle + \dots + \langle e_n, e_n \rangle\| \le n \max_{i} \|\langle e_i, e_i \rangle\|,$$

where the first inequality follows from Lemma 1.1.18 and Lemma 1.1.21. Hence we see a sequence in $(\bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} E_i)(x)$ is Cauchy if and only if each of its coordinates are, in which case the sequence converges to its coordinate-wise limit.

Finally for the 'smallness' requirement, note that when S_i is a generating set for E_i , then $\bigoplus_{i=1}^n E_i$ is generated by the set $\bigsqcup_{i=1}^n \iota_i(S_i)$, where $\iota_i : E_i \Rightarrow \bigoplus_{i=1}^n E_i$ is the obvious injective transformation.

Note that since we do not yet have a C^* -category of Hilbert modules, the above construction does not yet have an interpretation as a direct sum in a C^* -category. We move on to show that there *is* in fact a C^* -category of right Hilbert \mathcal{A} -modules. The first version of the result below appeared as [Mit02a, Proposition 9.4], and parts of the proof are taken from there.

Proposition 2.2.6. If \mathcal{A} is a locally small C^* -category, there is a locally small, unital C^* -category

 $\mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{A}$

such that

- Its objects are right Hilbert A-modules.
- Its morphisms are bounded, adjointable operators.
- Its norm is the one given in Definition 2.2.1.
- The involution is given by taking adjoint operators.

Proof. We first show that each metric space $\mathcal{L}(E, F)$ is complete. Suppose (T_n) is a sequence of operators from E to F which is Cauchy in the norm specified in Definition 2.2.1. Then it follows by definition of this norm that the components $(T_n^x) : E(x) \to F(x)$ each give sequences of maps of Banach spaces which are Cauchy in the individual operator norms. Hence each of these components converge to a limit T^x , the collection of which assembles to a natural transformation $T : E \Rightarrow F$ which is a limit of (T_n) in the operator norm. Linearity and boundedness follow clearly from the convergence, and we also see that T has an adjoint T^* which is the limit of the adjoints T_n^* .

All operators in this category are adjointable by definition so it has an involution, which is well-defined by Lemma 2.2.3 and conjugate linear by the sesquilinearity of $\langle -, - \rangle_E$. It is also clear that the identity operator on every Hilbert \mathcal{A} -module is bounded and self-adjoint.

To show that the involution is functorial, we note that for two adjointable operators $T: D \to E, S: E \to F$, we have

$$\langle S(T(d)), f \rangle_F = \langle T(d), S^*(f) \rangle_E = \langle d, T^*S^*(f) \rangle_D$$

so by uniqueness $T^* \circ S^* = (S \circ T)^*$, and similarly $T^{**} = T$.

To show contractivity of composition we note that if ||e|| = 1, then

 $\|\langle ST(e), ST(e) \rangle\| \le \|S\| \|\langle T(e), T(e) \rangle\| \le \|S\| \|T\|.$

2.2. BOUNDED ADJOINTABLE OPERATORS

Note furthermore that if ||e|| = 1, then

$$\begin{aligned} \|T(e)\|^2 &= \|\langle T(e), T(e) \rangle \| \\ &= \|\langle T^*T(e), e \rangle \| \\ &\leq \|T^*T(e)\| \|e\| \\ &\leq \|T^*T\| \|e\|^2 \\ &= \|T^*T\| \end{aligned}$$

so by definition of ||T|| we see $||T^*T|| \ge ||T||^2$. By Lemma 1.1.24, this will be enough to prove the C^* -identity in the presence of the other properties.

Note that restricting our attention to operators $T: E \to E$, the above shows $\mathcal{L}(E)$ is a C^* -algebra for each right Hilbert \mathcal{A} -module E, so for an arbitrary $T: E \to F$, we can form the direct sum $E \oplus F$ as in Lemma 2.2.5 and the C^* -algebra $\mathcal{L}(E \oplus F)$. Note that the C^* -algebra $\mathcal{L}(E)$ embeds into $\mathcal{L}(E \oplus F)$ as the top left corner in a matrix algebra. Now consider $M_T = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ T & 0 \end{bmatrix}$: we

have that $M_T^*M_T = \begin{bmatrix} T^*T & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \in \mathcal{L}(E \oplus F)$ is necessarily a positive element of the C^* -algebra $\mathcal{L}(E \oplus F)$, so by Lemma 1.1.17 we see T^*T is a positive element of $\mathcal{L}(E)$. This concludes the proof that Hilb- \mathcal{A} is a C^* -category.

We finish by proving local smallness. Suppose E and F are right Hilbert \mathcal{A} modules. If S is a generating set for E, it is clear from Lemma 2.1.13 that any bounded adjointable map $T \in \mathcal{L}(E, F)$ is determined by its image on S. But each element $s \in E(x_s)$ can only be sent to an element in the set $F(x_s)$, and hence we see there is an injective map from $\mathcal{L}(E, F)$ to the set $\prod_{s \in S} F(x_s)$. \Box

Lemma 2.2.7. Hilb-A is closed under finite direct sums and idempotent complete.

Proof. Firstly, is obvious that the construction in Lemma 2.2.5 gives direct sums, where the structure maps $\iota_i : E_i \to \bigoplus_{i=1}^n E_i$ are given by inserting an element into the *i*th coordinate, with adjoint given by projecting.

As for idempotent completeness, take a projection $P \in \mathcal{L}(E, E)$, that is, a bounded adjointable map such that $P^* = P$ and $P^2 = P$. Then it is easily verified that ker P and im P, taken objectwise, are Hilbert submodules of E and that $E \cong \text{ker } P \oplus \text{im } P$.

Definition 2.2.8. A right Hilbert \mathcal{A} -module E is said to be *finitely generated* free if there is a list of \mathcal{A} -objects x_1, \ldots, x_n such that $\bigoplus_{i=1}^n h_{x_i} \cong E$, where the h_{x_i} are the representable \mathcal{A} -modules from Example 2.1.3. We say E is finitely generated projective if it is a direct summand of a finitely generated free module.

We close with a characterization of the unitary isomorphisms in Hilb- \mathcal{A} .

Proposition 2.2.9. If E and F are right Hilbert A-modules, and $T : E \Rightarrow F$ is any operator (not necessarily bounded or adjointable) from E to F, then T is a bounded adjointable unitary isomorphism of right Hilbert A-modules if and only if T is surjective at every $x \in Ob A$ and T preserves all inner products.

Proof. Note that if T preserves inner products it must be an isometry on each single object, so as T is also surjective on each object it must have an objectwise inverse T^{-1} , which is in addition natural since an array of isomorphisms is natural if and only if its inverse is. But then for each $e \in E(x)$, $f \in F(y)$ we have

$$\langle e, T^{-1}(f) \rangle_E = \langle T(e), TT^{-1}(y) \rangle_F = \langle T(e), f \rangle_F$$

showing that $T^{-1} = T^*$. Hence T is a unitary isomorphism of \mathcal{A} -modules. The converse is obvious.

2.3 Compact operators on Hilbert modules

Hilbert spaces have a notion of *compact operators* between them; these are given by the norm-closure of the subspace of all operators with finite-dimensional range. In this section we define compact operators between two Hilbert modules over a C^* -category and characterize the compact-relative topology on the category of bounded operators.

Definition 2.3.1. If E, F are right Hilbert \mathcal{A} -modules and $x \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{A}$, then for module elements $e \in E(x)$ and $f \in F(x)$, the *single-rank* operator

$$\theta_x^{f,e}: E \to F$$

is defined by setting for all $y \in Ob \mathcal{A}, e' \in E(y)$:

$$\theta_x^{f,e}(e') := f \cdot \langle e, e' \rangle_E \in F(y).$$

It immediately follows that $\theta^{-,-}$ is linear in the first variable, conjugate linear in the second variable, and that for all elements $e \in E(x), f \in F(y)$ and morphisms $a \in \mathcal{A}(x, y)$ we have

$$\theta_{y}^{f,e \cdot a^{*}} = \theta_{x}^{f \cdot a,e}$$

We will omit the indexing object x where it is implied or not relevant.

Lemma 2.3.2. The single-rank operator $\theta_x^{f,e}$ is bounded and has adjoint

$$\theta_x^{e,f}: F \to E$$

Proof. For the bound note that if $e' \in E(y)$ with ||e'|| = 1, then

$$\|\theta_x^{f,e}(e')\| = \|f \cdot \langle e, e' \rangle_E\| \le \|f\| \|\langle e, e' \rangle\| \le \|e\| \|f\|$$

where we use Lemma 2.1.4 and Corollary 2.1.6 for the two inequalities. For the adjoint, let $f' \in F(z)$ for some $z \in Ob \mathcal{A}$. Then note

$$\begin{array}{ll} \langle \theta_x^{f,e}(e'), f' \rangle &= \langle f \cdot \langle e, e' \rangle, f' \rangle \\ &= \langle e, e' \rangle^* \circ \langle f, f' \rangle \\ &= \langle e', e \rangle \circ \langle f, f' \rangle \\ &= \langle e', e \cdot \langle f, f' \rangle \\ &= \langle e', \theta_x^{e,f}(f') \rangle \end{array}$$

hence $\theta_x^{e,f} = (\theta_x^{f,e})^*$.

Definition 2.3.3. A *finite-rank operator* is a finite sum of single-rank operators. A *compact operator* is a norm-limit of finite-rank operators.

Example 2.3.4. If \mathcal{A} has one object x, our notion of compact operators coincides with the usual notion of compact operators between Hilbert modules over $\mathcal{A}(x,x)$ (see [Lan95, p.10]). Specifically, when $\mathcal{A}(x,x) = \mathbb{C}$, then compact operators of Hilbert \mathcal{A} -modules are compact maps between Hilbert spaces.

Note that our definition of compact operators is (at least on the face of it) distinct from that in [Mit02b, Definition 3.2], though it agrees with the definition in [Fer23, Definition 2.3.6].

Lemma 2.3.5. The single-rank operators are closed under pre- and postcomposition with bounded operators. In particular if $\theta_x^{e,f} : E \to F$ is a single-rank operator and $S : D \to E$ and $T : F \to G$ are bounded operators of right Hilbert \mathcal{A} -modules, we have

$$T \circ \theta_x^{f,e} = \theta_x^{T(f),e} \text{ and } \theta_x^{f,e} \circ S = \theta_x^{f,S^*(e)}.$$

Proof. Let $y \in Ob \mathcal{A}$. Note that for all $e' \in E(y)$ we have

$$(T \circ \theta_x^{f,e})(e') = T(f \cdot \langle e, e' \rangle) = T(f) \cdot \langle e, e' \rangle = \theta_x^{T(f),e}(e')$$

and for all $d \in D(y)$ we have

$$(\theta_x^{f,e} \circ S)(d) = f \cdot \langle e, S(d) \rangle = f \cdot \langle S^*(e), d \rangle = \theta_x^{f,S^*(e)}(d).$$

Proposition 2.3.6. The compact operators form an essential ideal in the C^* -category Hilb-A.

Proof. By Lemma 2.3.5 it is easy to see that finite sums of single-rank operators are closed under pre- and postcomposition by operators, and then by Lemma 1.1.7 we see that the norm-closure of finite sums of such elements forms a C^* -ideal.

Next we show this ideal is essential: suppose T is a bounded operator $E \to F$ such that $T \circ \theta_x^{e,d} = 0$ for all modules $D \in \mathsf{Hilb}\mathcal{A}$, objects $x \in \mathsf{Ob}(\mathcal{A})$, and module elements $d \in D(x), e \in E(x)$. Let D = E, then we have $T \circ \theta_x^{e,e'}(e'') = T(e) \cdot \langle e', e'' \rangle = T(e \cdot \langle e', e'' \rangle) = 0$ for all elements $e, e', e'' \in E(x)$. But by Lemma 2.1.8 the span of such elements is dense in E(x) so we see T = 0 on all of E(x).

Definition 2.3.7. We denote the category of Hilbert modules and compact operators by

 $\mathcal{K}\mathsf{Hilb} ext{-}\mathcal{A}$.

When \mathcal{A} is implicit we write $\mathcal{K}(E, F)$ rather than \mathcal{K} Hilb- $\mathcal{A}(E, F)$ for the compact operators from E to F, and we further shorten $\mathcal{K}(E, E)$ to $\mathcal{K}(E)$.

Lemma 2.3.8. If U_{λ} is an approximate unit for the C^* -algebra $\mathcal{K}(E)$, then for any $x \in Ob \mathcal{A}$ and $e \in E(x)$, we have $U_{\lambda}(e) \xrightarrow{\lambda} e$.

Proof. Notice for any $e_1, e_2, e_3 \in E(x)$, that

$$\begin{aligned} \|U_{\lambda}(e_{1} \cdot \langle e_{2}, e_{3} \rangle) - e_{1} \cdot \langle e_{2}, e_{3} \rangle\| &= \|(U_{\lambda} \circ \theta^{e_{1}, e_{2}} - \theta^{e_{1}, e_{2}})(e_{3})\| \\ &< \|U_{\lambda} \circ \theta^{e_{1}, e_{2}} - \theta^{e_{1}, e_{2}}\|\|e_{3}\| \xrightarrow{\lambda} 0 \end{aligned}$$

In other words, $U_{\lambda}(e_1 \cdot \langle e_2, e_3 \rangle) \xrightarrow{\lambda} e_1 \cdot \langle e_2, e_3 \rangle$. So since Lemma 2.1.8 tells us the elements of this form generate a dense subspace of E(x) and $||U_{\lambda}|| \leq 1$, we see by Corollary 1.4.3 that $U_{\lambda}(e) \xrightarrow{\lambda} e$ for all $e \in E(x)$.

We can use compact operators to define a sort of Yoneda embedding for $C^\ast\text{-}\mathrm{categories:}$

Lemma 2.3.9. The assignment $x \mapsto h_x$ defined in Example 2.1.3 extends to a faithful C^{*}-functor $\iota : \mathcal{A} \to \text{Hilb-}\mathcal{A}$, where for any $a \in \mathcal{A}(x, y)$ we let

$$\iota(a): h_x \to h_y$$

be the operator with components $\iota(a)_z : \mathcal{A}(z, x) \to \mathcal{A}(z, y)$ given by postcomposition with a. Furthermore, this functor has image $\iota(\mathcal{A}(x, y)) = \mathcal{K}(h_x, h_y)$.

Proof. This functor is clearly linear, faithful and intertwines the involutions on the two categories, so it is an isometric C^* -functor. To show the inclusion $\iota(\mathcal{A}(x,y)) \supseteq \mathcal{K}(h_x,h_y)$, note that for $a \in h_x(z), b \in h_y(z)$, the rank one operator $\theta^{b,a} : h_x \to h_y$ is the one given by postcomposition with ba^* . To show that $\iota(\mathcal{A}(x,y)) \subseteq \mathcal{K}(h_x,h_y)$, factorize any morphism $a \in \mathcal{A}(x,y)$ as in Lemma 1.2.7. Then we see that there exists $d \in \mathcal{A}(x,y)$ such that $\iota(a) = \theta^{(a^*a)^{1/4},d^*}$, so in fact each operator in the image of ι is single-rank.

We will occasionally denote ι by $\iota_{\mathcal{A}}$ when we need to specify \mathcal{A} .

Corollary 2.3.10. If A is unital, the functor ι_A is also full, and furthermore ι_A extends to an equivalence

$$\mathcal{A}_{\oplus}^{\natural} \cong \mathsf{fgProj}\text{-}\mathcal{A}$$

where fgProj-A is the category of finitely generated projective right Hilbert A-modules and bounded operators.

Proof. If $\mathcal{A}(x, x)$ is unital a standard Yoneda argument shows that any transformation $T: h_x \to h_y$ is given by postcomposing with the morphism $T_x(\mathrm{id}_x)$: for any $z \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{A}, a \in h_x(z)$ we have

$$T_z(a) = T_z(\operatorname{id}_x \circ a) = T_x(\operatorname{id}_x) \circ a.$$

So T is in fact in the image of $\iota_{\mathcal{A}}$. Hence if \mathcal{A} is unital, $\iota_{\mathcal{A}}$ is full.

Note for the second equivalence firstly that $\iota_{\mathcal{A}}$ is an equivalence between \mathcal{A} and the category of representable right Hilbert \mathcal{A} -modules. Secondly, as Hilb- \mathcal{A} is idempotent complete, fgProj- \mathcal{A} is by definition the closure of representable right Hilbert \mathcal{A} -modules under finite direct sums and direct summands. The stated equivalence follows.

We can in fact generalize Lemma 2.3.9 to give a Yoneda lemma for $C^{\ast}\text{-}$ categories.

Proposition 2.3.11. For each $x \in Ob A$ and right Hilbert A-module F, there is an isometric isomorphism

$$\eta: \mathcal{K}(h_x, F) \to F(x).$$

Proof. We construct the map $\eta : \mathcal{K}(h_x, F) \to F(x)$ by defining it first on singlerank operators. For $f \in F(y)$ and $a \in \mathcal{A}(y, x)$, note that for each $b \in \mathcal{A}(z, x)$ we have

$$\theta^{f,a}(b) = f \cdot \langle a, b \rangle = f \cdot a^* b = (f \cdot a^*) \cdot b.$$

Hence we can set $\eta(\theta^{f,a}) := f \cdot a^* \in F(x)$ and extend linearly to finiterank operators. To show this partial map is well-defined, note that picking x = y and letting b vary over an approximate unit (u_{λ}) for $\mathcal{A}(x, x)$, we see by Corollary 2.1.9 that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \theta^{f_i, a_i}(u_{\lambda}) = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} f_i \cdot a_i^*\right) \cdot u_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{\lambda} \sum_{i=1}^{n} f_i \cdot a_i^*.$$

So if $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \theta^{f_i, a_i} = \sum_{j=1}^{m} \theta^{f'_j, a'_j}$, then $\sum_{i=1}^{n} f_i \cdot a_i^* = \sum_{j=1}^{m} f'_i \cdot a'_i^*$. Furthermore, applying norms to the above limit, and noting that $||u_{\lambda}|| \leq 1$ for each λ , we see that $||\sum_{i=1}^{n} \theta^{f_i, a_i}|| \geq ||\sum_{i=1}^{n} f_i \cdot a_i^*||$. But conversely it follows from Lemma 2.1.4 that

$$\|\sum_{i=1}^{n} \theta^{f_i, a_i}(b)\| = \|(\sum_{i=1}^{n} f_i \cdot a_i^*) \cdot b\| \le \|(\sum_{i=1}^{n} f_i \cdot a_i^*)\| \|b\|$$

so we see $\|\eta(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \theta^{f_i,a_i})\| = \|\sum_{i=1}^{n} f_i \cdot a_i^*\| = \|\sum_{i=1}^{n} \theta^{f_i,a_i}\|$. But then by Lemma 1.4.4 there is a unique isometric extension of η to all of $\mathcal{K}(h_x, F)$.

To show η is surjective, recall that by Corollary 2.1.11 for any $f \in F(x)$ there exist $a \in \mathcal{A}(x, x)$ and $f' \in F(x)$ such that $f = f' \cdot a$: hence $f = \eta(\theta^{f', a^*})$.

The map η is natural in F and x, but rather than proving this directly, we find the inverse to the map and show that *it* is natural:

Lemma 2.3.12. For each $x \in Ob A$ and right Hilbert A-module F, the inverse $\epsilon : F(x) \to \mathcal{K}(h_x, F)$ to the map η defined above is given by setting $\epsilon : f \mapsto \epsilon_f$ where $\epsilon_f(a) = f \cdot a$ for all $a \in h_x(y)$. The adjoint of ϵ_f is given for each $y \in Ob A$ and $f' \in F(y)$ by $\epsilon_f^*(f') = \langle f, f' \rangle$.

This map is natural in both F and x: that is, for any $\phi \in \mathcal{L}(F, F')$, we have $\phi \circ \epsilon_f = \epsilon_{\phi(f)}$, and for any $b \in \mathcal{A}(x', x)$, we have $\epsilon_m \circ \iota(b) = \epsilon_{m \cdot b}$

Proof. Each map ϵ_f is evidently an \mathcal{A} -module map and is bounded by Lemma 2.1.4; furthermore, it is simple to verify that its adjoint is as stated.

Note next that for any $b \in h_x(z), \theta^{f,a} \in \mathcal{K}(h_x, F)$ we have

$$(\epsilon \circ \eta)(\theta^{f,a})(b) = (f \cdot a^*) \cdot b = f \cdot (a^*b) = f \cdot \langle a, b \rangle_{h_x} = \theta^{f,a}(b).$$

Hence by the density of the finite-rank operators we see ϵ is the unique inverse for the map η .

We finish by showing the naturality: note for any $a \in h_x(y)$ that

$$\epsilon_{\phi(f)}(a) = \phi(f) \cdot a^* = \phi(f \cdot a^*) = \phi(\epsilon_f(a)).$$

For the second part, simply note for any $b \in \mathcal{A}(x', x), a \in h_{x'}(y)$ we have

$$(\epsilon_f \circ \iota(b))(a) = (\epsilon_f)(ba) = f \cdot (ba) = (f \cdot b)(a) = \epsilon_{f \cdot b}(a).$$

This correspondence helps us understand single-rank operators better:

Lemma 2.3.13. If E and F are right Hilbert A-modules and $x \in Ob A$, the single-rank operators $\theta_x^{f,e}$ are exactly those operators that factor through h_x as the composite

$$E \to h_x \to F$$

of two compact operators.

Proof. Note simply that for any $e' \in E(y)$, we have

$$\theta_x^{f,e}(e') = f \cdot \langle e, e' \rangle = \epsilon_f \circ \epsilon_e^*(e').$$

Conversely, by Proposition 2.3.11 all compact sequences $E \to h_x \to F$ are described by an operator $\epsilon_f \epsilon_e^* = \theta_x^{f,e}$ which is single-rank by definition. \Box

It follows that \mathcal{K} Hilb- \mathcal{A} is, in the sense defined in Proposition 1.1.38, the ideal generated by the image of $\iota_{\mathcal{A}}$.

Proposition 2.3.14. We have an equality

$$\mathcal{K}\mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{A}=\mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{A}\operatorname{im}(\iota_{\mathcal{A}})\mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{A}$$

of subcategories of Hilb-A.

Proof. Recall from Proposition 1.1.38 that Hilb- $\mathcal{A} \operatorname{im}(\iota_{\mathcal{A}})$ Hilb- \mathcal{A} is the normclosure of the span of all morphisms that factor through some morphism in $\operatorname{im}(\iota_{\mathcal{A}})$. Note that every such morphism must be compact, as compact morphisms are an ideal and by Lemma 2.3.9 all morphisms in the image of ι are compact. Hence we get an inclusion $\mathcal{K}\operatorname{Hilb}-\mathcal{A} \supseteq \operatorname{Hilb}-\mathcal{A}\operatorname{im}(\iota_{\mathcal{A}}) \operatorname{Hilb}-\mathcal{A}$.

For the opposite inclusion, consider the single-rank map $\theta_x^{f,e}: E \to F$ for $e \in E(x), f \in F(x)$, and write $f = f' \cdot a$ for $f' \in F(x), a \in \mathcal{A}(x, x)$ using Corollary 2.1.11. Then

$$\theta^{f,e} = \epsilon_f \circ \epsilon_e^* = \epsilon_{f'} \circ \iota(a) \circ \epsilon_e^*.$$

Hence any single-rank operator can be factorized through a morphism in the image of ι , and hence we see any compact operator is a norm-limit of sums of such operators.

We close by describing a topology of 'pointwise convergence' on Hilb - \mathcal{A} that will come to play a significant role.

Definition 2.3.15. The strong^{*} topology on Hilb- \mathcal{A} is the topology such that a net of operators $T_{\lambda} : E \to F$ converges to T in the strong^{*} topology when for every object $x \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{A}$ and elements $e \in E(x), f \in F(x)$, we have

$$||T_{\lambda}(e) - T(e)|| \xrightarrow{\lambda} 0 \text{ and } ||T_{\lambda}^{*}(f) - T^{*}(f)|| \xrightarrow{\lambda} 0.$$

This is a legitimate definition for a topology since it is the one generated by the seminorms $T \mapsto ||T(e)||$, $T \mapsto ||T^*(f)||$ for all e and f. We will use the adverb "strongly" to mean "in the strong* topology".

We now generalize a result from the theory of Hilbert modules over C^* -algebras.

Proposition 2.3.16 (c.f. [Lan95, Proposition 8.1]). The strong^{*} topology coincides with the \mathcal{K} Hilb- \mathcal{A} -relative topology on norm-bounded subsets.

Proof. Suppose that (T_{λ}) is a norm-bounded net of operators in $\mathcal{L}(E, F)$: say their norm is bounded by $H \in \mathbb{R}$. We have to show that $T_{\lambda} \to 0$ in the strong^{*} topology if and only if $T_{\lambda} \to 0$ in the \mathcal{K} Hilb- \mathcal{A} -relative topology.

Assume first that $T_{\lambda} \to 0$ strongly^{*}; that is, for each $x \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{A}$, we have $T_{\lambda}(e) \to 0$ for each $e \in E(x)$ and $T_{\lambda}^*(f) \to 0$ for each $f \in F(x)$. We have to show that $||T_{\lambda} \circ h|| \to 0$ for each $h \in \mathcal{K}(D, E)$ and $||g \circ T_{\lambda}|| \to 0$ for each $g \in \mathcal{K}(F, G)$.

Note first that for $\theta_w^{f,e} \in \mathcal{K}(D,E)$ we have

$$||T_{\lambda} \circ \theta_w^{f,e}|| = ||\theta_w^{T_{\lambda}(f),e}|| \le ||T_{\lambda}(f)|| ||e||$$

hence $||T_{\lambda} \circ \theta_w^{f,e}|| \xrightarrow{\lambda} 0$. Hence as the span of single-rank operators is dense in $\mathcal{K}(D, E)$, and precomposition with the operators T_{λ} gives a bounded net of operators $\mathcal{K}(D, E) \to \mathcal{K}(D, F)$, we can apply Lemma 1.4.2 to deduce that $T_{\lambda} \circ h \to \text{for all } h \in \mathcal{K}(D, E)$.

Similarly, $T_{\lambda}^{*}(f) \to 0$ for each $f \in F(x)$ implies that $||g \circ T_{\lambda}|| \to 0$ for each $g \in \mathcal{K}(F, G)$.

For the converse, suppose $T_{\lambda} \to 0$ relative to \mathcal{K} Hilb- \mathcal{A} . Then in particular $||T_{\lambda} \circ h|| \to 0$ for each $h \in \mathcal{K}(E, E)$ and $||g \circ T_{\lambda}|| \to 0$ for each $g \in \mathcal{K}(F, F)$. Hence we see for any for any $e, e', e'' \in E(x)$ that

$$T_{\lambda}(e \cdot \langle e', e'' \rangle) = T_{\lambda}(\theta_x^{e,e'}(e'')) = 0.$$

But by Lemma 2.1.8 the span of such elements is dense in E(x) so using Lemma 1.4.2 we see $T_{\lambda}(e) \xrightarrow{\lambda} 0$ for all $e \in E(x)$.

Similarly, the fact that $||g \circ T_{\lambda}|| \to 0$ for each $g \in \mathcal{K}(F, G)$ gives us that $T^*_{\lambda}(f) \to 0$ for all $f \in F(x), x \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{A}$. This concludes our proof. \Box

To see that these topologies do not necessarily coincide on unbounded subsets of operators, see [Lan95, p.76] for an example of an unbounded net of operators on a Hilbert space (i.e. a Hilbert module over $\mathcal{A} = \mathbb{C}$), which goes to zero in the strong^{*} topology but not in the topology relative to the compact operators.

2.4 Bimodules and the equivalence $\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{K}\mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{A}) \cong \mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{A}$

A standard result on Hilbert modules is that if A is a C^* -algebra and E is a right Hilbert A-module, then $\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{K}(E)) = \mathcal{L}(E)$ (see e.g. [Lan95, Theorem 2.4]). In this section we categorify this result in two ways: the first is that we replace A by a C^* -category \mathcal{A} . The second is that we replace the algebras $\mathcal{K}(E)$ and $\mathcal{L}(E)$ by the C^* -categories \mathcal{K} Hilb- \mathcal{A} and Hilb- \mathcal{A} .

Definition 2.4.1. If \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} are C^* - categories, a right Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} bimodule is a C^* -functor

$$F: \mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{B}$$
.

The bimodule F is said to be *non-degenerate* if the linear span of

$$\bigcup_{y \in \operatorname{Ob} \mathcal{A}} F\mathcal{A}(y, x)(F(y))$$

is dense in F(x) for all $x \in Ob \mathcal{A}$; that is, dense in F(x)(z) for each $z \in Ob \mathcal{B}$.

Remark 2.4.2. The astute reader may be concerned that we have already defined what it means for a functor to be non-degenerate in Definition 1.4.1, but by the end of this section we will see that the definitions coincide in a precise sense.

Lemma 2.4.3. The inclusion \mathcal{K} Hilb- $\mathcal{A} \hookrightarrow$ Hilb- \mathcal{A} is non-degenerate.

Proof. Recall from Lemma 2.1.8 that for any right Hilbert \mathcal{A} -module E and every $x \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{A}$, we have that $E(x) \cdot \langle E(x), E(x) \rangle$ is dense in E(x). Note that this is a subspace of $\mathcal{K}\mathsf{Hilb}$ - $\mathcal{A}(E, E)(E(x))$, which a fortiori must then also be dense, satisfying Definition 2.4.1.

We provide an alternate characterization of non-degeneracy, analogous to criteria 3 and 4 in Definition 1.4.1.

Lemma 2.4.4. *F* is non-degenerate if and only if for any $x \in Ob \mathcal{A}$ and any approximate unit (u_{λ}) for $\mathcal{A}(x,x)$, any $z \in Ob \mathcal{B}$, and any $e \in F(x)(z)$, we have $F(u_{\lambda})(e) \xrightarrow{\lambda} e$.

Proof. For the rightward implication, note that by the continuity of F, for all $F(a)(d) \in F\mathcal{A}(y,x)(F(y)(z))$ we have that

$$F(u_{\lambda})(F(a)(d)) = F(u_{\lambda}a)(d) \xrightarrow{\lambda} F(a)(d)$$

So since by non-degeneracy the span of such elements gives a norm-dense subset of F(x)(z), we can apply Lemma 1.4.2 to see that $F(u_{\lambda})(d) \xrightarrow{\lambda} d$ for all morphisms $d \in F(x)(z)$.

For the converse, note that if $F(u_{\lambda})(e) \xrightarrow{\lambda} e$ for $e \in F(x)(z)$, then the set

$$\{F(u_{\lambda})(e): \lambda \in \Lambda\} \subseteq F(\mathcal{A}(x,x))(F(x)(z))$$

has e as a limit point, so the density requirement is satisfied.

We now begin building up to the main theorem of this section.

Lemma 2.4.5. Suppose $F : \mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{B}$ is a non-degenerate bimodule, and \mathcal{C} is any C^* -category containing \mathcal{A} as a C^* -ideal. Then F extends uniquely to a C^* -functor

$$\overline{F}: \mathcal{C} \to \mathsf{Hilb} - \mathcal{B},$$

which is faithful whenever both F is faithful and A is essential in C.

Proof. Note that \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{C} have the same objects by the remark below Definition 1.1.36, so on objects we can simply set $\overline{F} = F$. Take any morphism $c \in \mathcal{C}(x, x')$. By nondegeneracy, at any object $z \in \operatorname{Ob}\mathcal{B}$, the span of $\bigcup_{y \in \operatorname{Ob}\mathcal{A}} F\mathcal{A}(y, x)F(y)(z)$ is dense in F(x)(z). On this dense subset we define the transformation

$$\bar{F}(c): \sum_{\substack{y \in \mathsf{Ob}\,\mathcal{A}\\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} F(a_i)e_i}} F\mathcal{A}(y,x)F(y)(z) \to F(x')(z)$$

Note the expression is well-defined since $ca_i \in \mathcal{A}$. We firstly need to show that this is a well-defined function on the given sum of subspaces, i.e. that if $\sum_{i=1}^{n} F(a_i)e_i = \sum_{i=1}^{m} F(b_i)f_i$, then $\sum_{i=1}^{n} F(ca_i)e_i = \sum_{i=1}^{m} F(cb_i)f_i$. So let u_{λ} be an approximate unit for $\mathcal{A}(x, x)$, then by Corollary 1.2.8 we have $u_{\lambda}a_i \xrightarrow{\lambda} a_i$, so $cu_{\lambda}a_i \xrightarrow{\lambda} ca_i$ and by the continuity of F we have

$$\begin{split} \Sigma_{i=1}^n F(ca_i) e_i &= \lim_{\lambda} \sum_{i=1}^n F(cu_{\lambda}a_i) e_i \\ &= \lim_{\lambda} F(cu_{\lambda}) \sum_{i=1}^n F(a_i) e_i \\ &= \lim_{\lambda} F(cu_{\lambda}) \sum_{i=1}^m F(b_i) f_i \\ &= \lim_{\lambda} \sum_{i=1}^m F(cu_{\lambda}b_i) f_i \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^m F(cb_i) f_i. \end{split}$$

Hence $\overline{F}(c)$ is well-defined, and applying norms to the third term above, we deduce $\|\overline{F}(c)\| \leq \sup_{\lambda} \|F(cu_{\lambda})\| \leq \|c\|$ as F is norm-decreasing and $\|u_{\lambda}\| \leq 1$ for all λ . So by Lemma 1.4.4 we can extend $\overline{F}(c)$ to a map

$$\overline{F}(c): F(x)(z) \to F(x')(z)$$

which is natural in z, bounded, and is easily seen to be have adjoint $\overline{F}(c^*)$. It is also elementary to check that \overline{F} is complex linear and preserves composition. It follows that \overline{F} defines a C^* -functor $\mathcal{C} \to \mathsf{Hilb}-\mathcal{A}$.

For the final claim, if F is faithful and \mathcal{A} is essential in \mathcal{C} , we see that

$$\ker(\bar{F}) \cap \mathcal{A} = \ker F = 0$$

so by Proposition 1.1.37, $\ker(\bar{F}) = 0$ and \bar{F} is faithful.

Lemma 2.4.6. Suppose $F : \mathcal{A} \to \text{Hilb-}\mathcal{B}$ is a faithful non-degenerate bimodule. There is a C^* -subcategory \mathcal{D} of Hilb- \mathcal{B} , termed the idealizer under F of \mathcal{A} , with objects being those in the image of F and hom spaces

$$\mathcal{D}(F(x), F(y)) := \left\{ \begin{aligned} d \in \mathcal{L}(F(x), F(y))) : & F\mathcal{A}(y, z) \circ d \subseteq F\mathcal{A}(x, z) \\ & \text{for all } z \in \mathsf{Ob}\,\mathcal{A} \end{aligned} \right\}.$$

Furthermore, F extends uniquely to an equivalence $\overline{F} : \mathcal{MA} \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathcal{D}$.

Proof. Notice \mathcal{D} is a C^* -category which contains (the isometric image of) \mathcal{A} as an ideal. Now if \mathcal{C} is any other C^* -category containing \mathcal{A} as an ideal, by Lemma 2.4.5 we get an embedding $\mathcal{C} \hookrightarrow \mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{B}$ whose image lands in \mathcal{D} by construction. So \mathcal{D} has the defining universal property of $\mathcal{M}\mathcal{A}$ from Lemma 1.3.6.

We deduce our promised result.

Proposition 2.4.7. For any C^* -category \mathcal{A} , there is an isomorphism of C^* -categories

$$\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{K}\mathsf{Hilb} extsf{-}\mathcal{A})\cong\mathsf{Hilb} extsf{-}\mathcal{A}$$
 .

Proof. By Lemma 2.4.3 the inclusion \mathcal{K} Hilb- $\mathcal{A} \hookrightarrow$ Hilb- \mathcal{A} is nondegenerate, and since \mathcal{K} Hilb- \mathcal{A} is an ideal in Hilb- \mathcal{A} , we see the idealizer of \mathcal{K} Hilb- \mathcal{A} is all of Hilb- \mathcal{A} , so by Lemma 2.4.6, we get the desired equivalence, which is in fact an isomorphism as $\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{K}$ Hilb- $\mathcal{A})$ and Hilb- \mathcal{A} have the same objects. \Box

The above proposition was proven in [Fer23, Corollary 3.4.5] for small C^* categories. As an easy corollary we see that the multiplier category can be
considered as the full subcategory of Hilb- \mathcal{A} on the representable modules:

Corollary 2.4.8. For any $x, y \in Ob \mathcal{A}$ we have

$$\mathcal{L}(h_x, h_y) \cong \mathcal{MA}(x, y).$$

Proof. It is obvious from the single-object definition of multipliers that if \mathcal{A} is the inclusion of a full sub- C^* -category of a C^* -category \mathcal{B} , then for all objects $x, y \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{A}$ we have $\mathcal{MA}(x, y) \cong \mathcal{MB}(x, y)$. Applying this to $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{K}\mathsf{Hilb}$ - \mathcal{A} and combining with Proposition 2.4.7, we get the stated result. \Box

We hence get the promised disambiguation of non-degeneration.

Corollary 2.4.9. A functor $F : \mathcal{A} \to \text{Hilb-}\mathcal{B}$ is non-degenerate in the above sense if and only if, considered as a functor $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{M}(\mathcal{K}\text{Hilb-}\mathcal{B})$, it is nondegenerate in the sense of Definition 1.4.1.

Proof. The content of Lemma 2.4.4 is that $F : \mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{Hilb}-\mathcal{B}$ is non-degenerate if and only for every approximate unit u_{λ} of every endomorphism algebra $\mathcal{A}(x,x)$, the net $F(u_{\lambda})$ approaches id $\in \mathcal{L}(Fx, Fx)$ in the strong^{*} topology. Note that since (u_{λ}) is bounded, by Proposition 2.3.16 this is equivalent to $F(u_{\lambda})$ approaching id in the $\mathcal{K}\mathsf{Hilb}-\mathcal{B}$ -relative topology, and in turn by Theorem 1.4.5 this is equivalent to the requirement that F, considered as a functor $F : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{M}(\mathcal{K}\mathsf{Hilb}-\mathcal{B})$, is non-degenerate in the sense of Definition 1.4.1. \Box

We close with two propositions on multiplier direct sums of Hilbert modules.

Proposition 2.4.10. The multiplier direct sum in KHilb-A of an arbitrary multiset $(E_i)_{i \in I}$ of right Hilbert A-modules is given on each object $x \in Ob A$ by

$$(\bigoplus_{i\in I} E_i)(x) = \{(e_i)\in \prod_{i\in I} E_i(x) : \sum_{i\in I} \langle e_i, e_i \rangle \text{ converges in } \mathcal{A}(x,x)\},\$$

with inner products defined by $\langle (e_i), (f_i) \rangle = \sum_{i \in I} \langle e_i, f_i \rangle$, and bounded adjointable structure maps $\iota_i \in \mathcal{L}(E_i, \bigoplus_{i \in I} E_i)$ sending elements to sequences with zeroes in all but one position.

Proof. Clearly ι_i^* is the projection on the *i*-th coordinate, so each $\iota_i^*\iota_i$ is an isometry. Since for any element $(e_i) \in (\bigoplus_{i \in I} E_i)(x)$ the sum $\sum_{i \in I} \langle e_i, e_i \rangle$ converges in the normed vector space $\mathcal{A}(x, x)$, we see by [HN01, p.136] that all but countably many of the elements $\langle e_i, e_i \rangle$, and hence the entries e_i , are zero. Denote by $J \subseteq I$ the countable 'support' of (e_i) , i.e. the coordinates where it is non-zero.

Then by considering the subnet consisting of finite subsets of J, it is clear that the net

$$\{\sum_{i\in F}\iota_i\iota_i^*((e_i)): F\subseteq I \text{ finite}\}\$$

converges to (e_i) in the norm. Hence $\{\sum_{i \in F} \iota_i \iota_i^* : F \subseteq I \text{ finite}\}$ converges strongly^{*} to the identity, so as these maps and their sums clearly all have norm 1, by Proposition 2.3.16 the net converges to the identity in the strict (i.e. the \mathcal{K} Hilb- \mathcal{A} -relative) topology.

Finally, to prove the 'smallness' of this direct sum, we simply proceed as in the finite case. Let S_i be a generating set for each E_i , then as elements with finite support are dense in $(\bigoplus_{i \in I} E_i)(x) = \{(e_i) \in \prod_{i \in I} E_i(x)\}$ one easily sees that $\bigoplus_{i \in I} E_i$ is generated by the set $\sqcup_{i \in I} \iota_i(S_i)$.

We derive from this a characterization of compact operators between multiplier direct sums:

Proposition 2.4.11. If $(E_i)_{i \in I}$ and $(F_j)_{j \in J}$ are collections of right Hilbert *A*-modules with structure maps $\iota_i : E_i \to \bigoplus_{i \in I} E_i$ and $\iota_j : F_j \to \bigoplus_{j \in J} F_j$, then the isometries

$$\lambda_{ij}: \mathcal{K}(E_i, F_j) \to \mathcal{K}(\bigoplus_{i \in I} E_i, \bigoplus_{j \in J} F_j): T \mapsto \iota_j T \iota_i^*$$

and their left inverses

$$\mu_{ij}: \mathcal{K}(\bigoplus_{i \in I} E_i, \bigoplus_{j \in J} F_j) \to \mathcal{K}(E_i, F_j): S \mapsto \iota_j^* T \iota_i$$

exhibit the Banach space $\mathcal{K}(\bigoplus_{i \in I} E_i, \bigoplus_{j \in J} F_j)$ as a direct sum of its subspaces $\mathcal{K}(E_i, F_j)$. In other words, for every operator $T \in \mathcal{K}(\bigoplus_{i \in I} E_i, \bigoplus_{j \in J} F_j)$, the net $\sum_{S \subset I \times J \text{ finite }} \lambda_{ij}(\mu_{ij}(T))$ converges in the norm to T.

Proof. Consider firstly an operator $\theta_x^{f,e}$ for some $x \in Ob \mathcal{A}$ and some pair $(e_i) \in \bigoplus_i E_i, (f_i) \in \bigoplus_j F_j$, where both (e_i) and (f_j) have only a single nonzero coordinate e_k and f_ℓ . Then we have $\iota_j^* \iota_j \theta^{e,f} = \theta^{e,f}$ when $j = \ell$ and $\iota_j^* \iota_j \theta^{e,f} = 0$ otherwise. Similarly $\theta^{e,f} \iota_i^* \iota_i = \theta^{e,f}$, when i = k, and $\theta^{e,f} \iota_i^* \iota_i = 0$ otherwise. So the stated convergence result is clearly true for this $\theta^{e,f}$. But it is easy to see that the span of such operators $\theta^{e,f}$ includes all single-rank operators whose two arguments have finitely many non-zero entries, and we can also show these operators are norm-dense in all single-rank operators: write an arbitrary $(e_i) \in \bigoplus_i E_i$ and $(f_j) \in \bigoplus_j F_j$ as norm-limits of sequences $(e_i^n), (f_j^n)$ whose elements each have finitely many non-zero coordinates, as well as norm less than or equal to that of (e_i) , respectively (f_i) . But now note that we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|\theta^{(e_i^n),(f_j^n)} - \theta^{(e_i),(f_j)}\| &\leq \|\theta^{(e_i^n),(f_j)} - \theta^{(e_i),(f_j)}\| + \|\theta^{(e_i^n),(f_j^n)} - \theta^{(e_i^n),(f_j)}\| \\ &\leq \|\theta^{(e_i^n) - (e_i),(f_j)}\| + \|\theta^{(e_i^n),(f_j^n) - (f_j)}\| \\ &\leq \|(e_i^n) - (e_i)\|\|(f_j)\| + \|(e_i^n)\|\|(f_j^n) - (f_j)\| \\ &\leq \|(e_i^n) - (e_i)\|\|(f_j)\| + \|(e_i)\|\|(f_j^n) - (f_j)\| \xrightarrow{n} 0 \end{aligned}$$

and hence $\theta^{(e_i^n),(f_j^n)} \to \theta^{(e_i),(f_j)}$ in the operator norm. Hence the single-rank operators with both module elements having finitely many non-zero coordinates are dense in all single-rank operators, so as the convergence holds for the former, by Corollary 1.4.3 it holds for the latter.

Another application of Corollary 1.4.3 tells us that the convergence holds for arbitrary compact operators. $\hfill \Box$

2.5 Extending modules to the additive hull and approximate projectivity

In this section we show that all Hilbert modules over a C^* -category \mathcal{A} extend to Hilbert modules over the additive hull \mathcal{A}_{\oplus} . We use for this the following lemma of Mitchener's, whose proof we include for completeness:

Lemma 2.5.1 ([Mit02b, Lemma 3.13]). If E is a Hilbert module over a C^* category \mathcal{A} , then an operator $T: E \to E$ is a positive element of the C^* -algebra $\mathcal{L}(E, E)$ if and only if for every $x \in Ob \mathcal{A}$ and $e \in E(x)$, the inner product $\langle e, Te \rangle \in \mathcal{A}(x, x)$ is positive.

Proof. For the rightward implication: by Lemma 1.1.13 if T is positive we can write it as $T = S^*S$ for some $S \in \mathcal{L}(E, E)$, so then $\langle e, Te \rangle = \langle Se, Se \rangle$ for all e, and this second term is always positive.

For the converse, suppose T has the stated property, then T is self-adjoint since $\langle Te, e \rangle = \langle e, Te \rangle^* = \langle e, Te \rangle$ for all e. Hence by Lemma 1.1.15, T decomposes as the difference of two positive operators T = S - Q such that SQ = 0. But then for all e we have

$$0 \le \langle Qe, TQe \rangle = \langle Qe, -Q^2e \rangle = \langle e, -Q^3e \rangle.$$

But Q, and hence Q^3 is positive (by Lemma 1.1.19) so by the first part this implies Q = 0 and we see T is positive.

To begin building the extension of E to \mathcal{A}_{\oplus} , we use the above lemma to prove in isolation the positivity axiom, which is of independent interest elsewhere:

Lemma 2.5.2 (c.f. [Lan95, Lemma 4.2]). If E is a right Hilbert module over \mathcal{A} and we have a sequence of elements $e_1 \in E(x_1), \ldots, e_n \in E(x_n)$, then the $n \times n$ matrix μ_e with (i, j)-th entry $\langle e_i, e_j \rangle$ is a positive element of the C^{*}-algebra $M_{x_1,\ldots,x_n}(\mathcal{A})$

Proof. Consider the right Hilbert \mathcal{A} -module $F = h_{x_1} \oplus ... \oplus h_{x_n}$. By Proposition 2.4.11 and Lemma 2.3.9 we have $M_{x_1,...,x_n}(\mathcal{A}) \cong \mathcal{K}(F)$. So if we can show that for every $y \in Ob \mathcal{A}$ and $f \in F(y)$, the inner product $\langle f, \mu_e f \rangle_F \in \mathcal{A}(y, y)$ is positive, then by Lemma 2.5.1, μ_e is a positive element of $\mathcal{L}(F)$, and hence of $M_{x_1,...,x_n}(\mathcal{A})$.

To do this, let $f = (f_1, \ldots, f_n)$ where $f_i \in \mathcal{A}(y, x_i)$. Then

$$\begin{split} \langle f, \mu_e f \rangle_F &= \sum_i (f_i^* \sum_j \langle e_i, e_j \rangle_E f_j) = \sum_i (f_i^* \sum_j \langle e_i, e_j f_j \rangle_E) \\ &= \sum_i \sum_j \langle e_i f_i, e_j f_j \rangle_E \\ &= \langle \sum_i e_i f_i, \sum_j e_j f_j \rangle_E. \end{split}$$

This is a positive element of $\mathcal{A}(y, y)$ by the assumption that E is a Hilbert module. Hence it follows that μ_e is positive.

The above lemma first appeared as [Mit02b, Lemma 3.14], but as far as we can see the proof given there does not quite work: it is unclear how to define the action of the matrix algebra on the supposed Hilbert module.

To extend an arbitrary Hilbert module from \mathcal{A} to \mathcal{A}_{\oplus} , note firstly that by Lemma 1.2.4, any Hilbert module $E : \mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathsf{Vect}_{\mathbb{C},0}$ lifts to a complex linear functor $E_{\oplus} : (\mathcal{A}_{\oplus})^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathsf{Vect}_{\mathbb{C},0}$. We need to show that if E is a right Hilbert module, then E_{\oplus} can be given an inner product making it into a right Hilbert \mathcal{A}_{\oplus} -module.

We do this as follows:

Proposition 2.5.3. Let $E : \mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathsf{Vect}_{\mathbb{C},0}$ be a right Hilbert \mathcal{A} -module. Then there is a unique extension $E_{\oplus} : (\mathcal{A}_{\oplus})^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathsf{Vect}_{\mathbb{C},0}$ of E to \mathcal{A}_{\oplus} with

$$E_{\oplus}(\{x_1, .., x_n\}) := E(x_1) \oplus \cdots \oplus E(x_n)$$

and matrices of A-morphisms mapping sums to sums in the obvious way.

Furthermore, E_{\oplus} has the structure of a right \mathcal{A}_{\oplus} -Hilbert module with inner products

$$\langle -, - \rangle : E_{\oplus}(\{y_1, .., y_k\}) \times E_{\oplus}(\{x_1, .., x_n\}) \to \mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(\{x_1, .., x_n\}, \{y_1, .., y_k\})$$

defined by

$$\langle (f_1, .., f_k), (e_1, .., e_n) \rangle_{E_{\oplus}} := [\langle f_j, e_i \rangle_E].$$

Proof. The unique extension $E_{\oplus} : (\mathcal{A}_{\oplus})^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathsf{Vect}_{\mathbb{C},0}$ is defined by Lemma 1.2.4, so we only need to show the Hilbert module axioms.

The involution and naturality axioms both follow immediately from the definition of $\langle -, - \rangle_{E_{\oplus}}$. The positivity axiom is the content of Lemma 2.5.2.

To prove the completeness property, note that from the arguments about norms in the proof of Proposition 1.2.3, we have

$$\max_{i} \|e_{i}\| \le \|(e_{i})\| \le n^{2} \max_{i} \|e_{i}\|$$

so a Cauchy sequence of vectors in $E_{\oplus}((x_i)) = \bigoplus_i E(x_i)$ must be a Cauchy sequence in each coordinate and converge to the coordinate-wise limit.

Finally, to find a set generating E_{\oplus} , suppose that $S = \{e \in E(x_e)\}$ is a set generating E across all objects, and that $S_{\oplus} = \{e \in E_{\oplus}(\{x_e\})\}$ is the 'same set' in E_{\oplus} . Then by considering 'column' matrices in $\mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(x_e, x_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus x_n)$ with one non-zero entry, we easily see that the subspaces $E(x_i) \subseteq E_{\oplus}(\{x_1, \ldots, x_n\})$ are in $\langle S_{\oplus} \rangle$. But then clearly $\langle S_{\oplus} \rangle$ is all of E_{\oplus} .

Hence E_{\oplus} satisfies all axioms of a right Hilbert module over \mathcal{A}_{\oplus} .

We prove a lemma clarifying the operation of finite-rank operators on right \mathcal{A}_{\oplus} -Hilbert modules.

2.5. EXTENDING MODULES TO THE ADDITIVE HULL AND APPROXIMATE PROJECTIVITY

Lemma 2.5.4. Suppose E, F are right Hilbert modules over \mathcal{A}_{\oplus} . For all lists $\mathbf{x} = \{x_1, \ldots, x_n\} \in \mathsf{Ob}(\mathcal{A}_{\oplus})$ and tuples of elements $(e_i) \in E(\mathbf{x}), (f_i) \in F(\mathbf{x}),$ we have $\theta_{\mathbf{x}}^{(f_i), (e_i)} = \sum_{i=1}^n \theta_{x_i}^{f_i, e_i}$.

Proof. This follows from the definition of the inner product: for any $z \in Ob \mathcal{A}$ and $d \in E(z)$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} \theta_{(x_i)}^{(f_i),(e_i)}(d) &:= (f_i) \cdot \langle (e_i), d \rangle = (f_i) \cdot [\langle e_1, d \rangle \cdots \langle e_n, d \rangle] \\ &= F_{\oplus}([\langle e_1, d \rangle \cdots \langle e_n, d \rangle])((f_i)) \\ &= [F(\langle e_1, d \rangle) \cdots F(\langle e_n, d \rangle)]((f_i)) \\ &= F(\langle e_1, d \rangle)(f_1) + \cdots + F(\langle e_n, d \rangle)(f_n) \\ &= f_1 \cdot \langle e_1, d \rangle + \cdots + f_n \cdot \langle e_n, d \rangle \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^n \theta_{x_i}^{f_i, e_i}(d). \end{aligned}$$

We end this chapter with a powerful result which says that any Hilbert module E has an approximate identity consisting of self-adjoint operators that factor through finitely generated free modules. The results here are a direct adaptation and generalization of those in [Ble97, Section 3].

Lemma 2.5.5. If *E* is a right Hilbert *A*-module, then the *C*^{*}-algebra $\mathcal{K}(E)$ has an approximate unit $\{u_{\lambda} : \lambda \in \Lambda\}$ consisting of operators $u_{\lambda} = \sum_{e \in I(\lambda)} \theta_{x_e}^{e,e}$ where each $I(\lambda)$ is a finite list of module elements $e \in E(x_e)$, where $x_e \in \mathsf{Ob}\mathcal{A}$.

Proof. Note that the right ideal of finite-rank operators is dense in $\mathcal{K}(E)$, so by [Bro77, Theorem 2.1], there is an increasing approximate unit consisting of elements $u_{\lambda} = \sum_{r \in R_{\lambda}} r^* r$, where each R_{λ} is a finite list of finite-rank operators. Take one such operator $r = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \theta_{x_i}^{f_i, e_i}$, then we have

$$r^*r = \sum_{1 \le i,j \le n} \theta_{x_i}^{e_i,f_i} \theta_{x_j}^{f_j,e_j} = \sum_{1 \le i,j \le n} \theta_{x_i}^{e_i,\theta_{x_j}^{e_j,f_j}(f_i)} = \sum_{1 \le i,j \le n} \theta_{x_i}^{e_i,e_j,\langle f_j,f_i \rangle}.$$

Note by Lemma 2.5.2 the matrix $\mu_f \in M_{x_1,\ldots,x_n}(\mathcal{A})$ with (i, j)-th entry $\langle f_i, f_j \rangle$ is positive, so by Lemma 1.1.13 there is a matrix N with entries n_{ij} such that $NN^* = \mu_f$. Hence extending E over \mathcal{A}_{\oplus} and using Lemma 2.5.4 we get

$$r^*r = \theta_{\oplus_i x_i}^{(e_i),(e_i)\cdot NN^*} = \theta_{\oplus_i x_i}^{(e_i)\cdot N,(e_i)\cdot N} = \sum_{i=1}^n \theta_{x_i}^{\sum_j e_j \cdot n_{ij},\sum_j e_j \cdot n_{ij}},$$

giving an approximate unit of the described form.

We can then deduce the following generalization of one direction in [Ble97, Theorem 3.1].

65

t.

Theorem 2.5.6. If E is a right Hilbert A-module, then there is a set of operators

$$\{\phi_{\lambda}: \bigoplus_{x \in S_{\lambda}} h_x \to E : \lambda \in \Lambda\},\$$

where each S_{λ} is a finite list of \mathcal{A} -objects, such that the net of operators $\phi_{\lambda}\phi_{\lambda}^*$ converges strongly^{*} to id_E.

Proof. By the previous lemma, $\mathcal{K}(E)$ has an approximate unit $\{u_{\lambda} : \lambda \in \Lambda\}$ consisting of operators $u_{\lambda} = \sum_{x \in S_{\lambda}} \theta_x^{e_x, e_x}$. It then follows from Lemma 2.3.12 that the map $\phi_{\lambda} : \bigoplus_{x \in S_{\lambda}} h_x \to E$ defined on $h_x(y) = \mathcal{A}(y, x)$ by $a \mapsto e_x \cdot a$ is bounded and has adjoint ϕ_{λ}^* with components

$$\phi_{\lambda}^*: \begin{array}{c} E(y) \to h_x(y) \\ e' \mapsto \langle e_x, e' \rangle \end{array}$$

and one easily verifies $\phi_{\lambda}\phi_{\lambda}^{*}(e) = u_{\lambda}(e)$. Hence Lemma 2.3.8 gives us the required convergence result.

Remark 2.5.7. Note that we do not have that $S_{\lambda} \subset S_{\lambda'}$ for $\lambda < \lambda'$, and even if we did, it would not follow that $\phi_{\lambda'}$ restricts to ϕ_{λ} . Hence Theorem 2.5.6 does not allow us to embed E as a direct summand of a single infinite-dimensional free module: to do so would give an untenable generalization of the Kasparov stabilization theorem, contradicting the results in e.g. [Li10].

As an easy consequence we deduce that a Hilbert module with compact identity must be finitely generated projective:

Proposition 2.5.8. If a right Hilbert \mathcal{A} -module E has $\mathrm{id}_E \in \mathcal{K}(E)$, then E must be finitely generated and projective. If \mathcal{A} is unital, the converse holds, i.e. any finitely generated projective module has compact unit.

Proof. As noted before, an approximate unit in a unital algebra converges in the norm to the identity. Therefore if $\mathcal{K}(E)$ is unital, then by Lemma 2.5.5 the module E must have a finite set of elements $e_1 \in E(x_1), \ldots, e_n \in E(x_n)$ such that $\| \operatorname{id}_E - \sum_{i=1}^n \theta_{x_i}^{e_i,e_i} \| < 1$. But then as $\theta_{x_i}^{e_i,e_i}$ is normal, a simple functional calculus argument shows that $\sum_{i=1}^n \theta_{x_i}^{e_i,e_i}$ is invertible: a function with distance less than 1 from the constant function at 1 clearly has a multiplicative inverse. So decomposing as in Theorem 2.5.6 we see that in fact there is a compact operator $\phi : \bigoplus_{i=1}^n h_{x_i} \to E$ such that $\phi\phi^* : E \to E$ is an isomorphism. Suppose it has inverse ψ , then one easily verifies that $\phi^*\psi\phi : \bigoplus_{i=1}^n h_{x_i} \to \bigoplus_{i=1}^n h_{x_i}$ is a projection with image isomorphic to E.

For the partial converse, suppose \mathcal{A} is unital, then for any $x \in \mathsf{Ob}\mathcal{A}$ we have $\mathcal{L}(h_x, h_x) \cong \mathcal{M}\mathcal{A}(x, x) \cong \mathcal{A}(x, x) \cong \mathcal{K}(h_x, h_x)$ so we see that for any list $x_1 \ldots x_n \in \mathsf{Ob}\mathcal{A}$ the module $\bigoplus_{i=1}^n h_{x_i}$ has a compact unit given by a diagonal matrix of identities id_{x_i} . So if E is a direct summand of $\bigoplus_{i=1}^n h_{x_i}$, we immediately see we can factor the identity of E through that of $\bigoplus_{i=1}^n h_{x_i}$, meaning id_E is compact.

Chapter 3

Tensor products of bimodules

In this chapter we define the tensor product of two right Hilbert bimodules. In particular, we define for a right Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} bimodule E the tensor functor

$$-\overline{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}}E$$
: Hilb- $\mathcal{A} \to$ Hilb- \mathcal{B} .

We prove that this functor is strongly^{*} continuous on bounded subsets and prove an Eilenberg-Watts theorem stating that all unital functors satisfying this continuity requirement are in fact given by tensor products with bimodules. We finish with a Morita theorem, i.e. a result characterizing those bimodules that tensor to give *equivalences* of Hilbert module categories.

As in the previous chapter, $\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}, \mathcal{C}$ and \mathcal{D} are locally small C^* -categories.

3.1 Tensoring bimodules

In this section we present some basic results on right Hilbert bimodules of C^* -categories and their tensor products.

Recall from Chapter 2 that a right Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} bimodule is simply a C^* -functor $F : \mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{Hilb}$ - \mathcal{B} , and that we say F is *non-degenerate* when the linear span of $\bigcup_{y \in \mathsf{Ob}\,\mathcal{A}} F\mathcal{A}(y,x)(F(y))$ is dense in F(x) for all $x \in \mathsf{Ob}\,\mathcal{A}$, that is: the linear span of $\bigcup_{y \in \mathsf{Ob}\,\mathcal{A}} F\mathcal{A}(y,x)(F(y)(z))$ is dense in F(x)(z) for all $x \in \mathsf{Ob}\,\mathcal{A}$ and $z \in \mathsf{Ob}\,\mathcal{B}$.

For any $a \in \mathcal{A}(x, y), z \in \mathsf{Ob}\,\mathcal{B}$ and $e \in F(x)(z)$, we write $a \cdot e$ for F(a)(e) when the action is unambiguous.

Notice that by Proposition 1.1.46, there is a (large) C^* -category

$\operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{A}, \operatorname{\mathsf{Hilb-}}\mathcal{B})$

of right Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} bimodules. A morphism $T : E \to E'$ in this category is an natural transformation of adjointable maps with a uniform bound ||T||given by $\sup_{x \in Ob \mathcal{A}} ||T_x||_{\mathcal{L}(E(x), E'(x))}$. There is also a *strong*^{*} topology on the hom-space Fun(\mathcal{A} , Hilb- \mathcal{B})(E, E') in which $T_{\lambda} \to T$ if and only if $(T_{\lambda})_x \to T_x$ strongly^{*} for each $x \in Ob \mathcal{A}$. We can easily generalize Proposition 2.2.9 to characterize unitary isomorphisms of bimodules:

Proposition 3.1.1. If E and F are right Hilbert A-modules, and $T : E \Rightarrow F$ is a bimodule map from E to F, then T is a unitary isomorphism of right Hilbert $\mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B}$ bimodules if and only if for all objects $x \in Ob \mathcal{A}$, the map of \mathcal{B} -modules $T(x) : E(x) \to F(x)$ is surjective at every $y \in Ob \mathcal{B}$ and preserves all inner products.

Proof. It is obvious that a transformation of functors on C^* -categories is a unitary isomorphism in the functor C^* -category if and only if it is a unitary isomorphism at any object. So this follows from Proposition 2.2.9.

We continue with our first example of a non-degenerate bimodule.

Lemma 3.1.2. The Yoneda functor $\iota_{\mathcal{A}} : \mathcal{A} \hookrightarrow \mathsf{Hilb} \cdot \mathcal{A}$ is a non-degenerate $\mathcal{A} - \mathcal{A}$ bimodule.

Proof. Recall from Lemma 2.4.4 that a functor $F : \mathcal{A} \to \text{Hilb-}\mathcal{B}$ is nondegenerate if and only if for every approximate unit (u_{λ}) for $\mathcal{A}(x, x)$ and for every $z \in \text{Ob} \mathcal{B}$ and $e \in F(x)(z)$ we have $u_{\lambda} \cdot e \xrightarrow{\lambda} e$. But in the case of the Yoneda functor this follows from Corollary 2.1.9.

Lemma 3.1.3. If \mathcal{A} is a unital C^* -category, then a right Hilbert bimodule $E : \mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{B}$ is non-degenerate if and only if it is a unital functor.

Proof. Recall from Corollary 2.4.9 that E is a non-degenerate bimodule if and only if it is non-degenerate as a functor $E : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{M}(\mathcal{K}\mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{B})$, and from Remark 1.4.6 that a functor from a unital C^* -category into a multiplier category is non-degenerate if and only if it is unital. The result follows.

Corollary 3.1.4. Every right Hilbert \mathcal{A} -module E can be given the structure of a non-degenerate right Hilbert $\mathbb{C} - \mathcal{A}$ bimodule by the unique unital C^* -functor $\mathbb{C} \to \mathsf{Hilb}$ - \mathcal{A} that sends the single object of the former category to E.

We now move on to a discussion of tensor products of bimodules.

Definition 3.1.5. If $E : \mathcal{A} \to \text{Hilb-}\mathcal{B}$ and $F : \mathcal{B} \to \text{Hilb-}\mathcal{C}$ are right Hilbert bimodules, their *algebraic tensor product* $E \otimes_{\mathcal{B}} F : \mathcal{A} \to \text{Fun}(\mathcal{C}^{\text{op}}, \text{Vect}_{\mathbb{C},1})$ is defined at any two objects $x \in \text{Ob} \mathcal{A}, z \in \text{Ob} \mathcal{C}$ by taking the coend

$$E \otimes_{\mathcal{B}} F(x)(z) := \bigoplus_{y \in \mathsf{Ob} \ \mathcal{B}} E(x)(y) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} F(y)(z) \Big/ \sim 0$$

where the relation \sim is generated by identifying any pair of simple tensor elements $e \otimes f \in E(x)(y) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} F(y)(z)$ and $e' \otimes f' \in E(x)(y') \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} F(y')(z)$ such that there exists an element $b \in \mathcal{B}(y, y')$ with $e' \cdot b = e$ and $b \cdot f = f'$. The covariant action of \mathcal{A} on this space is defined by $a \cdot (e \otimes f) := (a \cdot e) \otimes f$ and the contravariant \mathcal{C} -action is given by $(e \otimes f) \cdot c := e \otimes (f \cdot c)$.

Note above that since the definition of $E \otimes_{\mathcal{B}} F(x)(z)$ involves a colimit over $Ob \mathcal{B}$, we've had to define it to lie in thet category $Vect_{\mathbb{C},1}$ of large complex vector spaces. But defining an inner product on the space helps us see that it is in fact small:

Lemma 3.1.6. For any two right Hilbert bimodules $E : \mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{B}$ and $F: \mathcal{B} \to \mathsf{Hilb}$ - \mathcal{C} and for every $x \in \mathsf{Ob}\mathcal{A}$, the value of the algebraic tensor product $E \otimes_{\mathcal{B}} F(x) : \mathcal{C}^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathsf{Vect}_{\mathbb{C},1}$ can be given an inner product satisfying the axioms of a large right pre-Hilbert C-module, defined on simple tensors $e \otimes f \in E(x)(y) \otimes F(y)(z), e' \otimes f' \in E(x)(y') \otimes F(y')(z')$ as follows:

$$\langle e \otimes f, e' \otimes f' \rangle = \langle f, \langle e, e' \rangle_E \cdot f' \rangle_F.$$

Moreover, for all $x \in Ob \mathcal{A}$, the functor $E \otimes_{\mathcal{B}} F(x)$ and its completion $E \otimes_{\mathcal{B}} F(x)$ in the norm resulting from the above inner product are in fact small vector spaces, and therefore are respectively large pre-Hilbert and Hilbert modules.

Proof. First we show that this inner product is well-defined. Take any tensor $e' \otimes f' \in E(x)(y') \otimes F(y')(z')$ and suppose that $e_0 \otimes f_0 \in E(x)(y_0) \otimes F(y_0)(z)$ and $e_1 \otimes f_1 \in E(x)(y_1) \otimes F(y_1)(z)$ are equivalent, witnessed by $b \in \mathcal{B}(y_0, y_1)$ with $e_1 \cdot b = e_0$ and $b \cdot f_0 = f_1$. Then

$$\begin{array}{ll} \langle e_0 \otimes f_0, e' \otimes f' \rangle &= \langle e_1 \cdot b \otimes f_0, e' \otimes f' \rangle \\ &= \langle f_0, \langle e_1 \cdot b, e' \rangle \cdot f' \rangle \\ &= \langle f_0, b^* \langle e_1, e' \rangle \cdot f' \rangle \\ &= \langle b \cdot f_0, \langle e_1, e' \rangle \cdot f' \rangle \\ &= \langle f_1, \langle e_1, e' \rangle \cdot f' \rangle \\ &= \langle e_1 \otimes f_1, e' \otimes f' \rangle. \end{array}$$

It is also clear that $\langle e \otimes f, e' \otimes f' \rangle = \langle e' \otimes f', e \otimes f \rangle^*$, and this tells us the product is well-defined in the second argument too. Furthermore the inner product is clearly complex linear in both arguments, so by definition of the equivalence relation defining the tensor product, the inner product is well-defined.

Naturality under \mathcal{B} -morphisms follows from the definition of the action.

Now extend the product linearly to all of $E \otimes_{\mathcal{B}} F(x)$. To show this is positive, note we can extend F to $(\mathcal{B}^{\oplus})^{\mathrm{op}}$, and then for all $y_1, \ldots y_n \in \mathsf{Ob}\,\mathcal{B}$ and $e_i \in E(x)(y_i), f_i \in F(y_i)(z_i)$ we have

$$\begin{split} \langle \sum_{i=1}^{n} e_i \otimes f_i, \sum_{i=1}^{n} e_i \otimes f_i \rangle &= \sum_{\substack{i=1,j=n \\ i=1,j=n}}^{i=n,j=n} \langle e_i \otimes f_i, e_j \otimes f_j \rangle \\ &= \sum_{\substack{i=1,j=1 \\ i=1,j=1}}^{i=n,j=n} \langle f_i, \langle e_i, e_j \rangle \cdot f_j \rangle \\ &= \langle \mathbf{f}, M \cdot \mathbf{f} \rangle_{\oplus_j F(y_j)} \end{split}$$

where $\mathbf{f} = (f_1, \dots, f_n)$ and M is the $n \times n$ matrix whose (i, j)-th entry is $\langle e_i, e_j \rangle$. Lemma 2.5.2 tells us M is positive, but notice that it follows immediately from Lemma 1.1.13 that F(M), which gives the action of M on \mathbf{f} , is positive too, and again by Lemma 2.5.1 we get that $\langle \sum_{i=1}^{n} e_i \otimes f_i, \sum_{i=1}^{n} e_i \otimes f_i \rangle$ is positive. We show finally that $E \otimes_{\mathcal{B}} F(x)(z)$ is in fact a small vector space for all

 $x \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{A}, z \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{C}$. Let S be a set of elements $s \in E(x)(y_s)$ generating

 $E(x) \in \text{Hilb-}\mathcal{B}$. Suppose that $e = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_i s_i + \sum_{j=1}^{m} s_j \cdot b_j$, where for all *i* and *j* we have $s_i \in S \cap E(x)(y), \mu_i \in \mathbb{C}, s_j \in S$, and $b_j \in \mathcal{B}(y, y_{s_j})$. Then for any $f \in F(y)(z)$, using the relationship \sim on the second sum defining *e*, we see in fact that

$$e \otimes f \in \bigoplus_{y_s \in \mathsf{Ob} \ \mathcal{B}: s \in S} E(x)(y_s) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} F(y_s)(z) \Big/ \sim$$

noting that this coend is indexed by a *set* and is hence a small vector space. But of course by definition of S generating E(x), elements e of the form described are dense in E(x)(y). Now approximating an arbitrary $e \in E(x)(y)$ by a sequence of finite sums e_n as above, we see by definition of the seminorm on $E \otimes_{\mathcal{B}} F(x)(z)$ that $e_n \otimes f \to e \otimes f$ as $n \to \infty$. Hence the small coend above is, before we complete, dense in the space of finite sums of simple tensors in the given seminorm. But then every element of $E \otimes_{\mathcal{B}} F(x)(z)$ can be identified with

some Cauchy sequence of elements in $\bigoplus_{y_s \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{B}: s \in S} E(x)(y_s) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} F(y_s)(z) / \sim$,

and hence $E \otimes_{\mathcal{B}} F(x)(z)$ is a set. It is easy to see that the space obtained by quotienting out elements with seminorm zero and completing is again small, and this is of course exactly $E \bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}} F(x)(z)$.

Lemma 3.1.7. For each $x \in Ob \mathcal{A}$, the large right Hilbert module $E \bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}} F(x)$ is in fact a right Hilbert module, i.e. is generated by a set of elements. The spaces $E \bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}} F(x)(z)$ assemble to a right Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{C} bimodule

$$E\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}}F:\mathcal{A}\to\mathsf{Hilb}-\mathcal{C}$$
.

Proof. Let S be a set of elements $s \in E(x)(y_s)$ generating E(x), and for each s let T_s be a set of elements generating $F(y_s) \in \mathsf{Hilb-C}$. Then like above, we can use the relation \sim and the definition of the norm to show that the set $\{s \otimes t : s \in S, t \in T_s\}$ generates $E \bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}} F(x)(-)$.

It is trivial to show that the action in Definition 3.1.5 gives a linear action of \mathcal{A} on the modules $E \bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}} F(x)$ which is moreover compatible with the involution, proving the final part.

A basic result on tensor products of bimodules is that they are associative up to unitary isomorphism:

Lemma 3.1.8. If E, F, and G are respectively \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B}, \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{C} and \mathcal{C} - \mathcal{D} right Hilbert bimodules, there is a canonical unitary isomorphism

$$E\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}}(F\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{C}}G)\cong (E\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}}F)\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{C}}G.$$

Proof. This isomorphism is given on simple tensors by $e \otimes (f \otimes g) \mapsto (e \otimes f) \otimes g$. It is elementary to verify that it is in fact a unitary isomorphism which is natural in all three modules.

In addition, the Yoneda bimodule functions as a tensor identity for nondegenerate bimodules: **Lemma 3.1.9.** If E is a right Hilbert A-B bimodule there is a canonical isometry of right Hilbert A-B bimodules

$$U_{\ell}: (\iota_{\mathcal{A}}) \bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}} E \xrightarrow{\cong} E$$

which is a unitary isomorphism if E is non-degenerate. Furthermore, there is always a canonical unitary isomorphism

$$U_r: E\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}}(\iota_{\mathcal{B}}) \xrightarrow{\cong} E$$

of right Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} bimodules.

Proof. The first map is given on simple tensors by $U_{\ell}(a \otimes e) = a \cdot e$, and the second by $U_r(e \otimes b) = e \cdot b$. It is elementary to verify that these maps respect the equivalence relation defining the uncompleted tensor product. They also preserve inner products:

$$\begin{array}{ll} \langle U_{\ell}(a \otimes e), U_{\ell}(a' \otimes e') \rangle &= \langle a \cdot e, a' \cdot e' \rangle \\ &= \langle e, a^*a' \cdot e' \rangle \\ &= \langle e, \langle a, a' \rangle_{h_x} \cdot e' \rangle \\ &= \langle a \otimes e, a' \otimes e' \rangle \end{array}$$

and

$$\begin{array}{ll} \langle U_r(e \otimes b), U_r(e' \otimes b) \rangle &= \langle e \cdot b, e' \cdot b' \rangle \\ &= b^* \langle e, e' \rangle b' \\ &= \langle b, \langle e, e' \rangle \cdot b' \rangle_{h_x} \\ &= \langle e \otimes b, e' \otimes b' \rangle \end{array}$$

meaning they are isometric and we can extend them to isometries on the whole module by Lemma 1.4.4. Note that if $e \in E(x)(y)$ and (u_{λ}) is an approximate unit for $\mathcal{A}(x, x)$, then $u_{\lambda} \cdot e \xrightarrow{\lambda} e$ if E is non-degenerate, and furthermore if (v_{μ}) is an approximate unit for $\mathcal{B}(y, y)$ then $e \cdot v_{\mu} \xrightarrow{\mu} e$ by Corollary 2.1.9. Hence by applying Theorem 2.1.10, we see U_{ℓ} is surjective when E is non-degenerate and U_r is always surjective. Hence by Proposition 3.1.1 we get the unitary isomorphism claims.

It is elementary to verify that the inverses of these maps are in fact their adjoints, and that they are natural in E.

We deduce that the tensor product functor is an extension (through the Yoneda embedding) of a bimodule from representable modules to arbitrary modules:

Corollary 3.1.10. If $E : \mathcal{A} \to \text{Hilb-}\mathcal{B}$ is a non-degenerate right Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} bimodule, then there is for each $x \in \text{Ob} \mathcal{A}$ a unitary isomorphism of \mathcal{B} -modules $\rho_x : h_x \bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}} E \to E(x)$, given on simple tensors $a \otimes e \in \mathcal{A}(x', x) \otimes E(x')(y)$ by

$$\rho_x(a \otimes e) = a \cdot e \in E(x)(y).$$

This isomorphism is moreover natural in x.

Proof. The map ρ_x is obtained by taking the component at x of the map U_r from Lemma 3.1.9. Naturality of ρ_x in x is obvious, and naturality of its adjoint/inverse follows from this.

Before we move onto our next proposition we need an intermediate lemma on positive operators. Recall that if a and b are two elements of a C^* -algebra A, we say $a \ge b$ if the element a - b is positive.

Lemma 3.1.11. If S is a positive operator on a right Hilbert \mathcal{D} -module H, then for any $x \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{D}$, $h \in H(x)$ we have $||S||\langle h, h \rangle \ge \langle h, Sh \rangle$ in the C*-algebra $\mathcal{D}(x, x)$. Furthermore, if $S \ge Q \ge 0$, we have $||\langle h, Sh \rangle|| \ge ||\langle h, Qh \rangle||$. If S is any operator, we have $\langle Sh, Sh \rangle \le ||S||^2 \langle h, h \rangle$.

Proof. Note by functional calculus in $\mathcal{L}(H)$ we have $||S|| \operatorname{id}_H \geq S \geq 0$ and hence $||S|| \operatorname{id}_H - S \geq 0$, hence by Lemma 2.5.1 we get

$$||S||\langle h,h\rangle - \langle h,Sh\rangle = \langle h,(||S|| \operatorname{id}_H - S)h\rangle \ge 0.$$

If $S \ge Q \ge 0$ then by applying Lemma 2.5.1 to S - Q we have

$$\langle h, Sh \rangle \ge \langle h, Qh \rangle \ge 0$$

so $\|\langle h, Sh \rangle\| \ge \langle \|h, Qh \rangle\|.$

The final result is obtained by applying the first result to the positive operator S^*S .

This allows us to prove the functoriality of the tensor product construction.

Proposition 3.1.12. For any right Hilbert \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{C} bimodule F, a bounded adjointable transformation of \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} bimodules $T : E \to E'$ induces a bounded adjointable morphism of $\mathcal{A} - \mathcal{C}$ bimodules

$$T \otimes_{\mathcal{B}} \operatorname{id} : E \bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}} F \to E' \bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}} F$$

by acting on the first coordinate.

Proof. We first define a map $T \otimes_{\mathcal{B}} \operatorname{id} : E \otimes_{\mathcal{B}} F \to E' \otimes_{\mathcal{B}} F$ on the uncompleted Hilbert modules by $(T \otimes_{\mathcal{B}} \operatorname{id})(e \otimes f) := T(e) \otimes f$. It is straightforward to show that $(T \otimes_{\mathcal{B}} \operatorname{id})^* = (T^*) \otimes_{\mathcal{B}} \operatorname{id}$ functions as an adjoint on the uncompleted module. To extend the transformation to the completed module, we must show that $T \otimes_{\mathcal{B}} \operatorname{id}$ is bounded on sums of simple tensors: more specifically, we will prove that $||T \otimes_{\mathcal{B}} \operatorname{id} || \leq ||T||$ on this subspace.

We need to show, for an arbitrary element

$$g = \sum_{i=1}^{n} e_i \otimes f_i \in E \otimes_{\mathcal{B}} F(x)(z)$$

where $e_i \otimes f_i \in E(x)(y_i) \otimes F(y_i)(z)$, that $||T|| ||g|| \ge ||(T \otimes id)(g)||$. Note that by Proposition 2.5.3 we can extend the right Hilbert \mathcal{B} -module E(x) to
a right Hilbert \mathcal{B}_{\oplus} -module $E(x)_{\oplus}$, and by Lemma 1.2.4 we can extend the C^* -functor $F : \mathcal{B} \to \mathsf{Hilb}$ - \mathcal{C} to a C^* -functor $F_{\oplus} : \mathcal{B}_{\oplus} \to \mathsf{Hilb}$ - \mathcal{C} . So writing $\mathbf{f} := (f_i) \in (F_{\oplus}(\oplus_i y_i))(z)$ and $\mathbf{e} := E(x)_{\oplus}(\oplus_i y_i)$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|T\|^2 \|g\|^2 &= \|T\|^2 \|\sum_{i,j} \langle f_i, F(\langle e_i, e_j \rangle_{E(x)})(f_j) \rangle_{F(y_i)} \| \\ &= \|\langle \mathbf{f}, F_{\oplus}(\langle \|T\| \mathbf{e}, \|T\| \mathbf{e} \rangle_{E(x)_{\oplus}})(\mathbf{f}) \rangle_{F_{\oplus}(\oplus_i y_i)} \| \\ &\geq \|\langle \mathbf{f}, F(\langle T\mathbf{e}, T\mathbf{e} \rangle)(\mathbf{f}) \rangle \| \\ &= \|(T \otimes \mathrm{id})(g)\|^2 \end{aligned}$$

where the inequality follows from Lemma 3.1.11.

By Lemma 1.4.4 we can extend $T \otimes_{\mathcal{B}} \text{id}$ to a map on the completed module $T \otimes_{\mathcal{B}} \text{id} : E \bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}} F \to E' \bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}} F$, also bounded by ||T|| and with adjoint $T^* \bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}} \text{id}$. \Box

We are now going to show that moreover, the tensoring operation above satisfies a strong^{*} continuity requirement.

Lemma 3.1.13. For any right Hilbert \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{C} bimodule F, the right tensor product with F, together with the assignment $T \mapsto T \otimes_{\mathcal{B}} \text{id defined above, gives a unital } C^*$ -functor

$$-\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}}F: \operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{A}, \operatorname{\mathsf{Hilb}}\mathcal{B}) \to \operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{A}, \operatorname{\mathsf{Hilb}}\mathcal{C})$$

which is strongly^{*} continuous on bounded subsets of operators.

Proof. It is easily verified from the definition of $T \otimes \text{id}$ that this assignment defines a C^* -functor.

So we have only left to show that if T_{λ} is a bounded net of operators in $\mathcal{L}(E, E')$ strongly^{*} converging to 0, then the net $(T_{\lambda} \otimes \mathrm{id})$ of bimodule operators in Fun $(\mathcal{A}, \mathrm{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{C})$ strongly^{*} converges to 0 too. Note that as the operators are uniformly bounded, by Lemma 1.4.2 it is enough to show convergence on simple tensors. So we note

$$\begin{aligned} \|(T_{\lambda} \otimes \mathrm{id})(e \otimes f)\|^{2} &= \|T_{\lambda}(e) \otimes f\|^{2} \\ &= \|\langle f, \langle T_{\lambda}(e), T_{\lambda}(e) \rangle \cdot f \rangle \| \\ &= \|\langle f, F(\langle T_{\lambda}(e), T_{\lambda}(e) \rangle)(f) \rangle \| \\ &\leq \|F(\langle T_{\lambda}(e), T_{\lambda}(e) \rangle)\| \|\langle f, f \rangle \| \\ &\leq \|T_{\lambda}(e)\|^{2} \|f\|^{2} \end{aligned}$$

where the first inequality follows from the last statement of Lemma 3.1.11, and the second from the norm-decreasing property of F (see Proposition 1.1.34). But by hypothesis the last term goes to zero. A similar argument applies to $(T_{\lambda} \bar{\otimes} \operatorname{id})^* = (T^*_{\lambda} \bar{\otimes} \operatorname{id})$. Hence $(T_{\lambda} \bar{\otimes} \operatorname{id})$ goes to 0 strongly^{*}.

Remark 3.1.14. From now on we will write 'strong*' instead of 'strongly* continuous on bounded subsets', for brevity.

We follow with a lemma that says the functoriality of tensor products also holds on the left. **Lemma 3.1.15.** If E is a right Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} bimodule, the left tensor product with E induces a strong^{*} unital C^{*}-functor

$$E\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}}-: \operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{B}, \operatorname{Hilb-}\mathcal{C}) \to \operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{A}, \operatorname{Hilb-}\mathcal{C}).$$

Proof. This statement is an obvious analogue of the preceding two results and its proof proceeds similarly: for right Hilbert \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{C} modules F and F' and a bounded adjointable bimodule map $S: F \to F'$ we define

$$\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathcal{B}} S : E \bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}} F \to E \bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}} F'$$

by $(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathcal{B}} S)(e \otimes f) := e \otimes S(f)$ on simple tensors. To show that $\|\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathcal{B}} S\| \leq \|S\|$ on finite sums of simple tensors, let

$$g = \sum_{i=1}^{n} e_i \otimes f_i \in E \otimes_{\mathcal{B}} F(x)(z)$$

where $e_i \otimes f_i \in E(x)(y_i) \otimes F(y_i)(z)$. Assume again that \mathcal{B} is closed under finite direct sums, writing $\mathbf{f} := (f_i) \in (F(\oplus_i y_i))(z)$ and $\mathbf{e} := E_{\oplus}(x)(\oplus_i y_i)$. Then

$$\begin{split} \|S\|^2 \|g\|^2 &= \|S\|^2 \|\sum_{i,j} \langle f_i, F(\langle e_i, e_j \rangle)(f_j) \rangle \| \\ &= \|\langle \mathbf{f}, \|S\|^2 F(\langle \mathbf{e}, \mathbf{e} \rangle)(\mathbf{f}) \rangle \| \\ &\geq \|\langle \mathbf{f}, (S^* \circ F(\langle \mathbf{e}, \mathbf{e} \rangle) \circ S)(\mathbf{f}) \rangle \| \\ &= \|\langle S(\mathbf{f}), F(\langle e, e \rangle)(S(\mathbf{f})) \rangle \| \\ &= \|(\mathrm{id} \otimes S)(g)\|^2 \end{split}$$

where in the inequality we have used Lemma 1.2.9 together with Lemma 3.1.11. Hence id $\otimes_{\mathcal{B}} S$ is bounded by ||S|| and can be extended to a natural transformation on the whole module; it also clearly has adjoint id $\otimes_{\mathcal{B}} S^*$.

To prove strong^{*} continuity on bounded subsets of operators, note that

$$\begin{aligned} \|(\mathrm{id} \otimes S)(e \otimes f)\|^2 &= \|e \otimes S(f)\|^2 \\ &= \|\langle S(f), F(\langle e, e \rangle)(S(f)) \rangle \| \\ &\leq \|F(\langle e, e \rangle)\| \|\langle S(f), S(f) \rangle \| \\ &\leq \|e\|^2 \|S(f)\|^2 \end{aligned}$$

where we have used the first part of Lemma 3.1.11 for the first inequality and the norm-decreasing property of F for the second. Hence just as in the previous proof we deduce that if (S_{λ}) is a bounded net of transformations in Fun $(\mathcal{C}, \mathsf{Hilb-}\mathcal{C})$ strongly* converging to zero, then $(\mathrm{id} \otimes S_{\lambda})$ converges strongly* to zero too.

It turns out that if E is non-degenerate, the above functor has image entirely in non-degenerate bimodules:

Lemma 3.1.16. If $E : \mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{B}$ is a non-degenerate right Hilbert bimodule and $F : \mathcal{B} \to \mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{C}$ is any right Hilbert bimodule, then the right Hilbert bimodule $E\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}}F : \mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{C}$ is also non-degenerate.

Proof. By the characterization in Theorem 1.4.5, it suffices to show that for any element $g \in E \bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}} F(x)(z)$, and approximate unit (u_{λ}) for $\mathcal{A}(x, x)$, that $u_{\lambda} \cdot g \xrightarrow{\lambda} g$ in norm. Consider first a simple tensor $e \otimes f \in E(x)(y) \otimes F(y)(z)$: note that

$$\begin{aligned} \|u_{\lambda} \cdot (e \otimes f) - e \otimes f\|^2 &= \|(u_{\lambda} \cdot e - e) \otimes f\|^2 \\ &= \|\langle f, F(\langle u_{\lambda} \cdot e - e, u_{\lambda} \cdot e - e \rangle)(f) \rangle \| \end{aligned}$$

and this last term tends to zero since $u_{\lambda} \cdot e \xrightarrow{\lambda} e$ in the norm and F is bounded.

Hence by Corollary 1.4.3 we obtain the case for general g, since every g is by definition a norm-limit of finite sums of simple tensors.

Letting now $\mathcal{A} = \mathbb{C}$ and noting that by Lemma 3.1.3 a non-degenerate right Hilbert bimodule whose left action comes from \mathbb{C} is simply a right Hilbert module, we easily derive the following proposition from Lemma 3.1.15 and Lemma 3.1.16:

Proposition 3.1.17. Given a right Hilbert \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{C} bimodule E, the tensor product above defines a strong^{*} unital C^{*}-functor

$$-\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}}E: \mathsf{Hilb}-\mathcal{B} \to \mathsf{Hilb}-\mathcal{C}.$$

We derive a corollary that characterizes which bimodules preserve compact operators upon tensoring.

Corollary 3.1.18. For a given right Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} bimodule $E : \mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{Hilb}$ - \mathcal{B} , the tensor product functor $-\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}}E : \mathsf{Hilb}-\mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{Hilb}-\mathcal{B}$ preserves compact morphisms if and only if E has image entirely in compact morphisms.

Proof. Since by Corollary 3.1.10 we have $E \cong (-\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}} E) \circ \iota_{\mathcal{A}}$ and by Lemma 2.3.9 the image of $\iota_{\mathcal{A}}$ consists of compact operators, the 'only if' direction is clear.

For the converse, note that by Proposition 2.3.14 the ideal \mathcal{K} Hilb- \mathcal{A} is generated by the image of $\iota_{\mathcal{A}}$, so if E has image in \mathcal{K} Hilb- \mathcal{B} , we have that $-\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}}E$ sends all of \mathcal{K} Hilb- \mathcal{A} to compact morphisms since it is an extension of E through $\iota_{\mathcal{A}}$.

The point of the following section is to prove a converse to Proposition 3.1.17: that is, to prove that up to unitary isomorphism, tensor products by right Hilbert \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{C} bimodules in fact make up *all strong*^{*} *unital functors* from Hilb- \mathcal{B} to Hilb- \mathcal{C} .

3.2 The Eilenberg-Watts theorem

In this section we prove the C^* -categorical Eilenberg-Watts theorem, which establishes a 1-1 correspondence between bimodules and strong^{*} functors on categories of Hilbert modules. We begin by establishing the Eilenberg-Watts map and its naturality.

Definition 3.2.1. If F: Hilb- $\mathcal{A} \to$ Hilb- \mathcal{B} is a strong^{*} unital C^* -functor, E is the composition $E := F \circ \iota_{\mathcal{A}} : \mathcal{A} \to$ Hilb- \mathcal{B} , and M is a right Hilbert \mathcal{A} -module, we define the *Eilenberg-Watts map*

$$\psi_M: M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} E \to F(M)$$

on simple tensors $m \otimes e \in M(x) \otimes E(x)(z)$ by

$$\psi_M(m \otimes e) := F(\epsilon_m)(e) \in F(M)(z),$$

where $\epsilon_m \in \mathcal{K}(h_x, M)$ is defined as in Lemma 2.3.12.

Lemma 3.2.2. The Eilenberg-Watts map as defined above is well-defined and extends to an map $\psi_M : M \bar{\otimes}_A E \to F(M)$ on the completed module which is natural in M and in F, and which moreover preserves all inner products.

Proof. We show first that ψ is well-defined on the uncompleted module $M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} E$: recall that $m \otimes e \in M(x) \otimes E(x)(z)$ and $m' \otimes e' \in M(x') \otimes E(x')(z)$ are identified in $M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} E(z)$ whenever there exists an element $a \in \mathcal{A}(x, x')$ such that we have $m' \cdot a = m$ and $a \cdot e = e'$. But then

$$\psi_x(m' \otimes e') = F(\epsilon_{m'})(e') = F(\epsilon_{m'})(a \cdot e) = F(\epsilon_{m'} \circ \iota(a))(e) = F(\epsilon_{m' \cdot a})(e) = F(\epsilon_m)(e) = \psi_x(m \otimes e).$$

To see that ψ is a map of \mathcal{B} -modules, take $m \otimes e \in M(x) \otimes E(x)(z)$ and a morphism $b \in \mathcal{B}(z', z)$. Then note

$$\psi((m \otimes e) \cdot b) = \psi(m \otimes (e \cdot b)) = F(\epsilon_m)(e \cdot b) = F(\epsilon_m)(e) \cdot b = \psi(m \otimes e) \cdot b$$

as $F(\epsilon_m)$ is a \mathcal{B} -module map.

To extend ψ and show that it preserves inner products, take simple tensors $m \otimes e \in M(x) \otimes E(x)(z)$ and $m' \otimes e' \in M(y) \otimes E(y)(z)$, and note that from Lemma 2.3.12 we get that $\epsilon^*_{m'} \epsilon_m = \iota(\langle m', m \rangle)$. So we have

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \psi(m \otimes e), \psi(m' \otimes e') \rangle &= \langle F(\epsilon_m)(e), F(\epsilon_{m'})(e') \rangle &= \langle e, F(\epsilon_{m'}^* \epsilon_m)(e) \rangle \\ &= \langle e, E(\langle m, m' \rangle)(e) \rangle &= \langle m \otimes e, m' \otimes e' \rangle. \end{aligned}$$

Hence we see ψ preserves all inner products on simple tensors and finite sums thereof, so by Lemma 1.4.4 it extends to an isometry on $M \bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}} E$ which must also preserve inner products.

Recall from Lemma 2.3.12 that for a bounded adjointable operator of right Hilbert \mathcal{A} -modules $\phi : M \to N$ we have $\phi \circ \epsilon_m = \epsilon_{\phi(m)}$. To prove naturality of ψ_M in M, we must show that $F(\phi) \circ \psi_M = \psi_N \circ (\phi \otimes id)$. But note for $m \otimes e \in M \otimes E$ that

$$(F(\phi) \circ \psi_M)(m \otimes e) = F(\phi)F(\epsilon_m)(e) = F(\phi\epsilon_m)(e) = F(\epsilon_{\phi(m)})(e) = \psi_N(\phi(m) \otimes e) = \psi_N((\phi \otimes id)(m \otimes e))$$

proving naturality on simple tensors, and hence again on the whole module. \Box

Having defined the natural transformation ψ , we show in a few steps that it is a natural unitary isomorphism, beginning with the case for representable modules.

Proposition 3.2.3. For F: Hilb- $\mathcal{A} \to$ Hilb- \mathcal{B} and ψ : $-\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}}(F \circ \iota) \Rightarrow F$ as above, ψ is a unitary isomorphism on the subcategory of representable right Hilbert \mathcal{A} -modules and their finite direct sums.

Proof. We have shown so far that ψ preserves all inner products, so by Proposition 2.2.9 we only have left to show that for each $x \in \mathsf{Ob}\mathcal{A}$, the \mathcal{B} -module map $\psi_{h_x} : h_x \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} (F \circ \iota) \to F(h_x)$ is surjective at each $y \in \mathsf{Ob}\mathcal{B}$. But this is just an instance of Corollary 3.1.10 for the bimodule $F \circ \iota$.

Finally, F, being a unital C^* -functor, must preserve finite direct sums, and we easily deduce ψ is a unitary isomorphism on these, too.

We are now in a position to prove the Eilenberg-Watts theorem using the finite free approximation result at the end of the previous chapter.

Theorem 3.2.4 (c.f. [Ble97, Theorem 5.4]). If $F : \text{Hilb-}\mathcal{A} \to \text{Hilb-}\mathcal{B}$ is a strong^{*} unital functor, the Eilenberg-Watts map $\psi_M : M \otimes (F \circ \iota_{\mathcal{A}}) \to F(M)$ is a unitary isomorphism on every right Hilbert \mathcal{A} -module M.

Proof. As above, we only have left to show that ψ_M is surjective at every $y \in \mathsf{Ob}\mathcal{B}$. Recall from Theorem 2.5.6 that there exists a set of operators $\phi_{\lambda} : \bigoplus_{x \in S_{\lambda}} h_x \to M$, where each $S_{\lambda} : \lambda \in \Lambda$ is a finite list of \mathcal{B} -objects, such that the net of operators $\phi_{\lambda}\phi_{\lambda}^*$ converges strongly^{*} to id_M . Writing S for S_{λ} we have a diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} M \bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}} E & \stackrel{\psi_M}{\longrightarrow} F(M) \\ \phi_{\lambda}^* \otimes \mathrm{id} & F(\phi_{\lambda}^*) \downarrow \uparrow F(\phi_{\lambda}) \\ (\oplus_S h_s) \bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}} E & \stackrel{\psi_{\oplus_S h_s}}{\longrightarrow} F(\oplus_S h_s) \end{array}$$

where the two squares with vertical arrows pointing in the same direction both commute by the naturality of ψ . We aim to show the top horizontal map is surjective at any $y \in \operatorname{Ob} \mathcal{B}$, so take an arbitrary $f \in F(M)(y)$. We know by Proposition 3.2.3 that $\psi_{\oplus Sh_s}$ is surjective at every object, so we have $F(\phi^*_{\Delta})(f) = \psi_{\oplus Sh_s}(t)$ for some $t \in (\oplus_S h_s) \bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}} E(y)$.

So we have

$$F(\phi_{\lambda}\phi_{\lambda}^{*})(f) = F(\phi_{\lambda})(\psi_{\oplus Sh_{s}}(t)) = \psi_{M}((\phi_{\lambda} \otimes \mathrm{id})(t)) \in \mathrm{im} \ \psi_{M}.$$

But F is strong^{*} and unital and $\phi_{\lambda}\phi_{\lambda}^{*}$ is a bounded net, so $F(\phi_{\lambda}\phi_{\lambda}^{*}) \xrightarrow{\lambda} \mathrm{id}_{F(M)}$ strongly^{*}, and we get $F(\phi_{\lambda}\phi_{\lambda}^{*})(f) \xrightarrow{\lambda} f$. So ψ_{M} has dense image, so by Lemma 1.4.4 it is surjective.

There is a related result about module categories that uses the approximate projectivity of Hilbert modules in a similar way:

Lemma 3.2.5. Suppose F, F': Hilb- $\mathcal{A} \to \text{Hilb-}\mathcal{B}$ are strong^{*} unital C^{*}-functors, and let

$$\eta, \zeta: F \Rightarrow F'$$

be two (bounded, adjointable) natural transformations. If η and ζ agree on representable modules, then $\eta = \zeta$.

Proof. Since $\eta - \zeta : F \Rightarrow F'$ is another bounded adjointable natural transformation, it suffices to show that if $\xi : F \Rightarrow F'$ is zero on representable modules, then $\xi = 0$.

Recall once more from Theorem 2.5.6 that there exists a set $\{\phi_{\lambda} : \lambda \in \Lambda\}$ of bounded adjointable operators $\phi_{\lambda} : \bigoplus_{x \in S_{\lambda}} h_x \to M$ (where S_{λ} is a finite list of \mathcal{B} -objects for each $\lambda \in \Lambda$) such that the net of operators $\phi_{\lambda}\phi_{\lambda}^*$ converges strongly^{*} to id_M . We hence have for each $S := S_{\lambda}$ a diagram

$$F(M) \xrightarrow{\xi_M} F'(M)$$

$$F(\phi_{\lambda}^*) \downarrow \uparrow F(\phi_{\lambda}) \xrightarrow{F'(\phi_{\lambda}^*)} \downarrow \uparrow F'(\phi_{\lambda})$$

$$F(\oplus_S h_s) \xrightarrow{\xi_{\oplus_S h_s}} F'(\oplus_S h_s)$$

We want to show for an arbitrary $f \in F(M)(x), x \in \mathsf{Ob}\mathcal{B}$ that $\xi_M(f) = 0$. Since $F(\phi_\lambda)F(\phi_\lambda^*) \xrightarrow{\lambda} \mathrm{id}_{F(M)}$ strongly^{*}, we have $F(\phi_\lambda)F(\phi_\lambda^*)(f) \to f$. At the same time, since $\xi_{\oplus_S h_s} = 0$, by naturality of ξ we get

$$(\xi_M \circ F(\phi_\lambda) \circ F(\phi_\lambda^*))(f) = (F'(\phi_\lambda) \circ \xi_{\oplus_S h_s} \circ F(\phi_\lambda^*))(f) = 0.$$

Hence we have a net of elements converging in the norm to f which are in the kernel of the bounded map ξ_M , so $\xi_M(f) = 0$.

Another way of formulating this result is: if $\eta : -\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}} E \Rightarrow \bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}} E'$ is any transformation of tensor product functors, it is in fact given on each module by tensoring with a fixed module map $\epsilon : E \to E'$, which can be obtained by whiskering η through $\iota_{\mathcal{A}}$.

3.3 Bi-Hilbert and imprimitivity modules

Up until now we have discussed bimodules which have inner products valued in the C^* -category acting on the right. In this section we discuss bimodules with products in both categories, and see that a subclass of these 'bi-Hilbert' bimodules are exactly those bimodules that give Morita equivalences, that is equivalences of module categories.

The thesis [Fer23] investigated the same question for small C^* -categories, with one key step being a result ([Fer23, Theorem 6.3.1]) saying that each small C^* -category is Morita equivalent to a C^* -algebra. We do not assume smallness so we take a somewhat different approach, adapting directly the results from [RW98, Chapter 3] and [Ech+06, Chapter 1] that characterize which bimodules give Morita equivalences in the C^* -algebra case. The aforementioned category-algebra equivalence becomes an example in this framework (see Proposition 3.4.9).

We begin by setting up the tools for 'switching' between two actions of non-unital categories.

For the following lemmas, recall from Definition 1.1.39 that for a C^* category \mathcal{A} we denote by \mathcal{A}^+ the *minimal unitization* of \mathcal{A} and from Definition 1.1.41 that for any C^* -category \mathcal{A} and unital complex category \mathcal{C} we denote by Fun^u(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{C}) the category of functors from \mathcal{A} to \mathcal{C} that restrict to unital maps on all unital endomorphism algebras in \mathcal{A} .

Lemma 3.3.1. Let \mathcal{A} be a C^* -category and $E : \mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathsf{Vect}_{\mathbb{C},0}$ be a right Hilbert \mathcal{A} -module. Then E is an object of $\mathrm{Fun}^{\mathrm{u}}(\mathcal{A}, \mathsf{Vect}_{\mathbb{C},0})$.

Proof. We need to show that any existing units in \mathcal{A} act unitally on the component spaces of E: but this follows immediately from Corollary 2.1.11.

Lemma 3.3.2. Let \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} be C^* -categories. There exist natural isomorphisms

 $\begin{array}{ll} \operatorname{Fun}^{\mathrm{u}}(\mathcal{A},\operatorname{Fun}^{\mathrm{u}}(\mathcal{B}^{\operatorname{op}},\operatorname{\mathsf{Vect}}_{\mathbb{C},0})) &\cong \operatorname{Fun}^{\mathrm{u}}(\mathcal{A}^+,\operatorname{Fun}^{\mathrm{u}}(\mathcal{B}^{\operatorname{op}+},\operatorname{\mathsf{Vect}}_{\mathbb{C},0})) \\ &\cong \operatorname{Fun}^{\mathrm{u}}(\mathcal{A}^+\times\mathcal{B}^{\operatorname{op}+},\operatorname{\mathsf{Vect}}_{\mathbb{C},0})) &\cong \operatorname{Fun}^{\mathrm{u}}(\mathcal{B}^{\operatorname{op}+},\operatorname{Fun}^{\mathrm{u}}(\mathcal{A}^+,\operatorname{\mathsf{Vect}}_{\mathbb{C},0})) \\ &\cong \operatorname{Fun}^{\mathrm{u}}(\mathcal{B}^{\operatorname{op}},\operatorname{Fun}^{\mathrm{u}}(\mathcal{A},\operatorname{\mathsf{Vect}}_{\mathbb{C},0})). \end{array}$

Proof. The first and final isomorphisms follow by repeated application of Proposition 1.1.42, and the middle two are simply currying of unital functors. \Box

For the rest of this chapter we will identify functors with their images under these isomorphisms, for the sake of conceptual simplicity.

Finally, recall from Section 2.1 that we can define a left Hilbert \mathcal{A} -module as a right Hilbert \mathcal{A}^{op} -module, or equivalently as a functor $E : \mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{Vect}_{\mathbb{C},0}$ with inner products $\langle -, - \rangle : E(x) \times E(y) \to \mathcal{A}(y, x)$ which are linear in the first variable and conjugate linear in the second, such that $\langle a \cdot e, f \rangle = a \circ \langle e, f \rangle$, and such that they satisfy the rest of the Hilbert module axioms verbatim.

Definition 3.3.3. If \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} are C^* -categories, a *bi-Hilbert* \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} *bimodule* is a functor $E : \mathcal{A}^+ \times \mathcal{B}^{\text{op}+} \to \text{Vect}_{\mathbb{C},0}$ which is equipped for all $x \in \text{Ob }\mathcal{A}, y \in \text{Ob }\mathcal{B}$ with \mathcal{A} -valued products

$$_{\mathcal{A}}\langle -, - \rangle : E(x')(y) \times E(x)(y) \to \mathcal{A}(x, x')$$

and \mathcal{B} -valued products

$$\langle -, - \rangle_{\mathcal{B}} : E(x)(y') \times E(x)(y) \to \mathcal{B}(y, y')$$

which give E (or rather, its images under Lemma 3.3.2) the structure of both an \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} right Hilbert bimodule and a \mathcal{B}^{op} - \mathcal{A}^{op} right Hilbert bimodule. Unpacking this a little, we require that:

- E(x)(-) is a right Hilbert \mathcal{B} -module for each $x \in \mathsf{Ob}\mathcal{A}$, with product $\langle -, \rangle_{\mathcal{B}}$ and right action by morphisms of the form (id_x, b) .
- E(-)(y) is a left Hilbert A-module for each y ∈ Ob B, with product A⟨−, −⟩ and left action by morphisms of the form (a, id_y)
- The action of $a \in \mathcal{A}$ on the \mathcal{B} -modules is bounded by ||a|| and adjoint to the action of a^* ; similarly for the action of $b \in \mathcal{B}$ on the \mathcal{A} -modules. Writing this out in equations, we get

$$\begin{array}{lll} \langle e, a \cdot f \rangle_{\mathcal{B}} &= \langle a^* \cdot e, f \rangle_{\mathcal{B}} & \text{and} & \|\langle a \cdot e, a \cdot e \rangle_{\mathcal{B}} \| &\leq \|a\|^2 \|\langle e, e \rangle_{\mathcal{B}} \| \\ _{\mathcal{A}} \langle e, f \cdot b \rangle &= _{\mathcal{A}} \langle e \cdot b^*, f \rangle & \text{and} & \|_{\mathcal{A}} \langle e \cdot b, e \cdot b \rangle \| &\leq \|b\|^2 \|_{\mathcal{A}} \langle e, e \rangle \|. \end{array}$$

We write

$$E^1: \mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{B}$$

and

 $E^2: \mathcal{B}^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{op}}$

for the two right Hilbert bimodule 'components' of E when it is necessary to consider them separately, but will generally speak simply of E. These two bimodules are automatically non-degenerate:

Lemma 3.3.4. If E is a bi-Hilbert bimodule, the bimodules $E^1 : \mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{Hilb}-\mathcal{B}$ and $E^2 : \mathcal{B}^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathsf{Hilb}-\mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{op}}$ are non-degenerate.

Proof. Take any $x \in \operatorname{Ob} \mathcal{A}, y \in \operatorname{Ob} \mathcal{B}, e \in E(x)(y)$, and note that we can identify $E(x)(y) = E^1(x)(y) = E^2(y)(x)$. By Lemma 2.4.4 it suffices to show that for any approximate unit (u_{λ}) for $\mathcal{A}(x, x)$ we have $E^1(u_{\lambda})(e) \xrightarrow{\lambda} e$. But note that $E^1(u_{\lambda})(e) = e \cdot u_{\lambda} \in E^2(y)(x)$, and that (u_{λ}) is certainly an approximate unit of $\mathcal{A}^{\operatorname{op}}(x, x)$. So by Corollary 2.1.9 we have that $e \cdot u_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{\lambda} e$, proving the lemma. The non-degeneracy of E^2 follows similarly. \Box

Definition 3.3.5. For any right Hilbert bimodule $E : \mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{Hilb} - \mathcal{B}$, we let

 $\langle E, E \rangle$

denote the subcategory of \mathcal{B} given by the linear span of the inner products $\langle e, f \rangle \in \mathcal{B}(y, y')$ for all objects $x \in \mathsf{Ob}\mathcal{A}, y, y' \in \mathsf{Ob}\mathcal{B}$ and module elements $e \in E(x)(y'), f \in E(x)(y)$. Noting that this subcategory is closed under the involution and under multiplication by outside elements, we denote by

 $\overline{\langle E, E \rangle}$

the ideal given by its norm closure. We say that E is *essential* if $\overline{\langle E, E \rangle}$ is an essential ideal and that E is *full* if $\overline{\langle E, E \rangle} = \mathcal{B}$.

Example 3.3.6. The Yoneda bimodule $\iota_{\mathcal{A}} : \mathcal{A} \hookrightarrow \mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{A}$ is full: note that $\langle \iota_{\mathcal{A}}, \iota_{\mathcal{A}} \rangle$ consists of all morphisms of \mathcal{A} which factorize through some object, but by Lemma 1.2.7 this is all of \mathcal{A} .

We are interested in bi-Hilbert bimodules that satisfy an additional axiom on the inner products:

Definition 3.3.7. A bi-Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} bimodule E is termed a partial imprimitivity \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} bimodule when for all elements $e \in E(x)(y), f \in E(x')(y)$ and $g \in E(x')(y')$ the imprimitivity equation

$${}_{\mathcal{A}}\langle e, f \rangle \cdot g = e \cdot \langle f, g \rangle_{\mathcal{B}},$$

holds in E(x)(y'). It is called *right essential* if the bimodule $E^1 : \mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{Hilb}\mathcal{B}$ is essential, *right full* if E^1 is full, *left-essential* if $E^2 : \mathcal{B}^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathsf{Hilb}\mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{op}}$ is essential and *left-full* if E^2 is full. A partial imprimitivity bimodule E is called an $\mathcal{A}\mathcal{B}$ *imprimitivity bimodule* if both E^1 and E^2 are full.

Remark 3.3.8. In [Ech+06], which treats the C^* -algebra case, bimodules which are left full in our terminology are termed 'right partial', and vice versa. We modify their terminology here since strictly it implies that modules have full products on both sides when they are both left and right partial, a rather unintuitive statement.

Example 3.3.9. The representation bimodule $\iota_{\mathcal{A}} : \mathcal{A} \hookrightarrow \text{Hilb-}\mathcal{A}$ can be given the structure of a bi-Hilbert bimodule by setting for $a \in h_x(y), b \in h_z(y)$ the product $\mathcal{A}\langle a, b \rangle := a \circ b^*$, and we see immediately that this is a partial imprimitivity bimodule since $\mathcal{A}\langle a, b \rangle \cdot c = a \circ b^* \circ c = a \cdot \langle b, c \rangle_{\mathcal{A}}$. As explained in the previous example, it is evident that both products are full, so $\iota_{\mathcal{A}}$ is in fact an $\mathcal{A} - \mathcal{A}$ imprimitivity bimodule.

Lemma 3.3.10. If E is a partial imprimitivity \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} bimodule, the two norms on each space E(x)(y) given by the \mathcal{A} - and \mathcal{B} -valued product are equal.

Proof. Note that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\langle e, e \rangle_{\mathcal{B}} \|^2 &= \|\langle e, e \rangle_{\mathcal{B}} \langle e, e \rangle_{\mathcal{B}} \| &= \|\langle e, e \cdot \langle e, e \rangle_{\mathcal{B}} \rangle_{\mathcal{B}} \| \\ &= \|\langle e, {}_{\mathcal{A}} \langle e, e \rangle \cdot e \rangle_{\mathcal{B}} \| &\leq \|\langle e, e \rangle_{\mathcal{B}} \| \|_{\mathcal{A}} \langle e, e \rangle \| \end{aligned}$$

where the last inequality follows from Lemma 3.1.11.

So for $e \neq 0$ we can divide to get $\|\langle e, e \rangle_{\mathcal{B}}\| \leq \|_{\mathcal{A}} \langle e, e \rangle\|$, and it follows similarly that $\|_{\mathcal{A}} \langle e, e \rangle\| \leq \|\langle e, e \rangle_{\mathcal{B}}\|$, proving the lemma.

The imprimitivity equation gives us significant control over both actions:

Lemma 3.3.11. If E is a partial imprimitivity \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} bimodule, the images

$$E^{1}(\mathcal{A}\langle E^{2}, E^{2}\rangle(x, x')) \subseteq \mathcal{L}(E^{1}(x), E^{1}(x'))$$

and

$$E^{2}(\langle E^{1}, E^{1} \rangle_{\mathcal{B}}(y, y')) \subseteq \mathcal{L}(E^{2}(y), E^{2}(y'))$$

both consist of exactly the finite-rank operators.

Proof. The imprimitivity equation states that $E^1(\mathcal{A}\langle e, f \rangle)(g) = \theta^{e,f}(g)$, so as E^1 is additive and continuous we get the first result.

The analogous result on E^2 follows similarly as the imprimitivity equation gives $E^2(\langle f, g \rangle_{\mathcal{B}})(e) = \theta^{g,f}(e)$.

Given additional information about the products, we can deduce that the actions of both categories are entirely compact:

Lemma 3.3.12. If E is a left-essential partial imprimitivity \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} bimodule, then in fact E^1 is an isometry on hom-spaces and satisfies

$$E^{1}(\mathcal{A}\langle \overline{E^{2}, E^{2}}\rangle(x, x')) = \mathcal{K}(E^{1}(x), E^{1}(x')),$$

and if E is left full, E^1 gives a surjection of $\mathcal{A}(x, x')$ onto $\mathcal{K}(E^1(x), E^1(x'))$. Similarly, if E is right-essential, E^2 acts isometrically and we have

$$E^{2}(\overline{\langle E^{1}, E^{1} \rangle_{\mathcal{B}}}(y', y)) = \mathcal{K}(E^{1}(y), E^{1}(y')),$$

and if E is right-full, E^2 in addition surjects $\mathcal{B}(y', y)$ onto $\mathcal{K}(E^1(y), E^1(y'))$.

Proof. We show that if E is left essential, E^1 acts isometrically on hom-spaces. Suppose $E^1(a) = 0$, then for all e, f we have $a \circ_{\mathcal{A}} \langle e, f \rangle = {}_{\mathcal{A}} \langle E^1(a)(e), f \rangle = 0$, so as $\langle E^2, E^2 \rangle$ is essential, we in fact have a = 0. Hence E^1 is faithful and by Proposition 1.1.34 in fact acts isometrically, and in particular preserves closures of sets. So if E^2 is in fact full, clearly the final result on E^1 follows from Lemma 3.3.11.

The dual results follow similarly.

We'd like to build up to a converse to the above lemma, that specifies exactly when a right Hilbert bimodule is one 'half' of an imprimitivity bimodule.

Lemma 3.3.13. If \mathcal{D} is a subcategory of Hilb- \mathcal{B} containing all the compact operators between its objects, then for every $y \in \mathsf{Ob}\mathcal{B}$ there is a large left Hilbert \mathcal{D} -module

$$F_y: \mathcal{D} \to \mathsf{Vect}_{\mathbb{C},0}$$

given by

- $F_y(D) := D(y)$ for all $D \in \mathsf{Ob}\,\mathcal{D}$,
- $F_y(T) := T_y : D(y) \to D'(y)$ for all $T \in \mathcal{L}(D, D')$, and
- $\mathcal{D}\langle d, d' \rangle := \theta_u^{d,d'} \in \mathcal{K}(D', D)$

Proof. Note firstly that $\theta^{e,f} = (\theta^{f,e})^*$ and that $T \circ \theta^{e,f} = \theta^{T(e),f}$. To see for any $E \in \operatorname{Ob} \mathcal{D}, e \in E(y)$, that $\mathcal{D}\langle e, e \rangle = \theta^{e,e}_y \in \mathcal{KD}(E, E)$ is positive, note that for all $f \in E(x)$ we have $\langle f, \theta^{e,e}_y(f) \rangle = \langle f, e \rangle \langle e, f \rangle \geq 0$, so by Lemma 2.5.1 we get positivity. Finally if $\theta^{e,e}_y = 0$, then $\langle e, e \rangle^2 = \langle e, \theta^{e,e}(e) \rangle = 0$ so e = 0.

Every space in the bimodule is complete in this norm as it is equivalent to the \mathcal{B} -norm; note that the proof of Lemma 3.3.10 uses only the imprimitivity

equation and the compatibility of the actions. The action of \mathcal{B} is bounded in the \mathcal{D} -norm since by Corollary 2.1.6 it is bounded in the \mathcal{B} -norm and the two norms are equal, and finally it is adjointable since $\theta^{e,f\cdot b} = \theta^{e\cdot b^*,f}$. This completes the proof.

Definition 3.3.14. A subcategory $\mathcal{D} \subseteq \text{Hilb-}\mathcal{B}$ containing all compact operators between its objects is called *left small* if for all objects $y \in \text{Ob}\mathcal{B}$, the large left Hilbert \mathcal{D} -module F_y is generated by a set of elements. A bimodule $E : \mathcal{A} \to \text{Hilb-}\mathcal{B}$ is called left small if its image is.

Example 3.3.15. If $\mathcal{D} \subseteq \mathsf{Hilb}$ - \mathcal{B} is small then \mathcal{D} is left small by Lemma 2.1.15.

Lemma 3.3.16. If $\mathcal{D} \subseteq \mathsf{Hilb}$ - \mathcal{B} contains every representable right Hilbert \mathcal{B} -module, then it is left small.

Proof. Recall that by Corollary 2.1.11, for all $D \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{D}, y \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{B}$ and $d \in D(y)$ there exist $d' \in D(y)$ and $b \in \mathcal{B}(y, y)$ such that $d = d' \cdot b$. But then $d = \epsilon_{d'}(b)$, where $\epsilon_{d'} \in \mathcal{K}(h_y, D)$ is the map defined in Lemma 2.3.12. Therefore we see that for each $y \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{B}$, the set $\mathcal{B}(y, y) \subseteq h_y(y)$ generates the \mathcal{D} -module F_y . \Box

We can promote the above left-valued product to a left essential imprimitivity bimodule:

Proposition 3.3.17. Suppose $\mathcal{D} \subseteq \text{Hilb-}\mathcal{B}$ is a left small subcategory containing all compact operators between its objects. Then the inclusion

$$\Delta_1 : \mathcal{D} \hookrightarrow \mathsf{Hilb} \mathcal{B}$$

can be given the structure of a left-essential \mathcal{D} - \mathcal{B} imprimitivity bimodule Δ with other half

$$\Delta_2: \mathcal{B}^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{D}^{\mathrm{op}}$$

defined by setting $\Delta_2(y) = F_y$, where the latter is defined in Lemma 3.3.13. Furthermore, Δ is an imprimitivity bimodule if and only if \mathcal{D} contains precisely the compact operators and the bimodule $\Delta_1 : \mathcal{D} \hookrightarrow \text{Hilb-}\mathcal{B}$ is full.

Proof. The left action of \mathcal{B} on the modules F_y is obvious, and the imprimitivity equation follows immediately from the definition of $\mathcal{D}\langle -, -\rangle$.

Left essentiality follows a fortiori from the fact that \mathcal{K} Hilb- \mathcal{B} is essential in Hilb- \mathcal{B} , and left fullness is clearly equivalent to asking that \mathcal{D} contains only compact operators. So Δ is an imprimitivity bimodule with described left product if it is also right full.

Corollary 3.3.18. Every C^* -category \mathcal{B} is linked to its own category of right Hilbert modules and compact operators \mathcal{K} Hilb- \mathcal{B} by an imprimitivity bimodule.

Proof. In the above lemma, simply let $\mathcal{D} = \mathcal{K}\mathsf{Hilb}$ - \mathcal{B} : this is clearly full by considering for example the inner products on representable modules, and by Lemma 3.3.16

Proposition 3.3.17 and Lemma 3.3.12 together allow us to give a complete characterization of which bimodules come from imprimitivity bimodules:

Proposition 3.3.19. A bimodule $E^1 : \mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{B}$ can be given the structure of a left-full partial imprimitivity bimodule if and only if E^1 is left small and is a faithful functor that surjects onto the compact operators between the modules in its image. In this case the \mathcal{A} -valued product must equal $_{\mathcal{A}}\langle e, f \rangle = \theta^{e,f}$. This is an imprimitivity bimodule if and only if E^1 is full.

Hence we see that for a given right Hilbert bimodule, being an imprimitivity bimodule or not is a *property* rather than a structure.

3.4 Morita equivalences of C^{*}-categories

The reason to study imprimitivity bimodules is that as in the C^* -algebra case, they turn out to be exactly the bimodules that induce strong^{*} unitary equivalences of Hilbert module categories.

Definition 3.4.1. If $E : \mathcal{A}^+ \times \mathcal{B}^{op+} \to \mathsf{Vect}_{\mathbb{C},0}$ is a bi-Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} bimodule, its *conjugate*

$$E: \mathcal{B}^+ \times \mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{op}+} \to \mathsf{Vect}_{\mathbb{C},0}$$

is the bi-Hilbert \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{A} bimodule defined as follows:

- For $x \in Ob \mathcal{A}$ and $y \in Ob \mathcal{B}$ we set $\tilde{E}(y)(x) = E(x)(y)^*$, where * denotes the conjugate of a complex vector space.
- For any morphisms $a \in \mathcal{A}^+(x_1, x_2)$ and $b \in \mathcal{B}^+(y_1, y_2)$, and $e \in E(x_2, y_2)$, we define the action¹ by $\widetilde{E}(b, a)(\widetilde{e}) = E(\widetilde{a^*, b^*})(e)$, where e.g. \widetilde{e} signifies the element of $\widetilde{E}(x_2, y_2)$ corresponding to $e \in E(x_2, y_2)$.
- \widetilde{E} has products $_{\mathcal{B}}\langle -, -\rangle$ and $\langle -, -\rangle_{\mathcal{A}}$ defined by setting $_{\mathcal{B}}\langle \widetilde{e}, \widetilde{f} \rangle = \langle e, f \rangle_{\mathcal{B}}$ and $\langle \widetilde{e}, \widetilde{f} \rangle_{\mathcal{A}} = _{\mathcal{A}}\langle e, f \rangle$ where e.g. $\widetilde{e} \in \widetilde{E}(y)(x)$ denotes the element of the conjugate space corresponding to $e \in E(x)(y)$.

Just like we write $E^1 : \mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{B}$ and $E^2 : \mathcal{B}^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{op}}$ for the 'components' of E, we denote by

$$\widetilde{E}^1: \mathcal{B} \to \mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{A}$$

and

$$\widetilde{E}^2:\mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{op}} o\mathsf{Hilb} extsf{-}\mathcal{B}^{\mathrm{op}}$$

the two right Hilbert bimodules associated to \tilde{E} . It is immediate that many properties of \tilde{E} carry over from E, namely:

¹Note that \widetilde{E} is a \mathbb{C} -linear functor since $\widetilde{E}(\lambda(a,b))(\widetilde{e}) := (E(\overline{\lambda}a^*, \overline{\lambda}b^*)(e)) = (\overline{\lambda}E(a^*, b^*)(e)) = \lambda\widetilde{E}(a,b)(\widetilde{e}).$

- \widetilde{E} is a partial imprimitivity bimodule if and only if E is.
- \tilde{E} is left essential/full, respectively right essential/full if and only if E is right essential/full, respectively left essential/full.

Imprimitivity bimodules over small C^* -categories were termed 'equivalence bimodules' in [Fer23]: we stick here to imprimitivity bimodules to emphasize the analogy with the C^* -algebra case.

We begin by proving that an imprimitivity bimodule is invertible under the tensor product.

Proposition 3.4.2. If E is a partial imprimitivity bi-Hilbert A-B bimodule, there are isometric bimodule maps

$$\phi: \widetilde{E}^1 \bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}} E^1 \to \iota_{\mathcal{B}}$$

and

$$\psi: E^1 \bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}} \widetilde{E}^1 \to \iota_{\mathcal{A}}$$

If E is right-full, ϕ is a unitary isomorphism, and if E is left-full, ψ is a unitary isomorphism.

Proof. We construct ϕ first. For all $y, y' \in \mathsf{Ob}\,\mathcal{B}$ we define the bimodule map

$$\phi: (E^1 \otimes_{\mathcal{B}} E^1)(y)(y') \to \iota_{\mathcal{B}}(y)(y') := \mathcal{B}(y', y)$$

on tensors $\widetilde{e} \otimes f \in \widetilde{E}^1(y)(x) \otimes E^1(x)(y')$ by

$$\phi(\widetilde{e} \otimes f) := \langle e, f \rangle_{\mathcal{B}}.$$

It is easily verified that this is a bilinear map which is natural with respect to the actions of \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} , and that it respects the equivalence relation defining $\widetilde{E}^1 \otimes_{\mathcal{B}} E^2(y)(y')$. To show that it extends to an isometry on the completion, we show it respects the inner product on simple tensors:

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \phi(\widetilde{e} \otimes f), \phi(e' \otimes f) \rangle_{\mathcal{B}} &= \langle e, f \rangle_{\mathcal{B}}^* \langle e', f' \rangle_{\mathcal{B}} &= \langle f, e \rangle_{\mathcal{B}} \langle e', f' \rangle_{\mathcal{B}} \\ &= \langle f, e \cdot \langle e', f' \rangle_{\mathcal{B}} \rangle_{\mathcal{B}} &= \langle f, A \langle e, e' \rangle \cdot f' \rangle_{\mathcal{B}} &= \langle \widetilde{e} \otimes f, \widetilde{e'} \otimes f' \rangle_{\mathcal{B}}. \end{aligned}$$

So ϕ preserves inner products on finite sums of simple tensors, and by Lemma 1.4.4 it extends to an isometric bimodule map on the completed module $\tilde{E}^1 \bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}} E^1(y)(y')$. When E is right-full, this map is evidently surjective so by Proposition 3.1.1 it is a unitary equivalence.

The map ψ is defined on simple tensors by $\psi(e \otimes \tilde{f}) = \mathcal{A}\langle e, f \rangle$. The proof that ψ preserves inner products is completely analogous to the above, and clearly it is surjective (and hence a unitary equivalence) when E is left-full. \Box

We follow with a converse of this lemma, which has the hardest proof in this chapter.

Lemma 3.4.3. Let $E : \mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{B}$ and $F : \mathcal{B} \to \mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{A}$ be non-degenerate right Hilbert bimodules, and suppose that there exist bimodule isomorphisms

$$\psi: E\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}}F \to \iota_{\mathcal{A}}$$

and

$$\phi: F\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}}E \to \iota_{\mathcal{B}}.$$

Then both E and F are full bimodules, and are faithful functors that surject onto the compact operators between the modules in their image.

Proof. By symmetry it is enough to prove the stated properties of E. Note that we can assume that all bimodule isomorphisms are unitary by Lemma 1.1.50.

Note also that $\langle \iota_{\mathcal{B}}, \iota_{\mathcal{B}} \rangle = \langle F \bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}} E, F \bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}} E \rangle \subseteq \langle E, E \rangle$ by definition of the inner product on $F \bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}} E$, so E is full. Similarly, F is full since $\iota_{\mathcal{A}}$ is.

To show E is an isometry, note that we have unitary isomorphisms of functors

$$(-\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}}F)\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}}E\cong -\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}}(F\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}}E)\cong -\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}}\iota_{\mathcal{A}}\cong \mathrm{id}_{\mathsf{Hilb-}\mathcal{A}}.$$

Here we have used Lemma 3.1.8 for the first isomorphism, the hypothesis for the second and Lemma 3.1.9 for the third. We hence conclude that $-\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}}E$ must be faithful, but by Corollary 3.1.10, $-\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}}E$ is an extension of E from \mathcal{A} to Hilb- \mathcal{A} . So certainly E is faithful, and hence an isometry by Proposition 1.1.34.

The final claim we need to prove is that the image of $\mathcal{A}(x, x')$ under E is exactly $\mathcal{K}(E(x), E(x'))$. To this end, for every $x \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{A}, y \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{B}$ we define the map

$$\delta: \quad F(y)(x) \to \mathcal{L}(E(x), h_y) \\ \delta(f)(e) := \phi(f \otimes e)$$

for each $y' \in \mathsf{Ob}\mathcal{B}$ and $e \in E(x)(y')$. It is clear that $\delta(f)$ is bounded by ||f||, and since ϕ is a unitary isomorphism at every $y \in \mathsf{Ob}\mathcal{B}$ we see that $\delta(f)$ is adjointable if and only if the map $\phi_y^*\delta(f) : E(x) \to F \bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}} E(y)$ is adjointable, where we have $\phi_y^*\delta(f)(e) := f \otimes e$. But $\phi_y^*\delta(f)$ has an obvious bounded adjoint sending $f' \otimes e'$ to $\langle f, f' \rangle_{\mathcal{B}} \cdot e'$. So δ has an adjoint δ^* found by $(\phi_y^*\delta)^*\phi_y$.

Note that if we fix y, not only does the domain of δ have an inner product

$$\langle -, - \rangle_F : F(y)(x') \times F(y)(x) \to \mathcal{A}(x, x'),$$

but its codomain has an inner product

$$\langle -, - \rangle_O : \mathcal{L}(E(x'), h_y) \times \mathcal{L}(E(x), h_y) \to \mathcal{L}(E(x), E(x'))$$

defined by $\langle S, T \rangle_O = S^* \circ T$. We are going to prove the following two claims about the map δ :

- For each $f \in F(y)(x), f' \in F(y)(x')$ we have $\langle \delta(f'), \delta(f) \rangle_O = E(\langle f', f \rangle_F)$.
- The image of δ at every $x \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{A}, y \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{B}$ is $\mathcal{K}(E(x), h_y)$.

Provided we can prove these claims, the desired result will then roll out as follows: note that as F is full, the span of $\bigcup_{y \in Ob \mathcal{B}} \langle F(y)(x'), F(y)(x) \rangle_F$ is dense in $\mathcal{A}(x, x')$. Note also by Lemma 2.3.13 that the span of

$$\bigcup_{y \in \mathsf{Ob}\,\mathcal{B}} \langle \mathcal{K}(E(x'), h_y), \mathcal{K}(E(x), h_y) \rangle_O$$

is a dense subset of $\mathcal{K}(E(x), E(x'))$ (in the operator norm, which is the one induced by $\langle -, - \rangle_O$). But E is a faithful C^* -functor so in particular acts by linear isometries on hom-spaces, it preserves spans and closures, and the two claims together in fact give $E(\mathcal{A}(x, x')) = \mathcal{K}(E(x), E(x'))$.

To prove the first claim, let $f \in F(y)(x), f' \in F(y)(x')$, and take elements $e \in E(x)(y'), e' \in E(x')(y'')$. Then note that we have

$$\begin{aligned} \langle e', \delta(f')^* \delta(f)(e) \rangle &= \langle \delta(f')e', \delta(f)(e) \rangle \\ &= \langle \phi(f' \otimes e'), \phi(f \otimes e) \rangle \\ &= \langle f' \otimes e', f \otimes e \rangle \\ &= \langle e', E(\langle f', f \rangle)(e) \rangle. \end{aligned}$$

Hence if we set $T = \delta(f')^* \delta(f) - E(\langle f', f \rangle)$ we see $\langle e', T(e) \rangle = 0$ for all e, e', and setting e' = T(e) we conclude T = 0, proving the first claim.

To prove the second claim, note that we have for every $a \in \mathcal{A}(x', x)$ and $f \in F(y)(x)$ that $\delta(f \cdot a) = \delta(f) \circ E(a)$, and for every $b \in \mathcal{B}(y, y')$ that $\delta(F(b)(f)) = \iota_{\mathcal{B}}(b) \circ \delta(f)$. From now on, we will denote all these actions as simply $- \cdot a$ and $b \cdot -$, which δ preserves. Now note that

$$\begin{split} \delta(F(y)(x)) & \stackrel{(1)}{=} \delta(\overline{\operatorname{span}_{y'\in\operatorname{Ob}\mathcal{B}}\mathcal{B}(y,y')\cdot F(y')(x)}) \\ & \stackrel{(2)}{=} \frac{\delta(\overline{\operatorname{span}_{y'\in\operatorname{Ob}\mathcal{B}}\mathcal{B}(y,y')\cdot F(y')(x)})}{\operatorname{span}_{y'\in\operatorname{Ob}\mathcal{B}}(\iota_{\mathcal{B}}(y)(y'))^* \circ \delta(F(y')(x))} \\ & \stackrel{(4)}{=} \frac{\operatorname{span}_{y'\in\operatorname{Ob}\mathcal{B}}(\iota_{\mathcal{B}}(y)(y'))^* \circ \delta(F(y')(x))}{\operatorname{span}_{y'\in\operatorname{Ob}\mathcal{B}}\mathcal{B}(\phi(F\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}}E)(y)(y'))^* \circ \delta(F(y')(x))} \\ & \stackrel{(5)}{=} \frac{\operatorname{span}_{y'\in\operatorname{Ob}\mathcal{B},x'\in\operatorname{Ob}\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{K}(E(x'),h_y) \circ \delta(F(y')(x'))^* \circ \delta(F(y')(x)))}{\operatorname{span}_{y'\in\operatorname{Ob}\mathcal{B},x'\in\operatorname{Ob}\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{K}(E(x'),h_y) \circ E(\langle F(y')(x'),F(y')(x)\rangle)} \\ & \stackrel{(6)}{=} \frac{\operatorname{span}_{y'\in\operatorname{Ob}\mathcal{B},x'\in\operatorname{Ob}\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{K}(E(x'),h_y) \circ E(\langle F(y')(x'),F(y')(x)\rangle)}{\operatorname{span}_{x'\in\operatorname{Ob}\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{K}(E(x'),h_y) \circ E(\mathcal{A}(x',x))} \\ & \stackrel{(8)}{=} \mathcal{K}(E(x)(h_y)). \end{split}$$

Where we have used the symbol * to take adjoints of sets of operators. We justify each of these equalities as follows:

- 1. By non-degeneracy of F.
- 2. Since *E* acts isometrically, the first claim we proved shows that δ is a norm isometry, so it preserves closures, and we also know δ is natural with respect to the left action of \mathcal{B} .
- 3. Since the involution of operators is an isometry.

- 4. By the surjectivity of ϕ .
- 5. Notice that if $\epsilon_e : h_y \to E(x')$ is the compact operator corresponding to $e \in E(x')(y)$, then by definition of δ , for all $f \in F(y')(x')$ we have

$$\phi(f \otimes e) = \iota_{\mathcal{B}}(\delta(f)(e)) = \delta(f) \circ \epsilon_e : h_y \to h_{y'},$$

since for all $b \in h_y$, we have

$$(\delta(f) \circ \epsilon_e)(b) = \phi(f \otimes e \cdot b) = \phi(f \otimes e) \circ b.$$

Hence $\phi(F \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} E)(y')(y) = \overline{\operatorname{span}_{x' \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{A}} \delta(F(y')(x')) \circ \mathcal{K}(h_y, E(x'))}$, and applying the involution we deduce this equality.

- 6. By the first of the two claims.
- 7. By the fullness of F.
- 8. By the non-degeneracy of E.

This concludes the proof.

Corollary 3.4.4 (c.f. [Fer23, Proposition 8.1.3]). Let $E : \mathcal{A} \to \text{Hilb-}\mathcal{B}$ and $F : \mathcal{B} \to \text{Hilb-}\mathcal{A}$ be non-degenerate right Hilbert bimodules, and suppose there exist bimodule isomorphisms $\psi : E\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}}F \to \iota_{\mathcal{A}}$ and $\phi : F\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}}E \to \iota_{\mathcal{B}}$. Then E and F are imprimitivity bimodules and we in fact have $F \cong \tilde{E}$.

Proof. Notice that at any $x \in Ob \mathcal{A}, y \in Ob \mathcal{B}$, the map δ in the proof of Lemma 3.4.3 gives an isometry from F(y)(x) to $\mathcal{K}(E(x), h_y)$, which is of course conjugate isomorphic to $\mathcal{K}(h_y, E(x)) \cong E(x)(y)$. Hence we see that E is left small since F lands in small \mathcal{A} -modules and vice versa.

The imprimitivity structure is then deduced by Proposition 3.3.19, and the isomorphism $F \cong \widetilde{E}$ follows from the above characterization of δ .

Notice that this directly generalizes the case of C^* -algebras, which is explored in e.g. [RW98, Chapter 3]. We are now ready to summarize the results of this section into one theorem:

Theorem 3.4.5. Suppose \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} are C^* -categories. A strong^{*} unital functor F: Hilb- $\mathcal{A} \to$ Hilb- \mathcal{B} is an equivalence if and only if its restriction $E := F \circ \iota_{\mathcal{A}}$ is left small, a full bimodule, a faithful functor, and surjects onto the compact operators between the modules in its image.

Proof. Suppose F is an equivalence. Firstly, the Eilenberg-Watts theorem guarantees that $F \cong -\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}} E$. But then by Corollary 3.4.4 we see that E is an imprimitivity \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} module. So by Proposition 3.3.19, we see that E is an isometry onto the compacts between modules in its image.

The converse is even simpler; a bimodule with the specified properties is always an imprimitivity bimodule and by Proposition 3.4.2, we see that $-\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}}E$ is a strong^{*} unital unitary equivalence.

We will hereafter describe such an equivalence F as a *Morita equivalence* between \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} .

An interesting corollary to this states that such an equivalence must necessarily preserve compact operators. Recall from Definition 1.4.10 that a multiplier equivalence between \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} is a pair of non-degenerate functors $F: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{MB}$ and $G: \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{MA}$ whose lifts $\overline{F}, \overline{G}$ to the respective multiplier categories give an equivalence.

Corollary 3.4.6. If a unital functor G: Hilb- $\mathcal{A} \to$ Hilb- \mathcal{B} is a strong^{*} equivalence, then it restriction $G|_{\mathcal{K}\mathsf{Hilb}-\mathcal{A}}$: $\mathcal{K}\mathsf{Hilb}-\mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{Hilb}-\mathcal{B}$ lands in $\mathcal{K}\mathsf{Hilb}-\mathcal{B}$ and gives a multiplier equivalence.

Conversely, any multiplier equivalence $\Gamma : \mathcal{K}\mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{K}\mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{B}$ extends to a strong^{*} unital equivalence $G : \mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{B}$.

Proof. For the rightward implication, note that Theorem 3.4.5 tells us that G is given by tensoring with an \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} bimodule E which acts entirely by compact operators. So by Corollary 3.1.18 we see that G preserves compact operators.

For the converse, note that the extension $\overline{\Gamma} : \mathcal{M}(\mathcal{K}\mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{A}) \to \mathcal{M}(\mathcal{K}\mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{B})$ provided by Theorem 1.4.5 is necessarily unital and strictly continuous on bounded subsets. So then by Proposition 2.3.16, $\overline{\Gamma}$ is strong^{*} and unital. \Box

We are long overdue some examples of Morita equivalences of C^* -categories, other than the Yoneda bimodules: it follows from Lemma 3.1.9 that these are self-Morita equivalences. Luckily, the results in this section set us up well to provide these. Specifically, if we can provide an example of a faithful, left small, full right Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} bimodule whose action consists of all compact operators between the \mathcal{B} -modules in its image, then by Corollary 3.4.4 we know there is a unital, strong^{*}, unitary equivalence between Hilb- \mathcal{A} and Hilb- \mathcal{B} . We will begin with an example that already played a role in Chapter 1:

Lemma 3.4.7. If \mathcal{A} is a C^* -category, there is a Morita equivalence between \mathcal{A}_{\oplus} and \mathcal{A} given by tensoring with the right Hilbert $\mathcal{A}_{\oplus} - \mathcal{A}$ bimodule that sends $x_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus x_n$ to $h_{x_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus h_{x_n}$.

Proof. It follows from Proposition 2.4.11 and Lemma 2.3.9 that there is an isomorphism

 $\mathcal{A}_{\oplus}(x_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus x_n, y_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus y_k) \cong \mathcal{K}(h_{x_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus h_{x_n}, h_{y_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus h_{y_k})$

which is natural in the objects, so the described assignment is functorial and isometric onto the compact operators. This bimodule is left small by Lemma 3.3.16. Hence as this bimodule is certainly full, by Theorem 3.4.5 we see the described functor is a Morita equivalence. $\hfill \Box$

We show next that two unital C^* -categories are Morita equivalent if and only if they are Morita equivalent as additive categories: **Proposition 3.4.8.** Two unital C^* -categories \mathcal{A} , \mathcal{B} are Morita equivalent if and only if there is a unitary equivalence

$$\mathcal{A}_{\oplus}^{\natural} \cong \mathcal{B}_{\oplus}^{\natural}$$
.

Proof. Recall from Corollary 2.3.10 that for a unital C^* -category \mathcal{A} there is an equivalence between $\mathcal{A}_{\oplus}^{\natural}$ (the closure of \mathcal{A} under idempotents and direct sums) and the category fgProj- \mathcal{A} of finitely generated projective \mathcal{A} -modules.

Suppose \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} are unital and E is an \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} imprimitivity bimodule. Then $E^1 : \mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{Hilb}$ - \mathcal{B} is non-degenerate by Lemma 3.3.4, so it must in fact be unital, but by Lemma 3.3.12 it must also have image in compact operators, so by Proposition 2.5.8 we see that for each $x \in \mathsf{Ob}\,\mathcal{A}$, the module $E^1(x)$ is finitely generated and projective. Hence the functor $-\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}}E^1$ sends representable modules to finitely generated projectives, and hence sends all finitely generated projectives to finitely generated projectives. We can make a similar argument on the inverse functor $-\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}}E^2$ and then we obtain by the equivalence $\mathcal{A}^{\natural}_{\oplus} \cong \mathcal{B}^{\natural}_{\oplus}$.

For the converse assume there is an equivalence $F : \mathsf{fgProj}\mathcal{A} \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathsf{fgProj}\mathcal{B}$: let E^1 be the right Hilbert $\mathcal{A}\mathcal{B}$ bimodule given by postcomposing F with the inclusion $\mathsf{fgProj}\mathcal{B} \hookrightarrow \mathsf{Hilb}\mathcal{B}$ and precomposing with the Yoneda embedding $\mathcal{A} \hookrightarrow \mathsf{fgProj}\mathcal{A}$. Let E^2 be the $\mathcal{B}\mathcal{A}$ bimodule similarly obtained from the inverse of F. Then it is evident that $E^1 \bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}} E^2 \cong \iota_{\mathcal{A}}$ and $E^2 \bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}} E^1 \cong \iota_{\mathcal{B}}$. \Box

This means our terminology coincides with that in [DT14], where Morita equivalence of (unital) C^* -categories was *defined* by the second criterion above.

Recall from Definition 1.2.5 that Mat- \mathcal{A} is the direct limit of the endomorphism algebras of *non-repeating* direct sums in \mathcal{A}_{\oplus} . Using the results we have at our disposal it is now very easy to prove using these algebras that many C^* -categories are Morita equivalent to C^* -algebras.

Proposition 3.4.9 (c.f. [Fer23, Theorem 6.3.1]). If \mathcal{A} is a small C^* -category, there is a Morita equivalence between (Mat- \mathcal{A}) and \mathcal{A} given by tensoring with the right Hilbert (Mat- \mathcal{A})- \mathcal{A} bimodule $\bigoplus_{x \in Ob \mathcal{A}} h_x$.

More generally, if \mathcal{A} is a locally small \bar{C}^* -category with a small full subcategory \mathcal{B} such that every morphism in \mathcal{A} is a norm-limit of finite sums of morphisms factoring through some object of \mathcal{B} , then there is a Morita equivalence between (Mat- \mathcal{B}) and \mathcal{A} given by tensoring with the right Hilbert (Mat- \mathcal{B})- \mathcal{A} bimodule $\bigoplus_{x \in Ob \mathcal{B}} h_x$.

Proof. Note firstly that both bimodules are left small since they have a singleobject C^* -category acting on the left.

For the first case Mat- $\mathcal{A} \cong \bigoplus_{x,y \in \mathsf{Ob}\,\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{A}(x,y) \cong \bigoplus_{x,y \in \mathsf{Ob}\,\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{K}(h_x,h_y)$ (with the obvious multiplication on the latter two algebras), which by Proposition 2.4.11 is isomorphic to $\mathcal{K}(\bigoplus_{x \in \mathsf{Ob}\,\mathcal{A}} h_x)$. The module $\bigoplus_{x \in \mathsf{Ob}\,\mathcal{A}} h_x$ is clearly full, so tensoring with this bimodule gives a Morita equivalence by Theorem 3.4.5.

The second result follows similarly as the requirement on \mathcal{B} equates to asking that $\bigoplus_{x \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{B}} h_x$ is full.

3.4. MORITA EQUIVALENCES OF C*-CATEGORIES

These results are a significant generalization of those obtained in [Joa03], where it was proved that (translated to our terminology) Mat- \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{A} are Morita equivalent in the case where \mathcal{A} is unital and has a countable set of objects.

Chapter 4

(Bi)categories of C^* -categories and C^* -algebras

In this chapter, we use the results in this thesis to prove results on a variety of categories whose objects are C^* -categories and C^* -algebras. First we use the Eilenberg-Watts theorem to show the equivalence of several bicategories of C^* -algebras and C^* -categories. Second, we exhibit a *reflective localization* of a category of C^* -categories at the Yoneda embeddings, resulting in a 'Morita homotopy category' of C^* -categories where two C^* -categories are isomorphic if and only if they are Morita equivalent.

4.1 The bicategories C*-HCat and C*-Bimod

We begin by considering several bicategories. We will assume basic results on bicategories and refer the reader to [JY21] for a primer.

Our first bicategory has evidently strictly associative and unital compositions, so is in fact a 2-category:

Definition 4.1.1. We let C^{*}-HCat be the 2-category defined as follows:

- Its objects are locally small C^* -categories.
- The 1-morphisms from \mathcal{A} to \mathcal{B} are strong^{*} unital C^* -functors from Hilb- \mathcal{A} to Hilb- \mathcal{B} .
- The 2-morphisms are bounded adjointable natural transformations between these functors.
- C^{*}-HCat has 1- and 2-composition laws are defined in the obvious way.

Our second bicategory is an honest bicategory:

Proposition 4.1.2. There is a bicategory C^{*}-Bimod defined as follows:

• Its objects are locally small C^{*}-categories.

- The 1-morphisms from \mathcal{A} to \mathcal{B} are non-degenerate right Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} bimodules, and horizontal identities are the Yoneda bimodules.
- The 2-morphisms are bounded adjointable natural transformations.
- Composition of 1-morphisms is given by tensor products of bimodules (recall from Lemma 3.1.16 that a tensor product where the left bimodule is non-degenerate is again non-degenerate).
- Composition of 2-morphisms is given by composition of transformations.
- Associators provided by Lemma 3.1.8 and unitors by Lemma 3.1.9.

The equivalences in this bicategory are given by imprimitivity bimodules.

Proof. It is easily verified that the associators satisfy the pentagon identity and that the unitors satisfy the triangle identity: the proof proceeds exactly as in [Bro03, Proposition 2.3.1].

The final statement follows directly from Proposition 3.4.2 and Lemma 3.4.3. $\hfill \Box$

This bicategory is analogous to similar ones defined over rings and operator algebras, see [Bro03].

The results in Chapters 2 and 3 let us show without much effort that these two bicategories are equivalent:

Theorem 4.1.3. There is a biequivalence $\Psi : \mathsf{C}^*$ -Bimod $\to \mathsf{C}^*$ -HCat given by:

- The identity on objects.
- Sending every bimodule $E : \mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{B}$ to the functor $-\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}}E : \mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{B}.$
- Sending a bounded adjointable transformation $T: E \to E'$ of right Hilbert \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} -bimodules to the bounded adjointable natural transformation

 $\Psi(T): -\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}} E \to -\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}} E'$ whose existence is given by Lemma 3.1.15.

- Natural isomorphisms $\gamma : \Psi(E\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}}F) \xrightarrow{\cong} \Psi(F) \circ \Psi(E)$ given for every right Hilbert \mathcal{A} -module M, \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{B} bimodule E, and \mathcal{B} - \mathcal{C} bimodule F simply by the associator isomorphism $M\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}}(E\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}}F) \cong (M\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}}E)\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}}F$ from Lemma 3.1.8.
- Natural isomorphisms I : Ψ(ι_A) ≃ id_A given for every right Hilbert Amodule M by the unitor isomorphism M_⊗_A(ι_A) ≃ M from Lemma 3.1.9.

Proof. It is straightforward to verify that this data satisfies the commutation diagrams for a pseudofunctor.

To show that Ψ is a biequivalence, we employ the criterion in [JY21, Theorem 7.4.1], which says Ψ is a biequivalence if and only if it is essentially

surjective on objects, and gives for any \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} an equivalence of 1-categories $\Psi : C^*-Bimod(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}) \to C^*-HCat(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B})$. The essential surjectivity is immediate.

To show that $\Psi : \mathsf{C}^*\operatorname{\mathsf{-Bimod}}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}) \to \mathsf{C}^*\operatorname{\mathsf{-HCat}}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$ is an equivalence of 1-categories, we show that it is essentially surjective and fully faithful.

For the first claim, suppose F: Hilb- $\mathcal{A} \to$ Hilb- \mathcal{B} is a strong^{*} unital functor; then by Theorem 3.2.4 we know that there is a natural isomorphism of functors $F \cong -\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}}(F \circ \iota_{\mathcal{A}})$, hence F is in the essential image under Ψ of C^* -Bimod $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$.

To show the faithfulness, we note simply that $\Psi(T) : -\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}} E \to -\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}} E'$ whiskers through the inclusion $\iota_{\mathcal{A}} : \mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{Hilb} \mathcal{A}$ to $T : E \to E'$, so if two transformations $T, T' : E \to E'$ have the same image under Ψ , they must already be the same, showing Ψ is faithful.

To show fullness, let $\tau : -\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}} E \to -\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{A}} E'$ be a bounded adjointable natural transformation. Let $T : E \to E'$ be the whiskering of τ through $\iota_{\mathcal{A}}$. It is clear by definition that $\Psi(T)$ and τ agree on representable \mathcal{A} -modules, but then by Lemma 3.2.5 they must agree everywhere. Hence Ψ is full.

This theorem tells us that the 2-category C^* -HCat is a model for the *strictification* of the bicategory C^* -Bimod. We also record that the Morita equivalences in Proposition 3.4.9 provide us with further biequivalences.

Proposition 4.1.4. The following bicategories are biequivalent:

- The full sub-bicategory of C^{*}-Bimod whose objects are small C^{*}-categories.
- The full sub-2-category of C^{*}-HCat whose objects are small C^{*}-categories.
- The full sub-bicategory of C^{*}-Bimod whose objects are the one-object categories, i.e. C^{*}-algebras.
- The full sub-2-category of C^{*}-HCat whose objects are the C^{*}-algebras.

Proof. The equivalence of the first two bicategories follows from the preceding theorem: note that Ψ is the identity on objects.

The inclusion of the third into the first category is an equivalence since by Proposition 3.4.9 it is essentially surjective on objects, as is the inclusion from the fourth into the second; hence again by [JY21, Theorem 7.4.1] these inclusions are biequivalences. \Box

Variants of several categories in this proposition were studied in other works: the third category, often labelled the 'correspondence bicategory', was first defined in [Lan01] and further studied in [BMZ13]. The equivalence between the first and third bicategory was proven in the [Fer23, Section 7].

We characterize briefly an interesting sub-2-category of C^* -HCat that relates to other works and will become relevant in the next section:

Definition 4.1.5. For any locally small C^* -category \mathcal{A} , let $\mathsf{Hilb_{rep}}$ - \mathcal{A} be the category of representable right Hilbert \mathcal{A} -modules, i.e. the essential image of the Yoneda embedding $\iota_{\mathcal{A}} : \mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{Hilb}$ - \mathcal{A} .

Let C^*-HCat_{rep} be the subcategory of C^*-HCat with the same objects but whose 1-morphisms are strong^{*} unital functors $Hilb-\mathcal{A} \rightarrow Hilb-\mathcal{B}$ that preserve representable modules, i.e. they send $Hilb_{rep}-\mathcal{A}$ to $Hilb_{rep}-\mathcal{B}$.

Finally, let C^* -Cat_{ndg} be the 2-category whose objects are locally small categories, whose 1-morphisms are non-degenerate functors $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{MB}$ and whose 2-morphisms are natural transformations of functors: identities are given by the embeddings $\kappa_{\mathcal{A}} : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{MA}$.

Note that by Corollary 2.4.8, the Yoneda embedding $\iota_{\mathcal{A}} : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{K}\mathsf{Hilb}\mathcal{A}$ extends to an equivalence $\overline{\iota_{\mathcal{A}}} : \mathcal{M}\mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{Hilb}_{\mathsf{rep}}\mathcal{A}$ of unital C^* -categories.

Proposition 4.1.6. There is a 2-equivalence $\Xi : C^*-HCat_{\mathsf{rep}} \to C^*-Cat_{\mathsf{ndg}}$ given by

- The identity on objects
- Sending a strict unital functor F: Hilb- $\mathcal{A} \to \text{Hilb-}\mathcal{B}$ to the functor

$$\Xi(F) := \overline{\iota_{\mathcal{B}}}^{-1} \circ F|_{\mathsf{Hilb}_{\mathsf{rep}}} \cdot \mathcal{A} \circ \iota_{\mathcal{A}}$$

where $\overline{\iota_{\mathcal{B}}}^{-1}$ is a chosen inverse functor to the 'multiplier Yoneda embedding' $\overline{\iota_{B}} : \mathcal{MB} \to \mathsf{Hilb}_{\mathsf{rep}} - \mathcal{B}$: this composition is defined since by assumption $F|_{\mathsf{Hilb}_{\mathsf{rep}}} - \mathcal{A}$ lands in $\mathsf{Hilb}_{\mathsf{rep}} - \mathcal{B}$.

- Sending a natural transformation $\eta: F \Rightarrow F'$ of functors to the natural transformation $\Xi(\eta): \overline{\iota_{\mathcal{B}}}^{-1} \circ F|_{\mathsf{Hilb}_{\mathsf{rep}}-\mathcal{A}} \circ \iota_{\mathcal{A}} \Rightarrow \overline{\iota_{\mathcal{B}}}^{-1} \circ F'|_{\mathsf{Hilb}_{\mathsf{rep}}-\mathcal{A}} \circ \iota_{\mathcal{A}} given by whiskering through the two functors <math>\iota_{\mathcal{A}}$ and $\overline{\iota_{\mathcal{B}}}^{-1}$.
- Natural isomorphisms $I : \Xi(\mathrm{id}_{\mathsf{Hilb}-\mathcal{A}}) \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{A}}$ given by the isomorphism $\epsilon_{\mathcal{A}} : \iota_{\mathcal{A}} \circ \overline{\iota_{\mathcal{A}}}^{-1} \Rightarrow \kappa_{\mathcal{A}}$ associated to the chosen inverse $\overline{\iota_{\mathcal{A}}}^{-1}$.
- Natural isomorphisms $\gamma : \Xi(G \circ F) \xrightarrow{\cong} \Xi(G) \circ \Xi(F)$ given for all strong^{*} unital $F : \text{Hilb-}\mathcal{A} \to \text{Hilb-}\mathcal{B}$ and $G : \text{Hilb-}\mathcal{B} \to \text{Hilb-}\mathcal{C}$ by a whiskering $\overline{\iota_{\mathcal{C}}}^{-1} \circ G|_{\text{Hilb-rep-}\mathcal{B}} \circ \epsilon_{\mathcal{B}} \circ F|_{\text{Hilb-rep-}\mathcal{A}} \circ \iota_{\mathcal{A}}$ where $\epsilon_{\mathcal{B}} : \iota_{\mathcal{B}} \circ \overline{\iota_{\mathcal{B}}}^{-1} \Rightarrow \kappa_{\mathcal{B}}$ is the chosen transformation as in the point above.

Proof. As before it is elementary to show that Ξ is a pseudofunctor, and as it is the identity on objects, we just need to show that its components

$$\Xi(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}):\mathsf{C}^*\operatorname{\mathsf{-HCat}}_{\mathsf{rep}}(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B})\to\mathsf{C}^*\operatorname{\mathsf{-Cat}}_{\mathsf{ndg}}(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B})$$

are equivalences.

As in the proof of Theorem 4.1.3, we obtain faithfulness by Lemma 3.2.5: a natural transformation of functors on Hilbert module categories is determined by its values on the representables.

To prove fullness, whisker a natural transformation $\eta: F \Rightarrow F'$ of functors $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{MB}$ through the inclusion $\mathcal{MB} \to \mathsf{Hilb}\mathcal{B}$ to get a transformation $\overline{\eta}$ of bimodules $\mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{Hilb}\mathcal{B}$. Then by Lemma 3.1.15 this gives a natural transformation $\mathrm{id} \,\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}} \overline{\eta}$ of tensor functors $\mathsf{Hilb}\mathcal{A} \to \mathsf{Hilb}\mathcal{B}$, and one easily sees that $\Xi(\mathrm{id} \,\bar{\otimes}_{\mathcal{B}} \overline{\eta}) = \eta$.

4.2. LOCALIZING A 1-CATEGORY OF $C^{\ast}\mbox{-}CATEGORIES$ AT THE MORITA EQUIVALENCES

Essential surjectivity follows simply by noting that by Corollary 2.4.9, a non-degenerate functor $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{MB}$ gives a non-degenerate bimodule by postcomposing with the embedding $\mathcal{MB} \to \mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{B}$, and tensoring a representable \mathcal{A} -module with this bimodule then gives a representable \mathcal{B} -module by Corollary 3.1.10.

Several full subcategories of the bicategory C^*-Cat_{ndg} were studied in [AV20]: in particular, they prove that the full sub-bicategory of C^*-Cat_{ndg} whose objects are small C^* -categories containing all countable direct sums, which they call C^* Lin, is closed under bicolimits.

4.2 Localizing a 1-category of C^* -categories at the Morita equivalences

In this subsection we construct a category of C^* -categories where Morita equivalences have been inverted, i.e. made into isomorphisms: we will moreover do this in a *universal* way, so that the end result constitutes a localization of 1-categories. To be specific, we will invert the Yoneda embeddings, so that isomorphisms between Hilb- \mathcal{A} and Hilb- \mathcal{B} give isomorphisms between \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} . We establish a *reflective localization*, which gives excellent control over the hom-spaces of a localization, as done in recent works on C^* -categories and C^* -algebras such as [Bun23].

Recall first the definition of a localization.

Definition 4.2.1. Let C be a unital category and W be a class of morphisms in C. The *localization of* C *at* W, if it exists, is a category $C[W^{-1}]$ admitting a functor

$$Q: \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{C}[W^{-1}]$$

such that for all categories \mathcal{D} , the precomposition functor

$$-\circ Q: \operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{C}[W^{-1}], \mathcal{D}) \to \operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{D})$$

is fully faithful and has essential image consisting of those functors $F : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{D}$ that send all morphisms in W to isomorphisms.

Our localizations will be of a special type, namely reflective localizations. These are localizations which are at once adjoints:

Definition 4.2.2. The localization $Q : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{C}[W^{-1}]$ of \mathcal{C} at W is called a *reflective localization* if it has a fully faithful right adjoint $R : \mathcal{C}[W^{-1}] \to \mathcal{C}$

Reflective localizations have several convenient equivalent characterizations:

Proposition 4.2.3. Suppose \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{C} are unital categories and $R : \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{C}$ is a functor with a left adjoint $Q : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B}$. The following are equivalent:

1. $R: \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{C}$ is a fully faithful functor.

- 2. $Q: \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B}$ exhibits \mathcal{B} as the reflective localization of \mathcal{C} at the class of morphisms which get sent to isomorphisms by Q.
- 3. $Q: \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B}$ exhibits \mathcal{B} as the reflective localization of \mathcal{C} at the class of units $\eta_c: c \to RQ(c)$.
- 4. The counit $\epsilon : QR \Rightarrow id_{\mathcal{B}}$ is an isomorphism of functors.

Proof. The equivalence of (1), (2), and (4) is standard, see for example [nLa23b, Proposition 3.1]. To see how (3) follows from the other statements, we show that in the presence of statements (1) and (4), the localizations in (2) and (3) are defined by the same universal property.

Note first that one of the adjunction axioms gives the commutation of the diagram $Q(c) \xrightarrow{Q(\eta_c)} QRQ(c) \xrightarrow{\epsilon_{Q(c)}} Q(c)$ so as the right morphism is an isoid

morphism by (4), the left one must be too. Hence if a functor sends all those morphisms to isomorphisms which are sent to isomorphisms under Q, it must certainly send all units η_c to isomorphisms.

Suppose conversely that a functor $F : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{D}$ sends all units η_c to isomorphisms, and let $g \in \mathcal{C}(c,c')$ be a morphism sent to an isomorphism by Q. Note that we can whisker the natural transformation η through F and obtain a commutative diagram

$$F(c) \xrightarrow{F(g)} F(c')$$

$$\downarrow^{F(\eta_c)} \qquad \downarrow^{F(\eta_{c'})}$$

$$FRQ(c) \xrightarrow{FRQ(g)} FRQ(c')$$

where the vertical arrows are isomorphisms by hypothesis, and the bottom arrow is an isomorphism since Q(g) is. Hence F(g) is an isomorphism. \Box

We now apply this theory to the following category of C^* -categories:

Definition 4.2.4. Let

C^*Cat

be the unital category whose objects are (locally small, not necessarily unital) C^* -categories, and whose morphisms from \mathcal{A} to \mathcal{B} are natural (unitary) isomorphism classes of non-degenerate functors $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{MB}$.

This is of course a '1-truncation' of the bicategory $\mathsf{C}^*\text{-}\mathsf{Cat}_{\mathsf{ndg}}$ from the previous subsection.

Definition 4.2.5. Let

 $\mathcal{K}\mathsf{Hilb-}:\mathbf{C^*Cat}\to\mathbf{C^*Cat}$

4.2. LOCALIZING A 1-CATEGORY OF C^* -CATEGORIES AT THE MORITA EQUIVALENCES

be the endofunctor that sends every C^* -category to its C^* -category of Hilbert modules and compact operators, and sends every non-degenerate functor F: $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{MB}$ to the tensor product with the non-degenerate bimodule given by composing with the Yoneda embedding $\overline{\iota_B} : \mathcal{MB} \to \mathsf{Hilb}\text{-}\mathcal{B}$. Let

\mathbf{HMod}

be the full subcategory of C^*Cat with objects those in the image of $\mathcal{K}Hilb$ -.

Proposition 4.2.6. The functor KHilb- is left adjoint to the inclusion functor

incl :
$$\mathbf{HMod} \to \mathbf{C}^*\mathbf{Cat}$$
.

Proof. We need to show that for any two C^* -categories $\mathcal{A} \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathbf{C}^*\mathbf{Cat}$ and $\mathcal{B} \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathbf{HMod}$, there is a natural isomorphism of hom-sets

$$\mathbf{C}^*\mathbf{Cat}(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B})\cong\mathbf{C}^*\mathbf{Cat}(\mathcal{K}\mathsf{Hilb}\mathsf{-}\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}).$$

Since \mathcal{B} is in the image of \mathcal{K} Hilb- we can write $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{K}$ Hilb- \mathcal{C} . But then the first hom-space refers to non-degenerate \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{C} bimodules and the second corresponds to strong^{*} unital functors from \mathcal{K} Hilb- \mathcal{A} to \mathcal{K} Hilb- \mathcal{C} , and these are in correspondence by the Eilenberg-Watts theorem. This correspondence is easily seen to be natural in both \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{C} .

We hence derive the main result of this subsection:

Theorem 4.2.7. The functor \mathcal{K} Hilb- is the (reflective) localization of the category $\mathbf{C}^*\mathbf{Cat}$ at the class of Yoneda inclusions ι_A , as well as at the class of non-degenerate functors $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{MB}$ inducing Morita equivalence.

Proof. The functor incl from Proposition 4.2.6 is clearly full and faithful, so the adjunction satisfies statement 1 in Proposition 4.2.3. The Yoneda bimodules $\iota_{\mathcal{A}}$ give the identity on \mathcal{K} Hilb- \mathcal{A} upon tensoring, so give us the units of the adjunction. Hence statement 3 tells us that \mathcal{K} Hilb- is the localization at the class of Yoneda embeddings. Statement 2 gives us the final part of the theorem.

Hence, **HMod** is the first model for the Morita homotopy theory of C^* categories, akin to similar results on dg-categories ([Toë07][Tab05]), unital C^* categories ([DT14]), and $(\infty, 1)$ -categories ([CG19]). This construction may well be of interest in noncommutative geometry since invariants such as KKtheory have long been modelled as functors from a category of C^* -algebras that invert Morita equivalences.

We also derive easily the idempotence of the functor $\mathcal{K}\mathsf{Hilb}$ -, which can alternatively be deduced from Corollary 3.3.18.

Proposition 4.2.8. For any locally small C^* -category \mathcal{A} , the map

 $\iota_{\mathcal{K}\mathsf{Hilb}-\mathcal{A}}: \mathcal{K}\mathsf{Hilb}-\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{K}\mathsf{Hilb}-(\mathcal{K}\mathsf{Hilb}-\mathcal{A})$

is an isomorphism.

Proof. We prove that in the set-up of Proposition 4.2.3, for all $b \in \mathsf{Ob}\,\mathcal{B}$ the unit $\eta_{R(b)} : R(b) \to RQR(b)$ is an isomorphism.

Note that one of the adjunction axioms states that the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} R(b) & \xrightarrow{\eta_{R(b)}} RQR(b) & \xrightarrow{R(\epsilon_b)} R(b) \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & &$$

commutes. But by statement 3 we know ϵ_b is an isomorphism. So $R(\epsilon_b)$ must be an isomorphism, and hence $\eta_{R(b)}$ is also an isomorphism.

Now note that in the setting of Proposition 4.2.6, $\iota_{\mathcal{K}\mathsf{Hilb}-\mathcal{A}}$ is exactly the morphism $\eta_{R(b)}$ for $b = \mathcal{A}$.

It follows that C^* -categories which are equivalent to one of the form \mathcal{K} Hilb- \mathcal{A} for some locally small C^* -category \mathcal{A} are *exactly* those C^* -categories whose Yoneda embedding is an equivalence. This gives us a partial answer to the questions raised about 'pre-completeness' in [Hen15].

Appendix A

The non-degenerate tensor-hom adjunction

joint work with Benjamin Dünzinger

In this appendix we prove a tensor-hom adjunction for non-degenerate functors of $C^\ast\text{-}\mathrm{categories.}$

As this will involve iterated functor categories, we assume in this appendix that all categories are *small*, although this assumption is not strictly necessary if one pays sufficient care to size issues.

Recall from Proposition 1.1.46 that for any two small C^* -categories \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{C} there is a small C^* -category Fun $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{C})$ of C^* -functors. The objects of these functor categories are, of course, given by (not necessarily unital) C^* -functors. The morphisms are uniformly bounded natural transformations and the involution is given pointwise. We begin by defining a few variants of the functor category that will come in handy, some of which we saw already in Chapter 1.

Definition A.1. If \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} are unital C^* -categories we denote by

$$\operatorname{Fun}^{\mathrm{u}}(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B})$$

the C^* -category of unital C^* -functors from \mathcal{A} to \mathcal{B} . For any two C^* -categories \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} we denote by

$$\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{strict}}(\mathcal{MA},\mathcal{MB})$$

the full subcategory of $\operatorname{Fun}^{u}(\mathcal{MA}, \mathcal{MB})$ spanned by those functors which are strictly continuous on norm-bounded subsets. We denote by

$$\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{ndg}}(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{MB})$$

the subcategory of $\operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{MB})$ spanned by the non-degenerate functors. Finally we denote by

$$\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{ndg, prop}}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{MB})$$

the subcategory of Fun^{ndg}($\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{MB}$) whose objects are the non-degenerate functors landing in the ideal $\mathcal{B} \subseteq \mathcal{MB}$, though still with transformations in \mathcal{MB} .

Recall from Proposition 1.4.12 that if $\kappa = \kappa_{\mathcal{A}} : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{M}\mathcal{A}$ is the standard embedding, then the precomposition functor

$$-\circ\kappa:\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{strict}}(\mathcal{MA},\mathcal{MB})\to\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{ndg}}(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{MB})$$

is an isomorphism of $C^\ast\mbox{-}categories.$

Dell'Ambrogio defines the maximal tensor product $\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B}$ of two unital C^* -categories \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} ([Del12, Section 3.2]) and proves a tensor-hom adjunction

$$\operatorname{Fun}^{\mathrm{u}}(\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B}, \mathcal{C}) \cong \operatorname{Fun}^{\mathrm{u}}(\mathcal{A}, \operatorname{Fun}^{\mathrm{u}}(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{C})).$$

In [BEL23], the maximal tensor product of non-unital C^* -categories is defined. Upon inspection one realizes it is unlikely that for all non-unital C^* -categories we have

$$\operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B}, \mathcal{C}) \cong \operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{A}, \operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{C}))$$

since such an isomorphism usually works through a 'currying' procedure that uses the units in \mathcal{A} to determine a functor from \mathcal{B} to \mathcal{C} for each object in \mathcal{A} .

In this appendix, we combine the results in Section 1.4 of this thesis with Dell'Ambrogio's tensor-hom adjunction to obtain a 'non-degenerate tensor-hom adjunction'. More precisely, we will obtain an isomorphism between

$$\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{ndg}}(\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B}, \mathcal{MC})$$

and a subcategory of $\operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{A}, \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{ndg}}(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{MC})).$

We briefly recapitulate the work of Bunke on maximal tensor products of non-unital C^* -categories. We begin by defining the maximal norm, which can in fact be defined on any complex linear *-category:

Definition A.2. If \mathcal{A} is a complex linear *-category, the maximal norm on \mathcal{A} is the seminorm given by

$$||f||_{max} := \sup_{\rho: \mathcal{A} \to B} ||\rho(f)||$$

where we vary over all *-functors $\rho : \mathcal{A} \to B$, where B is a C*-algebra.

It is shown in [Bun19, Remark 2.15] that a small complex linear *-category is a C^* -category if and only if the maximal norm is positive-definite and complete (note that the smallness assumption can easily be dropped by allowing B to live in an enlargement of the enriching category of \mathcal{A}). The following lemma immediately follows:

Lemma A.3. If A is a complex linear *-category, the normed complex linear *-category Compl(A) obtained by quotienting out elements with zero maximal norm and completing is a C^* -category.

We can now define the maximal tensor product, which will form a completion of the following complex linear *-category.

Definition A.4. If \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} are C^* -categories, then the *algebraic tensor prod*uct of \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} , also labelled $\mathcal{A} \odot \mathcal{B}$, is the complex linear *-category with objects $\mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{A} \times \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{B}$ and hom-spaces

 $\mathcal{A} \odot \mathcal{B}((x,y), (x',y')) := \mathcal{A}(x,x') \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{B}(y,y').$

The composition and involution is defined in the obvious way.

Definition A.5. If \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} are C^* -categories, the maximal tensor product of \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} is the C^* -category

$$\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B} := \operatorname{Compl}(\mathcal{A} \odot \mathcal{B}).$$

It turns out that there are no elements with maximal norm zero in $\mathcal{A} \odot \mathcal{B}$:

Lemma A.6 ([BEL23, Lemma 7.3]). If \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} are C^* -categories, then for any morphism c in $\mathcal{A} \odot \mathcal{B}$ we have $||c||_{max} = 0$ only if c = 0.

Hence there is a faithful functor $\mathcal{A} \odot \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B}$. It is possible to tensor together two approximate units and get another one:

Lemma A.7. If $(u_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$ and $(v_{\mu})_{\mu \in M}$ are approximate units for the C^{*}algebras $\mathcal{A}(x,x)$ and $\mathcal{B}(y,y)$, then the net $(u_{\lambda} \otimes v_{\mu})_{(\lambda,\mu) \in \Lambda \times M}$ is an approximate unit for $(\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B})((x,y),(x,y))$.

Proof. We define two commuting, uniformly bounded nets U_{λ} , V_{μ} of multipliers in $\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B})((x, y)(x, y))$ on simple tensors by

$$U_{\lambda}(a \otimes b) = (u_{\lambda}a \otimes b)$$
 and $(a \otimes b)U_{\lambda} = (au_{\lambda} \otimes b)$,

and similarly for V_{μ} . Note that $U_{\lambda}V_{\mu} = \kappa(u_{\lambda} \otimes v_{\mu})$. Note also that since $||a \otimes b||_{\max} \leq ||a|| ||b||$, the tensor product is continuous in each variable and hence both nets U_{λ} and V_{μ} converge strictly to the identity. But then by Lemma 1.1.45 we see that their product $U_{\lambda}V_{\mu} = \kappa(u_{\lambda} \otimes v_{\mu})$ converges strictly to the identity, and by Lemma 1.1.19 it is positive, meaning it is an approximate unit.

The maximal tensor product has the following universal property:

Lemma A.8. If \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B} , and \mathcal{C} are C^* -categories and $F : \mathcal{A} \odot \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{C}$ is a linear *-functor, F extends to a C^* -functor

$$\overline{F}:\mathcal{A}\otimes_{\max}\mathcal{B}\to\mathcal{C}$$

Proof. This is [BEL23, Definition 7.2]: the statement that this characterization is equivalent to Definition A.5 is in the proof of [BEL23, Proposition 7.5]. \Box

We easily deduce that the maximal tensor product is functorial in both arguments.

Corollary A.9. For any two C^* -functors $F : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}', G : \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{B}'$, there is a C^* -functor

$$F \otimes G : \mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{A}' \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B}'$$

given on simple tensors by $(F \otimes G)(a \otimes b) = F(a) \otimes G(b)$.

Proof. Simply extend the obvious linear *-functor $F \odot G : \mathcal{A} \odot \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{A}' \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B}'$.

One such tensored functor is of interest here:

Definition A.10. For two non-unital C^* -categories \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B} we denote by

$$J_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}:\mathcal{A}\otimes_{\max}\mathcal{B}\to\mathcal{M}\mathcal{A}\otimes_{\max}\mathcal{M}\mathcal{B}$$

the C^* -functor given by tensoring the two inclusions $\kappa_{\mathcal{A}} : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{M}\mathcal{A}$ and $\kappa_{\mathcal{B}} : \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{M}\mathcal{B}$. We denote by

$$I_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}: \mathcal{M}\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{M}\mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B})$$

the C^{*}-functor extending the obvious functor $\mathcal{MA} \odot \mathcal{MB} \to \mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B})$.

Lemma A.11. We have

$$I_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}} \circ J_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}} = \kappa_{\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B}}.$$

Furthermore, the functor $J_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}$ is faithful.

Proof. For any $a \in \mathcal{A}(x, x'), b \in \mathcal{B}(y, y')$ we clearly have

$$I_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}} \circ J_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}(a \otimes b) = \kappa_{\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B}}(a \otimes b).$$

But then we see that $I_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}} \circ J_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}} = \kappa_{\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B}}$ on the subspace

$$(\mathcal{A} \odot \mathcal{B})((x, y), (x', y')) \subseteq (\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B})((x, y), (x', y'))$$

and as this subspace is by definition norm-dense, we see $I_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}} \circ J_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}} = \kappa_{\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B}}$ everywhere. It follows immediately that $J_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}$ is faithful since $\kappa_{\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B}}$ is. \Box

We caution that the functor $I_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}$ is not necessarily faithful: already in the algebra case this fails, see the comments in [KLQ21, p.19].

We now have the tools to prove our promised tensor-hom adjunction for non-degenerate functors. We recall again Dell'Ambrogio's result:

Proposition A.12 ([Del12, Lemma 3.1.4]). For all unital C^* -categories $\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}, \mathcal{C}$ there is a trinatural bijection between the objects of the C^* -categories

$$\phi: \operatorname{Fun}^{\mathrm{u}}(\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B}, \mathcal{C}) \xrightarrow{\cong} \operatorname{Fun}^{\mathrm{u}}(\mathcal{A}, \operatorname{Fun}^{\mathrm{u}}(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{C})).$$

We describe explicitly ϕ and its inverse. For a functor $F : \mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{C}$, the map of $\phi(F)$ on objects is simply obtained by currying that of F. For an object $x \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{A}$ we obtain $\phi(F)(x) : \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{C}$ by the action of F on morphisms of the form $\mathrm{id}_x \otimes b \in \mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B}((x, y), (x, y'))$ and similarly we obtain the action of \mathcal{A} by natural transformations of functors using morphisms of the form $a \otimes \mathrm{id}_y$.

Conversely, for a functor $G : \mathcal{A} \to \operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{C})$, the functor $\phi^{-1}(G)$ is obtained on objects by un-currying and on simple tensors of morphisms

$$a \otimes b \in \mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B}((x, y), (x', y'))$$

by

$$\phi^{-1}(G)(a \otimes b) := G(a)_y \circ G(x)(b) = G(y)(b) \circ G(a)_{y'},$$

where the second equality holds since G(a) is a natural transformation.

Strictly speaking, Dell'Ambrogio only proves an isomorphism between the objects of these two functor C^* -categories. It is easy to promote this to an isomorphism of C^* -categories, however:

Lemma A.13. For any two unital C^* -functors $F, F' : \mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{C}$ there is a bijection between the spaces of natural transformations Nat(F, F') and $Nat(\phi(F), \phi(F'))$.

Proof. A transformation $\eta: F \Rightarrow F'$ is given by a *C*-morphism

$$\eta_{(x,y)}: F(x,y) \to F'(x,y)$$

for each $(x, y) \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{A} \times \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{B}$ satisfying naturality under all morphisms in $\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B}$. Now for $\phi(F), \phi(F') : \mathcal{A} \to \mathrm{Fun}^{\mathrm{u}}(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{C})$ as above, define the transformation $\phi(\eta) : \phi(F) \Rightarrow \phi(F')$ to have components $\phi(\eta)_x : \phi(F)(x) \Rightarrow \phi(F')(x)$ where

$$(\phi(\eta)_x)_y := \eta_{(x,y)} : \phi(F)(x)(y) \Rightarrow \phi(F')(x)(y)$$

for all $x \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{A}, y \in \mathsf{Ob} \mathcal{B}$. Naturality under both \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} is clearly implied by considering morphisms of the form $(\mathrm{id} \otimes b)$ and $(a \otimes \mathrm{id})$. It is clear that ϕ is injective since $\phi(\eta)$ consists of the same array of maps as η , and it is surjective since naturality under $\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B}$ is equivalent to naturality under morphisms of the form $(\mathrm{id} \otimes b)$ or $(a \otimes \mathrm{id})$.

Hence in particular for all non-unital $C^\ast\mbox{-}{\rm categories}$ there is a unitary equivalence

$$\operatorname{Fun}^{\mathrm{u}}(\mathcal{MA} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{MB}, \mathcal{MC}) \cong \operatorname{Fun}^{\mathrm{u}}(\mathcal{MA}, \operatorname{Fun}^{\mathrm{u}}(\mathcal{MB}, \mathcal{MC})).$$

We now describe the subcategories of these two C^* -categories that we would like to identify:

Definition A.14. We say that a unital C^* -functor $F : \mathcal{MA} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{MB} \to \mathcal{MC}$ is *strict* when the composition

$$\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B} \xrightarrow{J_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}} \mathcal{M}\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{M}\mathcal{B} \xrightarrow{F} \mathcal{M}\mathcal{C}$$

is non-degenerate. We denote by $\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{strict}}(\mathcal{MA} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{MB}, \mathcal{MC})$ the full subcategory of $\operatorname{Fun}^{u}(\mathcal{MA} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{MB}, \mathcal{MC})$ spanned by these functors.

Proposition A.15. The functor

$$\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{strict}}(\mathcal{MA} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{MB}, \mathcal{MC}) \xrightarrow{-\circ J_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}} \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{ndg}}(\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B}, \mathcal{MC})$$

is an isomorphism.

Proof. Write κ for the canonical functor $\kappa_{\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B}} : \mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B})$ and recall that precomposition with κ induces an isomorphism

$$(-\circ\kappa)$$
: Fun^{strict} $(\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A}\otimes_{\max}\mathcal{B}),\mathcal{MC}) \to$ Fun^{ndg} $(\mathcal{A}\otimes_{\max}\mathcal{B},\mathcal{MC}),$

where the former denotes those functors from $\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B})$ to \mathcal{MC} which are strictly continuous on unit balls. Let Ψ be the inverse of the above isomorphism. We claim that

$$(-\circ I_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}})\circ\Psi:\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{ndg}}(\mathcal{A}\otimes_{\max}\mathcal{B},\mathcal{MC})\to\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{strict}}(\mathcal{MA}\otimes_{\max}\mathcal{MB},\mathcal{MC})$$

is an inverse of $-\circ J_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}$. The equality

$$(-\circ J_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}})\circ(-\circ I_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}})\circ\Psi=\mathrm{id}_{\mathrm{Fun}^{\mathrm{ndg}}(\mathcal{A}\otimes_{\mathrm{max}}\mathcal{B},\mathcal{MC})}$$

is true since by Lemma A.11 we have $-\circ\kappa = -\circ I_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}J_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}$.

For the other direction, take a strict functor $F : \mathcal{MA} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{MB} \to \mathcal{MC}$, and consider the diagram

$$\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B})$$

$$\overset{\kappa}{\xrightarrow{I_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}}} I_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}} \uparrow \xrightarrow{\Psi(FJ_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}})} \mathcal{M}\mathcal{B} \xrightarrow{F} \mathcal{M}\mathcal{C}$$

observing that commutation of the right-hand triangle is equivalent to the equation $F = (- \circ I_{\mathcal{A},B})\Psi(- \circ J_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}})(F)$, giving the other inverse equation. Note also that the right-hand triangle commutes on the image of $J_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}$ by the other inverse condition.

To show that the right triangle commutes on all morphisms in $\mathcal{MA} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{MB}$, it suffices to check that

$$F(T \otimes T') = \Psi(FJ_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}})I_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}(T \otimes T')$$

for T a morphism in \mathcal{MA} and T' a morphism in \mathcal{MB} , since sums of such simple tensors are norm-dense in $\mathcal{MA} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{MB}$. Let (u_{λ}) be an approximate unit of the domain of T and (v_{μ}) be an approximate unit of the domain of T'.

Recall from Lemma A.7 that $(u_{\lambda} \otimes v_{\mu})$ is an approximate unit for the domain of $T \otimes T'$. Since $FJ_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}$ is non-degenerate, we know that

$$\begin{split} F(T \otimes T') &= \lim_{\lambda,\mu} F(T \otimes T') \circ FJ_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}(u_{\lambda} \otimes v_{\mu}) \\ &= \lim_{\lambda,\mu} FJ_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}(T(u_{\lambda}) \otimes T'(v_{\mu})) \\ &= \lim_{\lambda,\mu} \Psi(FJ_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}})(\kappa(T(u_{\lambda}) \otimes T'(v_{\mu}))) \\ &= \lim_{\lambda,\mu} \Psi(FJ_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}})(I_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}(T \otimes T') \circ \kappa(u_{\lambda} \otimes v_{\mu})) \\ &= \lim_{\lambda,\mu} \Psi(FJ_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}})(I_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}(T \otimes T')) \circ \Psi(FJ_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}})(\kappa(u_{\lambda} \otimes v_{\mu})) \\ &= \Psi(FJ_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}})(I_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}(T \otimes T')) \end{split}$$

Where the final equality follows from the strict continuity of $\Psi(FJ_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}})$. \Box

We move on to describe the relevant objects in Fun^u(\mathcal{MA} , Fun^u(\mathcal{MB} , \mathcal{MC})) that correspond to those in the above category.

Definition A.16. For all C^* -categories \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{C} , the *objectwise strict topology* on Fun^u($\mathcal{MB}, \mathcal{MC}$) is defined as follows: for $F, G \in \mathsf{Ob} \operatorname{Fun}^u(\mathcal{MB}, \mathcal{MC})$, a net of natural transformations

$$(T^{\lambda}) = \{T_x^{\lambda} : F(x) \to G(x) : x \in \mathsf{Ob}\,\mathcal{B}\,\lambda \in \Lambda\}$$

converges objectwise strictly¹ to the natural transformation $T: F \Rightarrow G$ if for each $x \in \mathsf{Ob}\,\mathcal{B}$, the net T_x^{λ} of multipliers in $M\mathcal{C}(F(x), G(x))$ converges strictly to T_x .

We also have an objectwise strict topology on $\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{ndg}}(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{MC})$ since by Proposition 1.4.12 it is isomorphic to a subcategory of $\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{u}}(\mathcal{MB}, \mathcal{MC})$.

Note that the objectwise strict topology is *not* the topology relative to any obvious class of natural transformations, as far as we can see.

Definition A.17. For any three C^* -categories \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{C} , we denote by

$$\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{strict}}(\mathcal{MA},\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{u}}(\mathcal{MB},\mathcal{MC}))$$

the subcategory of Fun^u(\mathcal{MA} , Fun^u(\mathcal{MB} , \mathcal{MC})) spanned by those functors which are continuous on unit balls when one gives \mathcal{MA} the strict topology and Fun^u(\mathcal{MB} , \mathcal{MC}) the objectwise strict topology. We denote by

$$\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{strict}}(\mathcal{A}, \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{u}}(\mathcal{MB}, \mathcal{MC}))$$

the subcategory of $\operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{A}, \operatorname{Fun}^{u}(\mathcal{MB}, \mathcal{MC}))$ spanned by those functors satisfying the same continuity requirement.

Lemma A.18. If $\kappa_{\mathcal{A}} : \mathcal{A} \to M \mathcal{A}$ is the standard inclusion functor, then the precomposition functor

$$(-\circ\kappa_{\mathcal{A}}): \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{strict}}(\mathcal{MA}, \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{u}}(\mathcal{MB}, \mathcal{MC})) \to \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{strict}}(\mathcal{A}, \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{u}}(\mathcal{MB}, \mathcal{MC}))$$

is an isomorphism.

¹This is a legitimate definition for a topology since it is given by a family of seminorms $\{T \mapsto ||T_x(a)||\}$ where x varies over objects of \mathcal{B} and a varies over morphisms with domain F(x).

Proof. Since \mathcal{A} is strictly dense in $\mathcal{M}\mathcal{A}$ (Lemma 1.3.8) we immediately see the functor $(- \circ \kappa_{\mathcal{A}})$ is injective on objects.

Now take a strict functor $F : \mathcal{A} \to \operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{MB}, \mathcal{MC})$. To show $(-\circ \kappa_{\mathcal{A}})$ is surjective on objects, we must show that every such F lifts to a strict functor $\overline{F} : \mathcal{MA} \to \operatorname{Fun}^{\mathrm{u}}(\mathcal{MB}, \mathcal{MC})$. To do this, note that for any given $y \in \operatorname{Ob} \mathcal{B}$ there is a functor $F_y : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{MC}$ given for each $x \in \operatorname{Ob} \mathcal{A}$ by $F_y(x) = F(x)(y)$ and for each $a \in \mathcal{A}(x, x')$ by $F_y(a) = F(a)_x$. Each functor F_y is non-degenerate by the strict continuity requirement so extends to a unital functor $\overline{F_y} : \mathcal{MA} \to \mathcal{MC}$ which is strictly continuous on bounded subsets. As in the proof of Proposition 1.4.12, for any $T \in \mathcal{MA}(x, x')$ the assemblage $\{\overline{F_y}(T)\}$ defines a natural transformation from F(x) to F(x'), since we can strictly approximate it by a net of natural transformations $\{F_y(Tu_\lambda)\}$ where u_λ is an approximate unit for $\mathcal{A}(x, x)$.

Hence we can lift F to a unital functor $\overline{F} : \mathcal{MA} \to \mathrm{Fun}^{\mathrm{u}}(\mathcal{MB}, \mathcal{MC})$, which is strictly continuous on bounded subsets since every component $\overline{F_y}$ is.

The proof that $(- \circ \kappa_{\mathcal{A}})$ is fully faithful proceeds exactly as in Proposition 1.4.12.

We now show that the two forms of 'double strictness' we've defined correspond to each other under the unital tensor-hom adjunction.

Lemma A.19. A unital C^* -functor

$$F: \mathcal{MA} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{MB} \to \mathcal{MC}$$

is strict if and only if its image under currying

$$\phi(F): \mathcal{MA} \to \operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{MB}, \mathcal{MC})$$

both lands in $\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{strict}}(\mathcal{MB},\mathcal{MC})$ and is strict in the sense defined in Definition A.17.

Proof. Suppose $\phi(F)$ satisfies the requirements above, and take any $x \in Ob \mathcal{A}$ and $y \in Ob \mathcal{B}$. Let (u_{λ}) be an approximate unit for $\mathcal{A}(x, x)$ and (v_{μ}) be an approximate unit for $\mathcal{B}(y, y)$. Then since $\phi(F)$ lands in non-degenerate functors we can deduce that $F(\operatorname{id} \otimes v_{\mu}) \xrightarrow{\mu}$ id strictly in $\mathcal{MC}(F(x)(y), F(x)(y))$. Furthermore since $\phi(F)$ is strict as defined in Definition A.17 we deduce that $F(u_{\lambda} \otimes \operatorname{id}) \xrightarrow{\lambda}$ id strictly in $\mathcal{MC}(F(x)(y), F(x)(y))$. But then by Lemma 1.1.45 we have that

$$F(u_{\lambda} \otimes v_{\mu}) = F(\operatorname{id} \otimes v_{\mu})F(u_{\lambda} \otimes \operatorname{id}) \xrightarrow{\lambda,\mu} \operatorname{id}_{F(x,y)}$$

strictly.

But then as $(u_{\lambda} \otimes v_{\mu})$ is an approximate unit for $(\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B})((x, y)(x, y))$ by Lemma A.7, we easily see that $F \circ J_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}$ is non-degenerate: note that in Theorem 1.4.5 it is enough for criterion 3 to hold of just one approximate unit in each endomorphism algebra since this implies criterion 1.
Suppose conversely that F is strict. Then by Proposition A.15 we know F factors as $F = \overline{F} \circ I_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}$, where $\overline{F} = \Psi(F \circ J_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}) : \mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B}) \to \mathcal{M}\mathcal{C}$ is unital and strictly continuous on unit balls and $I_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}$ and $J_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}$ are the canonical functors defined in Definition A.10. Then since the net $I_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}(\mathrm{id} \otimes v_{\mu})$ converges strictly to the identity in $(\mathcal{M}\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{M}\mathcal{B})((x,y),(x,y))$, the elements $\overline{F}I_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}(\mathrm{id} \otimes v_{\mu})$ converge strictly to the identity in $\mathcal{M}\mathcal{C}(F(x)(y), F(x)(y))$, and hence we see that $\phi(F)(x) : \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{M}\mathcal{C}$ is a non-degenerate functor for each x.

We prove finally that $\phi(F)$ is strict in the sense defined in Definition A.17. Take a norm-bounded net (T_{λ}) of multipliers in $\mathcal{MA}(x, x')$ converging strictly to 0. Then certainly the net $(I_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}(T_{\lambda} \otimes \mathrm{id}))$ in $\mathcal{M}(A \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B})((x, y), (x', y))$ is also norm-bounded and strictly converging to zero, and hence we have $\overline{F}I_{\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B}}(T_{\lambda} \otimes \mathrm{id}) \xrightarrow{\lambda} 0$ strictly. But then we see the net $(\phi(F)(T_{\lambda}))$ in the space $\mathcal{MC}(\phi(F)(x)(y), \phi(F)(x')(y))$ converges strictly to zero for all $y \in \mathsf{Ob}\mathcal{B}$, proving our claim.

We can now prove the non-degenerate tensor-hom adjunction.

Proposition A.20. If \mathcal{A} , \mathcal{B} , and \mathcal{C} are C^* -categories, there is a tensor-hom equivalence

$$\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{ndg}}(\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B}, \mathcal{MC}) \cong \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{strict}}(\mathcal{A}, \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{ndg}}(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{MC})).$$

Proof. Combining Lemma A.19 with the unital tensor-hom adjunction we obtain an isomorphism of C^* -categories

$$\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{strict}}(\mathcal{MA} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{MB}, \mathcal{MC}) \cong \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{strict}}(\mathcal{MA}, \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{strict}}(\mathcal{MB}, \mathcal{MC})).$$

The left category is isomorphic to $\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{ndg}}(\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B}, \mathcal{MC})$ by Proposition A.15 The right category is isomorphic to $\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{strict}}(\mathcal{A}, \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{ndg}}(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{MB}))$ by Proposition 1.4.12 and Lemma A.18.

Corollary A.21. If \mathcal{A} , \mathcal{B} , and \mathcal{C} are C^* -categories where \mathcal{A} is unital, there is a tensor-hom adjunction

$$\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{ndg}}(\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B}, \mathcal{MC}) \cong \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{u}}(\mathcal{A}, \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{ndg}}(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{MC}))$$

which is natural in \mathcal{A} , \mathcal{B} , and \mathcal{C} .

Proof. As noted before, the strict topology on a unital C^* -category is simply the norm topology, and since C^* -functors are norm-decreasing and norm convergence in Fun^{ndg}($\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{MC}$) certainly implies objectwise strict convergence, Proposition A.20 specializes to the above.

We end by specializing the non-degenerate tensor-hom adjunction to the proper case, recalling that a functor to \mathcal{MC} is labelled proper if it lands in $\mathcal{C} \subseteq \mathcal{MC}$.

Proposition A.0.1. If \mathcal{A} is a unital C^* -category, then a non-degenerate C^* -functor

$$F:\mathcal{A}\otimes_{\max}\mathcal{B}\to\mathcal{MC}$$

is proper if and only if its image

$$\phi(F): \mathcal{A} \to \operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{MC})$$

under the isomorphism in Proposition A.20 lands in $\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{ndg,prop}}(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{MC})$.

Proof. If F is proper, then certainly we have $F(\mathrm{id} \otimes b) \in \mathcal{C}$ for all simple tensors $\mathrm{id} \otimes b \in \mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B}((x, y), (x, y'))$. Hence we see $\phi(F)(x)$ is proper for all objects $x \in \mathrm{Ob} \mathcal{A}$.

On the other hand, if $\phi(F)(x) : \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{MC}$ is proper for all $x \in \mathsf{Ob}\,\mathcal{A}$, then for all $a \otimes b \in \mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B}((x, y), (x', y'))$ we have

$$F(a \otimes b) = \phi(F)(a)_{y} \circ \phi(F)(x)(b) \in \mathcal{C}$$

as $\phi(F)(x)(b) \in \mathcal{C}$ and \mathcal{C} is an ideal in \mathcal{MC} . It follows that F is proper. \Box

Corollary A.22. If \mathcal{A} is a unital C^* -category, then for all C^* -categories \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{C} there is an isomorphism of functor categories

$$\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{ndg,prop}}(\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\max} \mathcal{B}, \mathcal{C}) \cong \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{u}}(\mathcal{A}, \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{ndg,prop}}(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{C})).$$

110

Bibliography

- [APT73] Charles A. Akemann, Gert K. Pedersen, and Jun Tomiyama. "Multipliers of C*-algebras". English. In: J. Funct. Anal. 13 (1973), pp. 277–301.
- [AV20] Jamie Antoun and Christian Voigt. "On bicolimits of C^{*}-categories". English. In: *Theory Appl. Categ.* 35 (2020), pp. 1683–1725.
- [BE21] Ulrich Bunke and Alexander Engel. Additive C*-categories and Ktheory. arXiv:2010.14830v2. 2021.
- [Bee82] Walter Beer. "On Morita equivalence of nuclear C^{*}-algebras". English. In: J. Pure Appl. Algebra 26 (1982), pp. 249–267.
- [BEL23] Ulrich Bunke, Alexander Engel, and Markus Land. A stable ∞ category for equivariant KK-theory. arXiv:2102.13372v4. 2023.
- [Ble97] David P. Blecher. "A new approach to Hilbert C^* -modules". English. In: Math. Ann. 307.2 (1997), pp. 253–290.
- [BMZ13] Alcides Buss, Ralf Meyer, and Chenchang Zhu. "A higher category approach to twisted actions on C*-algebras". English. In: Proc. Edinb. Math. Soc., II. Ser. 56.2 (2013), pp. 387–426.
- [Bro03] R. M. Brouwer. "A bicategorical approach to Morita equivalence for von Neumann algebras." English. In: J. Math. Phys. 44.5 (2003), pp. 2206–2214.
- [Bro77] Lawrence G. Brown. "Stable isomorphism of hereditary subalgebras of C^{*}-algebras". English. In: Pac. J. Math. 71 (1977), pp. 335–348.
- [Bun19] Ulrich Bunke. *Homotopy theory with *-categories*. arXiv:2102.13372v4. 2019.
- [Bun21] Ulrich Bunke. Lecture Course on C^* -algebras and C^* -categories. Online lecture notes, 2021.
- [Bun23] Ulrich Bunke. *KK- and E-theory via homotopy theory*. arXiv:2304.12607v1. 2023.
- [CG19] Giovanni Caviglia and Javier J. Gutiérrez. "Morita homotopy theory for $(\infty, 1)$ -categories and ∞ -operads". English. In: Forum Math. 31.3 (2019), pp. 661–684.

- [CLM79] Johann Cigler, Viktor Losert, and Peter Michor. Banach modules and functors on categories of Banach spaces. English. Vol. 46. Lect. Notes Pure Appl. Math. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1979.
- [Con85] John B. Conway. A course in functional analysis. English. Vol. 96. Grad. Texts Math. Springer, Cham, 1985.
- [Del12] Ivo Dell'Ambrogio. "The unitary symmetric monoidal model category of small C*-categories". English. In: *Homology Homotopy Appl.* 14.2 (2012), pp. 101–127.
- [Dix77] Jacques Dixmier. C*-algebras. Translated by Francis Jellett. English. Vol. 15. North-Holland Math. Libr. Elsevier (North-Holland), Amsterdam, 1977.
- [DT14] Ivo Dell'Ambrogio and Gonçalo Tabuada. "Morita homotopy theory of C*-categories". In: Journal of Algebra 398 (Jan. 2014), pp. 162– 199.
- [Ech+06] Siegfried Echterhoff et al. A categorical approach to imprimitivity theorems of C*-dynamical systems. English. Vol. 850. Mem. Am. Math. Soc. Providence, RI: American Mathematical Society (AMS), 2006.
- [Fer23] Matthew Ferrier. "Morita equivalence for C*-categories". PhD thesis. University of Sheffield, May 2023.
- [GLR85] P. Ghez, R. Lima, and J. E. Roberts. "W*-categories". English. In: Pac. J. Math. 120 (1985), pp. 79–109.
- [Hen15] Simon Henry. Complete C*-categories and a topos theoretic Green-Julg theorem. arXiv:1512.03290v1. December 2015.
- [HK19] Chris Heunen and Martti Karvonen. "Limits in dagger categories". English. In: *Theory Appl. Categ.* 34 (2019), pp. 468–513.
- [HN01] John K. Hunter and Bruno Nachtergaele. *Applied analysis*. English. Singapore: World Scientific, 2001, pp. xii + 439.
- [Joa03] Michael Joachim. "K-homology of C*-categories and symmetric spectra representing K-homology". English. In: Math. Ann. 327.4 (2003), pp. 641–670.
- [JY21] Niles Johnson and Donald Yau. 2-dimensional categories. English. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2021.
- [Kan01] T. Kandelaki. "Multiplier and Hilbert C*-categories". English. In: Proc. A. Razmadze Math. Inst. 127 (2001), pp. 89–111.
- [Kel05] G. M. Kelly. "Basic concepts of enriched category theory". English. In: *Repr. Theory Appl. Categ.* 2005.10 (2005), pp. 1–136.
- [KLQ21] S. Kaliszewski, Magnus B. Landstad, and John Quigg. *R*-coactions on C^{*}-algebras. arXiv:2108.09231v2. 2021.

- [Lan01] N. P. Landsman. "Bicategories of operator algebras and Poisson manifolds". English. In: Mathematical physics in mathematics and physics. Quantum and operator algebraic aspects. Proceedings of a conference, Siena, Italy, June 20–24, 2000. Dedicated to Sergio Doplicher and John E. Roberts on the occasion of their 60th birthday. Providence, RI: AMS, American Mathematical Society, 2001, pp. 271–286.
- [Lan95] E. Christopher Lance. Hilbert C*-modules. A toolkit for operator algebraists. English. Vol. 210. Cambridge: Univ. Press, 1995, pp. ix + 130.
- [Li10] Hanfeng Li. "A Hilbert C*-module admitting no frames". English.
 In: Bull. Lond. Math. Soc. 42.3 (2010), pp. 388–394.
- [Mey97] Ralf Meyer. Morita Equivalence in Algebra and Geometry. 1997.
- [Mit02a] Paul D. Mitchener. "C*-categories". English. In: Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3) 84.2 (2002), pp. 375–404.
- [Mit02b] Paul D. Mitchener. "*KK*-theory of *C**-categories and the analytic assembly map". English. In: *K*-Theory 26.4 (2002), pp. 307–344.
- [Mor58] Kiiti Morita. "Duality for modules and its applications to the theory of rings with minimum condition". English. In: Sci. Rep. Tokyo Kyoiku Daigaku, Sect. A 6 (1958), pp. 83–142.
- [Mur90] Gerard J. Murphy. C^{*}-algebras and operator theory. English. Boston, MA etc.: Academic Press, Inc., 1990, pp. x + 286.
- [nLa23a] nLab authors. Eilenberg-Watts theorem. Revision 15. Oct. 2023.
- [nLa23b] nLab authors. *Reflective Subcategory*. Revision 112. Sept. 2023.
- [nLa23c] nLab authors. *Small Presheaf.* Revision 13. Nov. 2023.
- [Pas73] William L. Paschke. "Inner product modules over W*-algebras". English. In: Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 182 (1973), pp. 443–468.
- [Ped18] Gert K. Pedersen. C*-algebras and their automorphism groups. Edited by Søren Eilers and Dorte Olesen. English. Ed. by Søren Eilers and Dorte Olesen. 2nd edition. Amsterdam: Elsevier/Academic Press, 2018.
- [Put19] Ian Putnam. Lecture notes on C*-algebras. Online lecture notes, 2019.
- [RS80] Michael Reed and Barry Simon. Methods of modern mathematical physics. I: Functional analysis. Rev. and enl. ed. English. New York etc.: Academic Press, A Subsidiary of Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, Publishers, XV, 400 p. \$ 24.00 (1980). 1980.

- [RW98] Iain Raeburn and Dana P. Williams. Morita equivalence and continuoustrace C*-algebras. English. Vol. 60. Math. Surv. Monogr. Providence, RI: American Mathematical Society, 1998.
- [Shi21] Vahid Shirbisheh. Lectures on C*-algebras. arXiv:1211.3404v2. 2021.
- [Tab05] Gonçalo Tabuada. "Additive invariants of dg-categories". French. In: Int. Math. Res. Not. 2005.53 (2005), pp. 3309–3339.
- [Toë07] Bertrand Toën. "The homotopy theory of dg-categories and derived Morita theory". English. In: *Invent. Math.* 167.3 (2007), pp. 615– 667.
- [Vas07] Ezio Vasselli. "Bundles of C*-categories". English. In: J. Funct. Anal. 247.2 (2007), pp. 351–377.
- [Wat60] Charles E. Watts. "Intrinsic characterizations of some additive functors". English. In: Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 11 (1960), pp. 5–8.
- [Weg93] Niels Erik Wegge-Olsen. K-theory and C*-algebras: a friendly approach. English. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1993, pp. xii + 370.
- [Wil70] Stephen Willard. General topology. English. Addison-Wesley Series in Mathematics. Reading, Mass. etc.: Addison-Wesley Publishing Company. XII, 369 p. (1970). 1970.
- [Yua12] Qiaochu Yuan. Banach Spaces (and Lawvere metrics, and closed categories). Online blog post, 2012.